& Herefordshire
O Council

Agenda

Planning and regulatory
committee

Date: Wednesday 7 April 2021

Time: 10.00 am

Place: online meeting

www.youtube.com/HerefordshireCouncil

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting.
For any further information please contact:

Tim Brown, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01432 260239
Email: tborown@herefordshire.gov.uk

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in
another format, please call Tim Brown, Democratic Services Officer on
01432 260239 or e-mail torown@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of the
meeting.


http://www.youtube.com/HerefordshireCouncil




Agenda for the meeting of the Planning and
regulatory committee

Membership

Chairperson Councillor John Hardwick
Vice-Chairperson Councillor Alan Seldon

Councillor Graham Andrews
Councillor Paul Andrews
Councillor Polly Andrews
Councillor Toni Fagan
Councillor Elizabeth Foxton
Councillor Terry James
Councillor Tony Johnson
Councillor Graham Jones
Councillor Mark Millmore
Councillor Jeremy Milln
Councillor Paul Rone
Councillor John Stone
Councillor William Wilding



Herefordshire Council

10.

Agenda

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive apologies for absence.

NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)

To receive details of any Member nominated to attend the meeting in place of
a Member of the Committee.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive declarations of interests in respect of Schedule 1, Schedule 2 or
Other Interests from members of the committee in respect of items on the
agenda.

MINUTES

To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 17 March 2021.

CHAIRPERSON'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

To receive any announcements from the Chairperson.

202265 - LAND SOUTH WEST OF ORCHARD CLOSE, DILWYN,
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 8HQ

Proposed outline application with all matters, save access, reserved for the
residential development of 20 open market homes and 10 affordable homes.

210086 - CHASEWOOD, 42 EASTFIELD ROAD, ROSS-ON-WYE,
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR9 5JZ

Proposed first floor extension and alterations.

210437 - 22 LADY SOMERSET DRIVE, LEDBURY, HEREFORDSHIRE,
HR8 2FF

Proposed erection of a shed.

204252 - HEREFORDSHIRE FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION, WIDEMARSH
COMMON, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 9NA

Proposed extension to existing car park to create additional capacity.

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Date of next site inspection — 27 April 2021

Date of next meeting — 28 April 2021

7 APRIL 2021

Pages

13-26

27 -92

93 - 98

99 - 102

103 - 112



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings

Herefordshire Council is currently conducting its public committees, including the Planning and
Regulatory Committee, as “virtual” meetings. These meetings will be video streamed live on the
internet and a video recording maintained on the council’s website after the meeting. This is in

response to a recent change in legislation as a result of COVID-19. This arrangement will be adopted

while public health emergency measures including, for example, social distancing, remain in place.

Meetings will be streamed live on the Herefordshire Council YouTube Channel at

https://www.youtube.com/HerefordshireCouncil

The recording of the meeting will be available shortly after the meeting has concluded through the

Planning and Regulatory Committee meeting page on the council’s web-site.

http://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?Cld=264&Year=0

YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: -

Observe all “virtual” Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the
business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information.

Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. (These
will be published on the Planning and Regulatory Committee meeting page on the council’s web-
site. See link above).

Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written statements of
decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six years following a
meeting. (These will be published on the Planning and Regulatory Committee meeting page on
the council’'s web-site. See link above).

Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to four years
from the date of the meeting. (A list of the background papers to a report is given at the end of
each report). A background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in writing the
report and which otherwise is not available to the public.

Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with details
of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees.

Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated decision
making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title.

Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to observe “virtual” meetings of the
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect documents.


https://www.youtube.com/HerefordshireCouncil
http://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=264&Year=0




L. Herefordshire
O Council

Guide to Planning and Regulatory Committee

The Planning and Regulatory Committee consists of 15 Councillors. The membership
reflects the balance of political groups on the council.

Councillor John Hardwick (Chairperson)

Herefordshire Independents

Councillor Alan Seldon (Vice-Chairperson)

It's Our County

Councillor Graham Andrews

Herefordshire Independents

Councillor Paul Andrews

Herefordshire Independents

Councillor Polly Andrews

Liberal Democrat

Councillor Toni Fagan

The Green Party

Councillor Elizabeth Foxton

It's our County

Councillor Terry James

Liberal Democrat

Councillor Tony Johnson Conservative
Councillor Graham Jones True Independents
Councillor Mark Millmore Conservative
Councillor Jeremy Milln The Green Party
Councillor Paul Rone Conservative
Councillor John Stone Conservative

Councillor William Wilding

Herefordshire Independents

The Committee determines applications for planning permission and listed building consent
in those cases where:

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

()]

the application has been called in for committee determination by the relevant ward

member in accordance with the redirection procedure

the application is submitted by the council, by others on council land or by or on behalf
of an organisation or other partnership of which the council is a member or has a
material interest, and where objections on material planning considerations have been
received, or where the proposal is contrary to adopted planning policy

the application is submitted by a council member or a close family member such that a
council member has a material interest in the application

the application is submitted by a council officer who is employed in the planning
service or works closely with it, or is a senior manager as defined in the council’s pay
policy statement, or by a close family member such that the council officer has a

material interest in the application

the application, in the view of the assistant director environment and place, raises
issues around the consistency of the proposal, if approved, with the adopted

development plan

the application, in the reasonable opinion of the assistant director environment and
place, raises issues of a significant and/or strategic nature that a planning committee
determination of the matter would represent the most appropriate course of action, or

in any other circumstances where the assistant director environment and place
believes the application is such that it requires a decision by the planning and

regulatory committee.

Guide to planning and regulatory committee
Updated: 27 October 2020




L. Herefordshire
O Council

The regulatory functions of the authority as a licensing authority are undertaken by the
Committee’s licensing sub-committee.

Who attends planning and regulatory committee meetings?

The following attend the committee:

e Members of the committee, including the chairperson and vice chairperson.
e Officers of the council —to present reports and give technical advice to the committee

e Ward members — The Constitution provides that the ward member will have the right to
start and close the member debate on an application.

(Other councillors - may attend as observers but are only entitled to speak at the discretion
of the chairman.)

How an application is considered by the Committee

The Chairperson will announce the agenda item/application to be considered. The case
officer will then give a presentation on the report.

The registered public speakers will then be invited to speak in turn (Parish Council, objector,
supporter). (see further information on public speaking below.)

The local ward member will be invited to start the debate (see further information on the role
of the local ward member below.)

The Committee will then debate the matter.

Officers are invited to comment if they wish and respond to any outstanding questions.
The local ward member is then invited to close the debate.

The Committee then votes on whatever recommendations are proposed.

Public Speaking

The Council’'s Constitution provides that the public will be permitted to speak at meetings of
the Committee when the following criteria are met:

a) the application on which they wish to speak is for decision at the planning and regulatory
committee

b) the person wishing to speak has already submitted written representations within the
time allowed for comment

€) once an item is on an agenda for planning and regulatory committee all those who have
submitted representations will be notified and any person wishing to speak must then
register that intention with the monitoring officer at least 48 hours before the meeting of
the planning and regulatory committee

d) if consideration of the application is deferred at the meeting, only those who registered to
speak at the meeting will be permitted to do so when the deferred item is considered at a
subsequent or later meeting

e) at the meeting a maximum of three minutes (at the chairman’s discretion) will be
allocated to each speaker from a parish council, objectors and supporters and only nine
minutes will be allowed for public speaking

f) speakers may not distribute any written or other material of any kind at the meeting (see
note below)

Guide to planning and regulatory committee
Updated: 27 October 2020



L. Herefordshire
O Council

g) speakers’ comments must be restricted to the application under consideration and must
relate to planning issues

h) on completion of public speaking, councillors will proceed to determine the application

i) the chairman will in exceptional circumstances allow additional speakers and/or time for
public speaking for major applications and may hold special meetings at local venues if
appropriate.

(Note: The public speaking provisions have been modified to reflect the “virtual” meeting
format the Council has adopted in response to a recent change in legislation as a result of
COVID-19. Those registered to speak in accordance with the public speaking procedure are
able to participate in the following ways:

. by making a written submission

. by submitting an audio recording

. by submitting a video recording

. by speaking as a virtual attendee.)

Role of the local ward member

The ward member will have an automatic right to start and close the member debate on the
application concerned, subject to the provisions on the declaration of interests as reflected in
the Planning Code of Conduct in the Council’s Constitution (Part 5 section 6).

In the case of the ward member being a member of the Committee they will be invited to
address the Committee for that item and act as the ward member as set out above. They will
not have a vote on that item.

To this extent all members have the opportunity of expressing their own views, and those of
their constituents as they see fit, outside the regulatory controls of the Committee
concerned.

Guide to planning and regulatory committee
Updated: 27 October 2020






. Herefordshire
O Council

The Seven Principles of Public Life

(Nolan Principles)

1. Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.

2. Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve
any interests and relationships.

3. Objectivity

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

4.  Accountability

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

5. Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear
and lawful reasons for so doing.

6. Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.

7. Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They

should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

Marshall, Caroline (Democratic Services Officer) Pafe 1 26/03/21
1 Version number 3






AGENDA ITEM 4

L. Herefordshire
O Council

Minutes of the meeting of Planning and regulatory committee
held at online meeting on Wednesday 17 March 2021 at 10.00 am

Present: Councillor John Hardwick (chairperson)
Councillor Alan Seldon (vice-chairperson)

Councillors: Paul Andrews, Polly Andrews, Sebastian Bowen, Toni Fagan,
Elizabeth Foxton, Tony Johnson, Mike Jones, Jeremy Milln, Paul Rone,
Nigel Shaw, John Stone and William Wilding

In attendance: Councillor David Summers
89. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillors Graham Andrews, James, Graham Jones, and
Millmore.

90. NAMED SUBSTITUTES

Councillor Bowen substituted for Councillor Graham Andrews, Councillor Mike Jones for
Councillor Graham Jones and Councillor Shaw for Councillor Millmore.

91. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Agenda item 7: Application 204274 — Land adjoining Duke Street, Withington

Councillor Polly Andrews declared an other declarable interest because she knew some
of the objectors to the application.

Councillor Hardwick declared an other declarable interest because he knew the
applicant and some of the objectors to the application.

Agenda item 8: Application 191409 — Tower Lodge, 15 Linton Lane, Bromyard

Councillor Seldon declared an other declarable interest because he knew some of the
objectors to the application.

92. MINUTES

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 3 March 2021 be approved
as a correct record.

93. CHAIRPERSON'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chairperson informed the committee of a change to the order in which the agenda
items would be considered with agenda item 7, being considered first, followed by
agenda items 6 and 8.
He also reported that Mr Alastair Wager, Senior Planning Officer, was leaving the

authority. On behalf of the Committee he thanked him for his work for the council and
wished him well for the future.

13




94.

201220 - LAND AT HILL VIEW, DINEDOR, HEREFORDSHIRE

(Outline permission for the demolition of an existing dwelling, the erection of up to 3 x
residential dwellings with associated drive and access alterations (all other matters
reserved).

(The agenda order was changed and this agenda item was considered as the second
substantive item with agenda item 7: Duke Street, Withington, considered first.)

(Councillor Paul Andrews had left the meeting and was not present during consideration
of this application. Councillor Wilding was unable to be present during all of the
consideration of the application and accordingly did not vote on this application.)

(The Committee had deferred consideration of this application at its meeting on 3 March
2021)

The Senior Planning Officer gave a presentation on the application.

He added that it was proposed to include an additional condition regarding the
management of flood and surface water.

In accordance with the criteria for public speaking for virtual meetings, Dinedor Parish
Council had submitted a written submission in objection to the application. This was
read to the meeting. Mr J Lively, the applicant, spoke in support of the application as a
virtual attendee.

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the local ward member, Councillor
Summers, spoke on the application. In summary, he expressed concerns about highway
safety, remarking on the number of applications for development along what was a
narrow single track road already unfit for purpose. The Parish Council and residents
opposed the application and had expressed concerns about flooding and the road’s
condition. There were no local amenities and no transport links.

The Committee discussed the application.

The local ward member was given the opportunity to close the debate. He reiterated his
opposition to the proposal. He expressed reservations about a divergence of the
Neighbourhood Development Plan from local wishes through the approval process.

A motion in support of the application with an additional condition regarding the
management of flood and surface water was carried.

RESOLVED: That planning permission be granted with an additional condition
regarding the management of flood and surface water, and subject to the
following conditions and any other further conditions considered necessary by
officers named in the scheme of delegation to officers:

1. CO02 - Time limit for submission of reserved matters (outline permission)
2. CO03 - Time limit for commencement (outline permission)

3. CO04 - Approval of reserved matters

4, CO06 - Development in accordance with the approved plans

5. CBK - Restriction of hours during construction

14



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

CE®6 - Efficient use of water

A Construction Site Waste Management Plan shall be submitted to and
approved by the LPA prior to development commencing on site to ensure
waste management provisions compliment the construction activities on
site and that all waste emanating from the development are dealt with in an
appropriate manner and follows the waste hierarchy. The Plan shall
include, but not be limited to:

(i) a description of the likely quantity and nature of waste streams that will
be generated during construction of the development;

(ii) measures to monitor and manage waste generated during construction
including general procedures for waste classification, handling, reuse, and
disposal, use of secondary waste material in construction wherever
feasible and reasonable, procedures or dealing with green waste including
timber and mulch from clearing activities and measures for reducing
demand on water resources;

(iii) measures to monitor and manage spoil, fill and materials stockpiles,
including details of how spoil, fill or material will be handled, stockpiled,
reused and disposed of, and locational criteria to guide the placement of
stockpiles; and

(iv) details of the methods and procedures to manage construction related
environmental risks and minimise amenity impacts associated with waste
handling. Construction works shall thereafter be carried out in full
accordance with the CEMP Sub-Plans.

Reason: To ensure, manage and co-ordinate the protection and
enhancement of the Environment in accordance with the requirements of
Policies SDI, SD3, SD4, LDI, LD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core.
CAB - Visibility splays

CAD - Access gates

CAE - Vehicular access construction

CAH - Driveway gradient

CAl - Parking - single/shared private drives

CAT - Construction Management Plan

CB2 - Secure covered cycle parking provision

The ecological protection, mitigation, compensation and working methods
scheme and any required European Protected Species Mitigation Licence
(Bats), as recommended in the ecology reports (Reptile and Bats) by Star
Ecology dated 23rd September 2020 shall be implemented in full as stated,
and hereafter maintained, unless otherwise approved in writing by the local

planning authority and Natural England as relevant to the protected species
licence.

15



16.

17.

18.

19.

Reason: To ensure Biodiversity Net Gain as well as species and habitats
enhancement having regard to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981,
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017), National
Planning Policy Framework, NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan
- Core Strategy (2015) policies LD1, LD2 and LD3.

Prior to any construction above damp proof course levels, a detailed
scheme and annotated location plan for proposed biodiversity net gain
enhancement features including as a minimum significant provision for Bat
Roosting, Bird Nesting, pollinating insect ‘hotels’, wildlife refugia and
Hedgehog homes (and movement corridors through any fencing) should be
supplied to and acknowledged by the local authority and then implemented
in full. The approved scheme shall be maintained hereafter as approved
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that all species are protected and habitats enhanced
having regard to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended),
Habitat Regulations 2017, Core Strategy SS6, LD2, National Planning Policy
Framework (2019), NERC Act 2006 and Dark Skies Guidance Defra/NPPF
2013/20109.

a) At no time shall any external lighting except in relation to safe use of the
approved dwellings be installed or operated in association with the
approved development; and no permanently illuminated external lighting
shall be operated at any time, without the written approval of this local
planning authority.

b) No external lighting should illuminate any biodiversity enhancement,
boundary feature, highway corridor or adjacent habitats.

c) All lighting installed shall demonstrate compliance with latest best
practice guidance relating to lighting and protected species-wildlife
available from the Institution of Lighting Professionals and Bat
Conservation Trust.

Reason: To ensure that all species and Dark Skies are protected having
regard to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations (2017), National Planning Policy Framework
(2019), NERC Act (2006), Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy policies
SS6, LD1, LD2 and LD3 and the Dark Skies initiative (DEFRA-NPPF
2013/19).

All foul water shall discharge through connection to new plot specific
private treatment plants with final outfall to suitably sized ‘shared’
soakaway drainage field on land under the applicant’s control unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to comply with Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations (2017), National Planning Policy Framework (2019), NERC Act
(2006), and Herefordshire Core Strategy (2015) policies SS6, LD2 and SD4

All surface water shall be managed through plot specific soakaway and

infiltration features unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

16



20.

21.

22.

23.

Reason: In order to comply with Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations (2017), National Planning Policy Framework (2019), NERC Act
(2006), and Herefordshire Core Strategy (2015) policies SS6, LD2 and SD3.

Prior to first occupation of any property approved under this permission
details of how all the shared aspects of the foul drainage scheme will be
managed for the lifetime of the approved development will be supplied to
the Local Planning Authority for written approval. The approved
management scheme shall be hereafter implemented in full unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure ongoing compliance with Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations (2017), National Planning Policy
Framework (2019), NERC Act (2006), and Herefordshire Core Strategy
(2015) policies SS6, LD2 and SDA4.

Prior to the commencement of any works on site a tree-hedgerow
protection plan in accordance with BS5837:2012 shall be submitted and
approved in writing by the local planning authority and thereafter
implemented in accordance with the approved details for the full duration
of the construction phase.

No trees over 75mm diameter shall be lopped, topped, pruned or removed
without the prior written consent of the local planning authority

Reason: To safeguard all retained trees during development works and to
ensure that the development conforms with Policies LD1, LD2 and LD3 of
the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2019).

All planting, seeding or turf laying in the approved landscaping scheme
pursuant to condition 3 shall be carried out in the first planting season
following the occupation of the building or the completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner.

Any trees or plants which die, are removed or become severely damaged or
diseased within 5 years of planting will be replaced in accordance with the
approved plans.

Reason: To ensure implementation of the landscape scheme approved by
local planning authority in order to conform with policies SS6, LD1 and LD3
of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling of the residential development
hereby permitted a scheme to enable the charging of plug in and other ultra
low emission vehicles (e.g provision of cabling and outside sockets) to
serve the occupants of the dwellings hereby approved shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To address the requirements policies in relation to climate change
SS7 and SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy and the
guidance contained within the National Planning Policy Framework.

INFORMATIVES:

1.

IP2 - Application Approved Following Revisions

17



95.

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in
determining this application by assessing the proposal against planning
policy and any other material considerations. Negotiations in respect of
matters of concern with the application (as originally submitted) have
resulted in amendments to the proposal. As aresult, the Local Planning
Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable
proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable
development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. 11 - Mud on highway

3. 109 - Private apparatus within highway

4. 145 - Works within the highway

5. 105 - No drainage to discharge to highway

6. 147 - Drainage other than via highway system
7. I35 - Highways Design Guide and Specification

(The meeting adjourned between 10.56 am and 11.06 am)
204274 - LAND ADJOINING DUKE STREET, WITHINGTON, HEREFORDSHIRE
(Proposed improvements to existing field access and construction of farm track.)

(The agenda order was changed and this agenda item was considered as the first
substantive item.)

(Councillor Paul Andrews fulfilled the role of local ward member and accordingly had no
vote on this application.)

(The Committee had deferred consideration of this application at its meeting on 3 March
2021).

The Senior Planning Officer gave a presentation on the application, and
updates/additional representations received following the publication of the agenda were
provided in the update sheet, as appended to these minutes.

In accordance with the criteria for public speaking for virtual meetings, Withington Group
Parish Council had submitted a written representation in objection to the application.
This was read to the meeting. A written submission in objection to the application had
been submitted on behalf of residents of Duke Street. This was read to the meeting. Mr
P Smith, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application as a virtual attendee.

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the local ward member, Councillor Paul
Andrews, spoke on the application. In summary, he opposed the application, expressing
concerns about highway safety, questioning the need for improving an existing but little
used field access to the standard proposed, given that there were already several
accesses and it was not proposed to close the main current one, and referencing
drainage issues on Duke Street.

The Committee discussed the application.

18



The Development Manager commented that it would be feasible to amend proposed
condition 3 to require a porous surface for the new access track to be sought.

The local ward member was given the opportunity to close the debate. He reiterated his
objection. However, if the Committee was minded to approve the application he
requested that the applicant’s offer to accept a condition requiring the continued use of
the main farm access off Lock Road should be agreed. He also emphasised the
importance of any drainage measures being properly maintained.

A motion in support of the application with amendments to condition 3 requiring a porous
surface for the new access track and a condition requiring the continued use of the main
farm access off Lock Road was carried.

RESOLVED: That planning permission be granted with amendments to condition 3
requiring a porous surface for the new access track and a condition requiring the

continued use of the main farm access off Lock Road and subject to the following

conditions and any further conditions considered necessary by officers named in

the scheme of delegation to officers.:

1. CO01 - Time limit for commencement (full permission)
2. CO7 - Development in accordance with approved plans and materials
3. CAE - Vehicular access construction

The construction of the vehicular access shall be carried out in accordance
with a specification to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority, at a gradient not steeper than 1in 12.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to conform to the
requirements of Policy MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

4, Before any other works hereby approved are commenced, visibility splays,
and any associated set back splays shall be provided from a point 0.6
metres above ground level at the centre of the access to the application
site and 2.4 metres back from the nearside edge of the adjoining
carriageway (measured perpendicularly) for a distance of 50 metres in each
direction along the nearside edge of the adjoining carriageway. Nothing
shall be planted, erected and/or allowed to grow on the triangular area of
land so formed which would obstruct the visibility described above.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to conform to the
requirements of Policy MT1 of Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

INFORMATIVES:

1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in
determining this application by assessing the proposal against planning
policy and any other material considerations, including any representations
that have been received. It has subsequently determined to grant planning
permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable
development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. P1
Positive and proactive.

19



96.

2. A public right of way crosses the site of this permission. The permission
does not authorise the stopping up or diversion of the right of way. The
right of way may be stopped up or diverted by Order under Section 257 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provided that the Order is made
before the development is carried out. If the right of way is obstructed
before the Order is made, the Order cannot proceed until the obstruction is
removed.

(The meeting adjourned between 12.06 and 12.57pm
191409 - TOWER LODGE, 15 LINTON LANE, BROMYARD, HEREFORDSHIRE

(Proposed redevelopment of Tower Lodge, 15 Linton Lane, Bromyard to include
alterations to existing dwelling together with construction of two new dwellings.)

(Councillor Paul Andrews had left the meeting and was not present during consideration
of this application. Councillor Shaw fulfilled the role of local ward member and
accordingly had no vote on this application.)

The Senior Planning Officer gave a presentation on the application, and
updates/additional representations received following the publication of the agenda were
provided in the update sheet, as appended to these minutes.

In accordance with the criteria for public speaking for virtual meetings, Mrs G Churchill of
Bromyard and Winslow Town Council spoke in opposition to the scheme as a virtual
attendee. Mr M Darwood, a local resident, had submitted a written submission in
objection to the application on behalf of himself and other residents. This was read to
the meeting. Mr P Brooks, the applicant, had made a written submission in support of
the application. This was read to the meeting.

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the local ward member, Councillor Shaw,
spoke on the application. In summary, he highlighted the extent of local concern about
the application and his view that there were additional grounds for refusal of the
application which would remain even when the proposed ground for refusal the adverse
impact on the River Wye Special Area of Conservation, had been resolved at some point
in the future. He suggested that the first additional ground was on highway safety in that
the development would be contrary to paragraph 110 (d) of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) as the development would not allow for the efficient delivery of
goods, and access hy service and emergency vehicles and accordingly the proposal was
also contrary to Core Strategy (CS) policy MT1. The second ground related to adverse
impact on the character and appearance of the area and the amenity of overlooked
dwellings. The proposal was contrary to paragraph 127 of the NPPF and accordingly
was also contrary to CS policies BY1, LD1 and SD1.

The Committee discussed the application.

The Development Manager highlighted the absence of an objection from the
Transportation Manager on highway safety grounds and sought clarification from the
Committee on this suggested ground for refusal.

The local ward member was given the opportunity to close the debate. He reiterated his
suggested additional grounds for refusal and expanded further upon them concluding
that the harm caused by the development outweighed its benefits.

A motion in support of refusal of the application based on the ground set out in the
report, namely the adverse impact on the River Wye Special Area of Conservation,

20



and the following additional grounds was carried: the proposal was contrary to paragraph
110 (d) of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in that the development
would not allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency
vehicles and paragraphs 108 and 109 of the NPPF and accordingly the proposal was
also contrary to Core Strategy (CS) policy MT1; the proposal was also contrary to
paragraphs 127 a and b of the NPPF and accordingly was also contrary to CS policies
BY1, LD1 and SD1; and it was also contrary to policy SS4.

RESOLVED: That planning permission be refused on the grounds that the
development was contrary to the ground set out in the report, namely the adverse
impact on the River Wye Special Area of Conservation, and the following
additional grounds: the proposal was contrary to paragraph 110 (d) of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in that the development would not allow for
the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency vehicles and
paragraphs 108 and 109 of the NPPF and accordingly the proposal was also
contrary to Core Strategy (CS) policy MT1; the proposal was also contrary to
paragraph 127 a and b of the NPPF and accordingly was also contrary to CS
policies BY1 and LD1; and it was also contrary to policy SS4. Officers named in
the Scheme of Delegation to officers be authorised to detail the reasons put
forward for refusal by the committee.

97. DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Noted.

Appendix - schedule of updates

The meeting ended at 1.15 pm Chairperson

21



22



Appendix

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
Date: 17 March 2021

Schedule of Committee Updates/Additional Representations

Note: The following schedule represents a summary of the
additional representations received following the publication of the
agenda and received up to midday on the day before the Committee
meeting where they raise new and relevant material planning
considerations.

Schedule of Committee Updates

23



Appendix
SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE UPDATES

204274 - PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS TO EXISTING FIELD
ACCESS AND CONSTRUCTION OF FARM TRACK AT LAND
ADJOINING DUKE STREET, WITHINGTON, HEREFORDSHIRE

For: Ms Leake per Mr Paul Smith, 1 Whitby House,
Commercial Street, Hereford, Herefordshire, HR1 2EH

ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS
Letter received from applicants agent:

“l refer to a letter of objection submitted by Mr. P. Bainbridge as a late representation.
Mr. Bainbridge has chosen to interpret this application as proposing the replacement
of an existing farm access. This is incorrect.

My letter submitted with the planning application stated: “The proposed improvement
fo the existing access ....... would provide an alternative, much safer route from the
public highway to the farm buildings.”. No mention is made of the closure of an
existing access. Rather, the proposal offers a greater and safer choice of farm
accesses.

Most farm traffic originates from the north-west of the village (from the Withington
Marsh direction). A minority of farm traffic originates from the north of the village
which accesses the Lock Road main farm entrance and this will continue. No farm
traffic originates from the main part of the village to the south or would approach the
Duke Street access.

Therefore, the rejection of the proposed improvements will result in the continued,
historic use of the Duke Street access in its current state or to perpetuate the pattern
of most farm traffic having to negotiate the 90 -degree road bend and pass the school
entrance, narrow junction and main school entrance to enter or depart the Lock Road
entrance. Clearly, the proposal would improve highway and pedestrian safety not
worsen it.”

NO CHANGE TO RECOMMENDATION

Schedule of Committee Updates

24




Appendix

191409 - PROPOSED REDEVELOPMENT OF TOWER LODGE,
15 LINTON LANE, BROMYARD TO INCLUDE ALTERATIONS
TO EXISTING DWELLING TOGETHER WITH CONSTRUCTION
OF TWO NEW DWELLINGS AT TOWER LODGE, 15 LINTON
LANE, BROMYARD, HEREFORDSHIRE

For: Mr Paul Brooks, Allsetts Farm, Broadwas, Worcester,
WR6 5NS

ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS

Following publication of the officer report, members were emailed directly by a local resident,
whom had already made representation, further objecting to this application. This is repeated
below:

“Obijection to planning proposal 191409
Re Tower Lodge 15, Linton Lane, Bromyard HR74DQ
Below are summary notes of the main issues in the above objection
1. The above planning application has been rejected twice by the Bromyard Planning
Committee.
2. Over 50 letters of objection have already been submitted as well as a 30+ signature
petition from residents in Linton Lane and Linton Park
3. In a similar, relevant proposal (Red Lynch no. HCC 181415) was rejected by both
councils due to over development, inadequate access road and safety. This rejection
was also confirmed on Appeal (APP/W/1850/19/322258200).
Thus a legal precedent has already been set as Linton Lane access situation is in a far
worse position than the Red Lynch case.
4. Linton Lane and Linton Park are already over developed with all levels of
housing/ages and no vacant plots.
5. Linton lane is already inadequate for all users. due to:
a. Its narrow width (under 3 metres in places) with high stone wall boundaries
(part in a conservation area) which are already starting to crumble.
b. No pavement or public passing areas.
c. The poor condition of the road surface with the risk of underground services
being damaged by construction vehicles
d. Exposed main gas pipes on lower Linton Lane.
e. Entrance from Tower Hill, the A44 and the Hospital expose challenges due to
its accessibility and dangerous blind turns
f. Service vehicles as well as hospital traffic also use Linton Lane as a short cut.
Thus posing a major Health and Safety issues to both the residents and public
6. There is already a concern/objection letter from Welsh Water about the suitability of
the drainage system of this area as well as the HRA/Phosphate issue
7. The Visual Amenity/Privacy of many residents of Linton Park (especially numbers 59,
60 and 45 + 46 & 47) will be adversely affected by the above development .
We (as residents and concerned citizens) believe that any further development on Linton
Lane is an accident waiting to happen and a major Health and Safety issue.”

A second representation was also received, this also repeated verbatim below:

“Our objections to the above planning application remains same as in our letter of the 13th
May 2019. Furthermore we do not understand why one man for the sole pursuit of profit can
have such a negative impact on so many other people's lives it is wrong and should not be
allowed”.

Schedule of Committee Updates

25




Appendix

A further 2 emails have been received from a Kenneth James and Frances Surridge on
behalf of a local caravan park. The former restating previous objections and also referring to
the pursuit of profit being put before the negative impact on peoples’ lives.

The latter is set out below:

We are writing to express our concern regarding the planning application submitted to
Herefordshire council for the proposed redevelopment of Tower Lodger 15 Linton Lane,
Bromyard. Country Parks Ltd owns and operates Linton Park and we believe that this
development will have a negative impact on the residents of Linton Park. We understand
that a number of them have written to you separately to express their concern.

Linton lane is the only access to a number of the homes and it is both narrow and neglected.
Due to the banks on the side of the lane, it is not possible to jump out of the way of cars
when they drive up. The road surface is also in an extremely poor condition. As the park
caters for people who are over 45 years of age, many of the people walking up Linton lane
lack the mobility to get out of the way of vehicles, especially construction vehicles.

Country Parks Ltd supports the views of the residents of Linton Park. We believe that to
agree this planning application, would cause over-development of the locality and create a
hazard in a lane, that is already not suited for the existing traffic; let alone
construction/additional traffic. This application clearly constitutes a health and safety issue.

We ask that you refuse the planning application and look to improving the lane for the
existing users as a matter of urgency.

OFFICER COMMENTS

The only new material planning consideration is the citing of an appeal decision on the other
side of the A44 within the north-west area of Bromyard. Members are advised that appeal
decisions can be a material consideration. However, it should also be clarified that this
application has been amended since validation to omit a new dwelling in the west of site
(front garden of 15 Linton Lane), and this no longer forms part of this application. In the view
of officers this addresses matters of overdevelopment. Members will note that the Area
Engineer Team Leader raises no objections.

NO CHANGE TO RECOMMENDATION

Schedule of Committee Updates

26



AGENDA ITEM 6

L. Herefordshire
O Council

MEETING: | PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE

DATE: 7 APRIL 2021

TITLE OF | 202265 - PROPOSED OUTLINE APPLICATION WITH ALL
REPORT: | MATTERS, SAVE ACCESS, RESERVED FOR THE RESIDENTIAL

DEVELOPMENT OF 20 OPEN MARKET HOMES AND 10
AFFORDABLE HOMES AT LAND SOUTH WEST OF ORCHARD

CLOSE, DILWYN, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 8HQ

For: Garnstone Estate Ltd per Mr James Spreckley MRICS,
Brinsop House, Brinsop, Hereford, Herefordshire HR4 7AS

WEBSITE https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning application search/details?id=202265&searc h-term=202265

LINK:

Reason Application submitted to Committee — Redirection

Date Received: 15 July 2020 Ward: Weobley Grid Ref: 341432,254280

Expiry Date: 9 April 2021

Local Member: Councillor Mike Jones

1.

11

1.2

13

Site Description and Proposal

The site lies to the south of Orchard Close and Castle Mound on the southwestern fringe of the
village of Dilwyn. It comprises 3.76 hectares of agricultural grazing land that is accessed off the
C1091, which runs alongside the northwestern boundary. The Dilwyn Conservation Area abuts
the northern site boundary. The nearest listed building (The Great House: Grade Il listed along
with its separately listed garden wall, railings, gate and gate piers) is some 140 metres to the
north of the site. Beyond The Great House lies the historic centre of the village where there are
an abundance of listed buildings, with the Grade | listed Church of St Mary sited to the north. To
the northeast of the site lies a moated mound, which is a Scheduled Monument. To the east and
south of the site land is primarily in agricultural use, with two properties, with associated
outbuildings, beyond the site to the southwest on the southeastern side of the C1091.

Hedgerows of varied densities and heights demark the site boundaries. There is an existing gated
field access off the C1091 just within the 30 mph speed limit. Within the site levels fall by
approximately 2.45 metres from the northwest corner to the southeast.

The application is in outline form, with only the principle of development and access for
consideration at this time. Consequently, layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are
reserved matters, for future consideration. The proposal is for 30 dwellings, comprising 20 open
market and 10 affordable housing units. A single vehicular access is proposed off the C1091, to
the southwest of the existing field gate.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

27



https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=202265&search-term=202265

L

Extract of Site Location Plan lllustrative ‘master plan’ drawing extract

1.4 The following documents were submitted in support of the application:
Preliminary Ecological Survey, Tree Survey Report, Transport Statement, Landscape and Visual
Impact Assessment, Geophysical Survey Report, Planning Design and Access Statement,
Surface Water Management Plan and Flood Risk Assessment, Heritage Impact Assessment
(revised).

1.5 The applicant has also provided a response to Historic England and the Archaeology
consultations.

2. Policies

2.1 Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy 2011-2031 (adopted October 2015) — (CS)
SS1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
SSs2 - Delivering New Homes
SS3 - Ensuring Sufficient Housing Land Delivery
SS4 - Movement and Transportation
SS6 - Environmental Quality and Local Distinctiveness
SSs7 - Addressing Climate Change
RA1 - Rural Housing Distribution
RA2 - Housing in Settlements Outside Hereford and the Market Towns
RA3 - Herefordshire’s countryside
H1 - Affordable Housing — Thresholds and Targets
H3 - Ensuring an Appropriate Range and Mix of Housing
SCl1 - Social and community facilities
0os1 - Requirement for Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities
0s2 - Meeting Open Space, Sports and Recreation Needs
MT1 - Traffic Management, Highway Safety and Promoting Active Travel
LD1 - Landscape and Townscape
LD2 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity
LD3 - Green Infrastructure
LD4 - Historic environment and heritage assets
sSD1 - Sustainable Design and Energy Efficiency
SD3 - Sustainable Water Management and Water Resources
Sbh4 - Wastewater Treatment and River Water Quality
D1 - Infrastructure delivery
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

PF2

28



2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy policies together with any relevant supplementary
planning documentation can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:-
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local plan/137/adopted core_strateqy

Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (SPD)

The SPD can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/2616/planning-obligations-supplementary-planning-document

Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan (saved policies) — (HUDP)
M5 - Safeguarding mineral reserves

This saved policy can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/5376/chapter-11-minerals

Minerals and Waste Local Plan (draft Plan — January 2019) — (dAMWLP)
M2 - Safeguarding of Minerals Resources from Sterilisation

This emerging Plan can be viewed on the Council’'s website by using the following link:
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/16729/draft-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-january-2019

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019

Section 1 - Introduction

Section 2 - Achieving Sustainable Development

Section 4 - Decision-Making

Section 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Section 6 - Building a strong, competitive economy

Section 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities

Section 9 - Promoting sustainable transport

Section 11 - Making effective use of land

Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places

Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 - Conserving and Enhancing the natural environment
Section 16 - Conserving and Enhancing the historic environment

The NPPF can be viewed via the following link:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment _data/file/810507/NPPF_Feb_2019 print revised.pdf

National Planning Practice Guidance
The NPPG can be viewed via the following link:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance

Historic England’s Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Notes
These can be viewed at this link:
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/planning-system/

Dilwyn Neighbourhood Development Plan (dDNDP)
A Neighbourhood Development Plan Area was designated on 6 September 2016. The
designation follows the Parish boundary.

The draft Dilwyn Neighbourhood Development Plan was sent for examination on 5 April 2019. On
17 January 2020 Dilwyn Parish Council decided to formally withdraw from the examination
process. The stated reason was to allow the Parish Council to work with the landowner to
ascertain whether there is potential for unexpected archaeological finds and for further information

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

29


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/2616/planning-obligations-supplementary-planning-document
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/5376/chapter-11-minerals
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/16729/draft-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-january-2019
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810507/NPPF_Feb_2019_print_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/planning-system/

3.1

4.1

in respect of the proposed allocated site, land to the southwest of Orchard Close and Castle
Mound.

Policy DW1 - Promoting Sustainable Development

Policy DW2 - Housing Development in Dilwyn Village

Policy DW3 - Housing Sites in Dilwyn Village

Policy DW4 - Development Principles for Land to the south-west of Orchard Close and
Castle Mound

Policy DW5 - Affordable, including Intermediate Homes

Policy DW6 - Conserving and Enhancing the Landscape, Scenic Beauty and Natural
Environment of the Parish

Policy DW7 — Protecting Heritage Assets

Policy DW8 — Development within Dilwyn Conservation Area

Policy DW9 - Foul and Storm Water Drainage and Flooding

Policy DW11 - Design and Appearance

Policy DW13 - Rural Enterprises, Diversification and Tourism

Policy DW14 - Promotion of High-speed Broadband and Telecommunications

Policy DW17 - Contribution to Community Facilities

Policy DW18 - Traffic Measures within the Parish

Policy DW19 - Highway Design Requirements

Policy DW20 - Protection and Enhancement of the Public Rights of Way Network

The draft Dilwyn NDP, together with relevant supplementary planning documentation is
viewable on the Council’'s website through the following link:-
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/directory-record/3050/dilwyn-neighbourhood-development-plan

Planning History
No planning application history.
Consultation Summary

Statutory Consultations

Welsh Water

We refer to your planning consultation relating to the above site, and we can provide the following
comments in respect to the proposed development.

Firstly, we note that the proposal isn’t allocated within the Authority’s Core Strategy and
Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) for the area has been withdrawn. In reference to our
representations during the NDP consultation process however, we can confirm that an
assessment has been undertaken of the public sewerage system and receiving Waste Water
Treatment Works (WwTW).

The proposed development would overload the WwTW and no reinforcement works are planned
within Dwr Cymru Welsh Water's Capital Investment Programme. We consider the development
prior to the delivery of reinforcement works to mitigate against the detriment associated with the
proposed flows to be premature and are therefore unable to support the application in full. This is
consistent with our representations during the NDP consultation process.

In order to understand what reinforcement works are required to facilitate the proposed
development in advance of any future capital investment, the applicant can commission a
Developer Impact Assessment at the WwTW.

Turning to matters of the proposed drainage we have reviewed the information submitted as part
of this application with particular focus on the Surface Water Management Plan and drawing

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

30


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/directory-record/3050/dilwyn-neighbourhood-development-plan

number 1679.00 which provides a high-level strategy for both foul and surface water. We note
the intention to drain foul water to the mains sewer and surface water to a local watercourse and
have no objection in principle. However, our record of public sewers does not show an asset in
the location indicated on drawing 1679.00 for the mains sewer connection. The applicant is
encouraged to contact us to commission a Sewer Location Survey which will then identify a
suitable point of connection to the existing public sewer network.

Notwithstanding the above, we welcome dialogue with the applicant to explore options and
identify solutions that will overcome the concerns. Therefore we are content for matters to
progress and for the application to be determined, however we seek your co-operation to impose
our recommended conditions and advisory notes set out below on any subsequent planning
permission to provide us with the control we need to protect our interest and avoid pollution to the
environment.

Conditions

No development shall commence until a drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall demonstrate how the site
will be effectively drained; the means of disposal of surface water and indicate how foul flows will
communicate to the public sewerage system. Thereafter, the scheme shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the development and no further
surface water or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or indirectly with the public
sewerage system.

Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment.

No development shall take place until:

i) Asurvey to establish the current flow and load received at Dilwyn waste water treatment
works has been undertaken; and

i) An assessment of the impact of the development hereby approved on the waste water
treatment works having regard to the results of the flow and load survey has been
undertaken and agreed with the local planning authority; and

i) If necessary, a scheme of mitigation for the Dilwyn waste water treatment works has
been agreed with the local planning authority in order to allow it to accommodate the
foul discharges from the development hereby approved without increasing the risk of
breaches to the discharge consent of the waste water treatment works.

No dwellings shall be occupied until the agreed scheme has been completed.

Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment.

Advisory Notes

The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the public
sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public sewer network
is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the connecting property boundary)
or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it is now a mandatory requirement to first
enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement (Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers
and lateral drains must also conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers
and Lateral Drains, and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption”- 7th Edition. Further
information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com

The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be recorded on
our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned and were transferred into

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

31


http://www.dwrcymru.com/

4.2

public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes for Adoption of Private Sewers)
Regulations 2011. Under the Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of
access to its apparatus at all times.

The proposed development is crossed by a trunk/distribution watermain, the approximate position
being shown on the attached plan. Dwr Cymru Welsh Water as Statutory Undertaker has
statutory powers to access our apparatus at all times. | enclose our Conditions for Development
near Watermain(s). It may be possible for this watermain to be diverted under Section 185 of the
Water Industry Act 1991, the cost of which will be re-charged to the developer. The developer
must consult Dwr Cymru Welsh Water before any development commences on site.

Our response is based on the information provided by your application. Should the proposal alter
during the course of the application process we kindly request that we are re-consulted and
reserve the right to make new representation.

If you have any queries please contact the undersigned on 0800 917 2652 or via email at
developer.services@dwrcymru.com

Please quote our reference number in all communications and correspondence.
Historic England

Thank you for your letter of 22 July 2020 regarding the above application for planning permission.
On the basis of the information available to date, we offer the following advice to assist your
authority in determining the application.

Summary

Historic England objects to proposal on heritage grounds. The proposal is assessed as causing
a high degree of harm to the significance of the scheduled monument and the historic character
of Dilwyn. This is through the impact it will have on the large enclosure associated with Dilwyn
Castle and through its impact on the relative position of the castle on the southern edge of the
settlement.

Historic England Advice

The application is outline planning permission for a residential development of 30 dwellings to the
immediate south of the village of Dilwyn. The site abuts a medieval castle (Dilwyn Castle) that is
a scheduled monument known as ‘Moated mound S of church (National Heritage List for England
(NHLE) 1005336) and it also borders the Dilwyn conservation area.

The site has previously been proposed as an allocation in the Dilwyn Neighbourhood Plan to
which Historic England expressed their concerns of the impact on the scheduled monument and
historic character of Dilwyn. We understand that these concerns were highlighted on examination
and the plan was withdrawn to permit further consideration of potential alternative allocation sites
and discussion with Historic England regarding the current site.

Significance of designated heritage assets

Dilwyn castle is a medieval motte castle located at the southeast end of the historic core of the
village, with the church located at the northwest end. The castle’s position on the southern edge
of the settlement is illustrative of its role commanding the surrounding countryside and
approaches from the south and east.

A large enclosure identified from LIDAR data has been recorded to the south of the castle
(Herefordshire Historic Environment Record number 53767), including the application site, and
may represent a large outer enclosure or bailey to the castle.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

32


mailto:developer.services@dwrcymru.com

Although a recent geophysical survey has not shown any conclusive archaeological features
within the enclosure, it was limited to the interior and did not include sample areas across the
boundary of the enclosure. The application does not include a desk based assessment or
heritage impact assessment, and does not include any other archaeological assessments
assessing the field evidence of the enclosure through survey or evaluation. It is our view that the
enclosure is likely to be associated with the castle and therefore makes a strong positive
contribution to the scheduled monument. Surviving earthworks and below ground archaeological
remains should be considered in relation to footnote 63, page 56 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) and further investigation would be required to assess more fully.

The proposal site makes a positive contribution to the significance of the scheduled monument
and historic character of Dilwyn as it preserves part of the large enclosure to the south of the
castle and, undeveloped,; it maintains the historic setting of the castle on the southern edge of the
settlement.

Impact on designated heritage assets

The proposal is accompanied by a geophysical survey, but no heritage impact statement (HIA)
that assesses the site through assessment of available information and supporting field evidence.
As such, we do not view the supporting information as meeting the requirements of paragraph
189 of the NPPF.

Notwithstanding the lack of an HIA, the proposal would develop a significant part of the interior of
the large enclosure weakening the ability to appreciate and understand the relationship between
the enclosure and the castle. It is likely to remove important archaeological remains that
contribute to knowledge of the enclosure and the development of the castle and settlement.

It would also extend the settlement to the south of the castle, removing the ability to appreciate
the historic position of the castle and harming the historic character of Dilwyn.

We assess this application as causing a high degree of harm to the significance of the scheduled
monument and the historic character of Dilwyn.

Policy

Historic England’s advice is provided in line with the importance attached to significance and
setting of heritage assets in the Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and
associated guidance, and Historic England’s Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in
Planning Notes.

In accordance with NPPF 189, local authorities should require an applicant to describe the
significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The
level of detail should be sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on
significance of the heritage asset. This information should be used to assess the application
remembering that great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (NPPF 193) and any
harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset (including within its setting) requires clear
and convincing justification (NPPF 194).

Position

Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds. The proposal causes a high
degree of harm to the significance of the scheduled monument and also harms the historic
character of Dilwyn, which is designated as a conservation area.

Although the application is accompanied by a report on geophysical investigation of the site, no
further heritage assessment information is provided with the application and therefore we view
the supporting information as not meeting the requirements of NPPF 189.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

33



42.1

We recommend you seek the advice of your own specialist archaeological and conservation
advisers regarding this application.

Recommendation
Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds.

We consider that the application does not meet the requirements of the NPPF, in particular
paragraph numbers 189, 193 and 194.

In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 72(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas.

Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the application. If
you propose to determine the application in its current form, please inform us of the date of the
committee and send us a copy of your report at the earliest opportunity.

Please contact me if we can be of further assistance.
Historic England (amended)

Thank you for your letter of 8 September 2020 regarding further information on the above
application for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the following advice
to assist your authority in determining the application.

Summary

Historic England maintains its objection to the proposal on heritage grounds. We retain the view
that the proposal would cause a high degree of harm within the less than substantial scale, as
defined in the NPPF, to the significance of the scheduled monument and also the historic
character of Dilwyn.

Historic England Advice

The further information is a Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) prepared by Archaeology
Warwickshire in July 2020. The HIA assesses the proposal site and recorded large outer
enclosure or bailey to Dilwyn Castle in relation to the contribution they make to the significance
of designated and non-designated heritage assets. The assessment is based on the results of a
geophysical survey and a walkover of the site, but does not include any more detailed survey
work or investigation such as measurements across the boundary of the recorded large enclosure
or present the historic mapping against the recorded form of the large enclosure shown on LiDAR
imagery.

The HIA postulates that the large enclosure is a product of boundary modifications and removals
in the 20th century. However, the form of the boundary bank indicated on LIiDAR is broad being
over 5m wide and consistently displays as an internal bank and external ditch. In addition
elements of the enclosure boundary do not coincide with boundaries shown on available historic
ordnance survey mapping and the tithe mapping is not presented for comparison. In addition the
geophysical survey was restricted to the interior of the enclosure and did not assess the character
of the surrounding boundary. We therefore view the information as not sufficient to determine the
character of the enclosure and the impact of the proposal. As such the information does not meet
the requirements of National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 189. Further, more detailed
measured survey of the boundary form, an extension of the geophysical survey over the boundary
and possible follow on archaeological field evaluation would be, in our view, required to clearly
understand the character of the enclosure.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

34



4.2.2

Notwithstanding the need to better understand the large enclosure through further field
assessment, we retain the view that the development of this site would extend the settlement to
the south of the castle, removing the ability to appreciate the historic position of the castle in
relation to the historic settlement and therefore harming the significance of the scheduled
monument and the historic character of Dilwyn.

We retain the view that the proposal would cause a high degree of harm within the less than
substantial scale, as defined in the NPPF, to the significance of the scheduled monument and
also the historic character of Dilwyn. We therefore maintain our objection to the application on
heritage grounds.

Recommendation
Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds.

We consider that the application does not meet the requirements of the NPPF, in particular
paragraph numbers 189, 193 and 194.

In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 72(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas.

Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the application. If
you propose to determine the application in its current form, please inform us of the date of the
committee and send us a copy of your report at the earliest opportunity.

Please contact me if we can be of further assistance.
Historic England (amended)

Thank you for your letter of 23 October 2020 regarding further information on the above
application for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the following advice
to assist your authority in determining the application.

Summary

Historic England maintains its objection to the proposal on heritage grounds. We retain the view
that the proposal would cause a high degree of harm within the less than substantial scale, as
defined in the NPPF, to the significance of the scheduled monument and the historic character of

Dilwyn.

Historic England Advice

The further information is a written response by the applicant to comments made by Historic
England and Herefordshire Council's archaeological advisor, and an amended Heritage Impact
Assessment (HIA). The amended HIA includes additional photographs and additional diagrams
to inform an understanding of the proposal site.

The HIA characterises the area as low lying wet ground defined by higher ground to all sides.
The site is located to the south of Dilwyn Castle, which occupies a position on the southern edge
of the settlement.

We maintain our view that the proposal would be harmful to the significance of the scheduled
monument and the historic character of Dilwyn. The undeveloped character of the proposal site
is important in maintaining the castle's position on the southern edge of the settlement, which is
illustrative of its role commanding the surrounding countryside and approaches from the south
and east. The castle is a key component of the Dilwyn conservation area. Development would
enclose the monument, removing this legibility and the positive contribution to the significance of
the designated heritage assets.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

35



4.3

Historic England maintain the view that the proposal would cause a high degree of harm within
the less than substantial scale, as defined in the NPPF, to the significance of the scheduled
monument and historic character of Dilwyn. We therefore maintain our objection to the application
on heritage grounds.

Recommendation
Historic England objects to the application on heritage grounds.

We consider that the application does not meet the requirements of the NPPF, in particular
paragraph numbers 192, 193 and 194.

In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 72(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas.

Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the application. If
you propose to determine the application in its current form, please inform us of the date of the
committee and send us a copy of your report at the earliest opportunity.

Please contact me if we can be of further assistance.

Internal Council Consultations

Archaeology Advisor

The application as submitted is fundamentally deficient in that it does not actually include an
appropriate archaeological assessment, as is required under Para 189 of the NPPF.

From what was previously known about the site, (augmented since by the submitted geophysical
survey) there do not appear to be significant risks as regards below-ground archaeology here.
However, there are clearly major issues as regards the layout of the development as proposed,
in relation to the setting of the scheduled ‘castle’ mound [1005336] in particular.

By introducing, against advice, extensive built development into the especially sensitive southern
/ south-eastern aspect of the mound, the proposed development would harm the significance of
this key heritage asset to an unacceptable degree - the limited landscape buffer notwithstanding.
Also, the broad segmented zones that make up the development would be completely alien to
the historical form of Dilwyn, characterised as it is here by a much more lineal pattern of growth.

Whilst we would accept that there may be some potential for suitable housing in the western part
of the site only, close to the road, this does not mean any spread of development across the field
to the east is acceptable. As things stand, the application fails to conserve and enhance the
historic environment. Given the considerable weight that should be afforded to the protection of
heritage assets here, planning permission should be refused.

4.3.1 Archaeology Advisor (amended)

1. To be clear, these comments are made subsequent to those already given 13/08/2020, but
now also having regard to a submitted heritage impact assessment (Land South of Orchard
Close Dilwyn Herefordshire — Heritage Impact Assessment ; Archaeology Warwickshire
Report 2062).

2. This Heritage Impact Assessment, although in some ways a good report of its type, does not
properly follow the staged approach to heritage assets and ‘setting’ laid out in GPA 3 (The

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

36



Setting of Heritage Assets, Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3 —
Historic England).

3. Perhaps partly as a consequence of this, the assessment significantly underestimates the
impact of the development on the scheduled castle mound and its’ near environs. We cannot
agree that this impact would be “moderate — slight [adverse]” as is claimed in Section 7.19,
and would regard the reasoning behind that conclusion as flawed.

4. We remain of the opinion that the development as currently proposed would occasion a high
level of harm to the historic environment here, so our objection still stands.

4.3.2 Archaeology Advisor (amended)

Given the extensive correspondence up to this point, from the abortive neighbourhood plan
proposal up to this application stage, and the very clear negative views consistently given by
archaeology in relation to it, we would as a matter of principle question the need for further
comment from ourselves.

In reality, there is little ‘new’ or ‘additional’ to consider here. The matter, in our view, is
straightforward, and the application should move forward to determination without delay on that
basis.

Objection maintained, no further comments.

4.4 Principal Building Conservation Officer
Designation and constraints:
Scheduled ancient monument
Conservation Area
Summary of response:
Site visit made: Tuesday 24th November 2020
Summary: The proposal is for a residential development on open farmland on the southern edge
of the village of Dilwyn. The land abuts the conservation area and is in close proximity to the
moated site of Dilwyn castle, a scheduled ancient monument. The character of the village is very
much defined by its concentration of historic buildings located within the centre of the village with
landmark features at gateways into the village at the northern end of the village with the church
and the scheduled ancient monument on the southern edge. The open farmland which surrounds
the village greatly contributes to the character of this tightly knit settlement. It is considered that
further development outside the conservation area would be harmful to its character and would
adversely affect the setting of the scheduled ancient monument.
Criteria for decision making:
In determining any planning applications, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of
preserving listed buildings and preserving the character of conservation areas.
Relevant policies:
National policies:
Planning (Listed buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
NPPF 2019 — Chapter 16 (Paras 184 — 202)
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

PF2

37



Local policies:

Policy LD1 — Landscape and Townscape

Policy LD4 Historic Environment and Heritage Assets

SD1 Sustainable design and energy efficiency

Policy SS6 Environmental Quality and Local Distinctiveness
RA2- housing growth within identified settlements

RA3 Herefordshire countryside

Other relevant policy guidance:

Conservation Principles, Policies and Guidance for the Sustainable Management of the Historic
Environment — English Heritage 2008

Historic Environment — Good Practice Advice Notes 2 +3

Statements of heritage Significance: analysing significance in heritage assets, Historic England
Advice Note 12

Potential impact of the development:

The main route through the village from the north is from the A4112, snaking its way through the
historic centre of the village on a north south axis before rejoining the main road south of the
village. From the centre of the village roads lead off east to Dilwyn Common and Weobley Marsh.
The church of St Mary effectively marks the gateway into the village from the north, and as the
road pinches in and bends as it exits the village at its southern end the imposing gate piers and
gates of Great House to all intents suggests the southern gateway. The historic settlement mostly
comprises timber framed buildings with some rendered and some brick dwellings, and the modern
development such as it is, is clustered around Castle Mount, Orchard Close and Henwood Close.
Set back from the village centre they do not significantly impact on the appreciation of the historic
core.

The proposed site is located at the extreme southern edge of the village on open farmland. It is
most visible when the village is approached from the south as the road here drops down into the
village and you get wide views over the village and to the open farmland to the east. It is from this
point too that the large moated site of the castle is most prominent. The motte is now largely
covered with trees and with the modern development to its west, it is perhaps hard to appreciate
how imposing a structure it must have appeared rising up above the flat landscape that surrounds
it. A more oblique view is also gained from the Ledgemoor Road.

The conservation area draws a fairly tight ring around the village and its character is as much
defined by its buildings as the landscape which surrounds it. The key and earliest elements of the
village are the church and castle, both of similar date.

Whilst the setting of the castle site has been adversely affected by the modern development of
Orchard Close and Castle Mount, it places a greater emphasis on the need to protect the open
landscape which surrounds it to the south, east and north.

The preliminary layout provided identifies 3 blocks of residential development concentrated in the
northern half of the site closest to the scheduled ancient monument. The access road is indicated
as the means by which a view to the monument is maintained and its immediate setting is shown
as being protected by a traditional orchard.

However It should be recognised that it is the open landscape which surrounds a castle which is
as integral to its defence as the castle structure itself. By surrounding it with housing and setting
aside a small undeveloped corner of the site and planting it with trees this does not preserve or
protect its setting.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

38



4.5

The entry point into the village from the south is quite clearly appreciated and to some extent
Orchard Close does distinctly form the southern boundary of the village. To extend modern
development beyond this point would in my opinion breach the quite tightly enclosed settlement
pattern which is an integral characteristic of the conservation area.

Recommendation:

It is my opinion that the site is unsuitable for development. It would adversely affect the character
of the conservation area to a high degree within the less than substantial scale as defined in the
NPPF. Similarly, by developing land which is integral to our appreciation and understanding of
the scheduled ancient monument of Dilwyn Castle, the setting would be irrevocably compromised.
It would therefore fail to meet requirements as set out in local and national guidelines and result
in a high degree of harm with in the less than substantial scale as defined above.

Team Leader Area Engineer

This application is an outline application and comments made will only be concerned with the
access arrangements, as layout is a reserved matter. This proposal is for residential development
of 20 open market homes and 10 affordable homes located in Dillwyn village.

This development would not have a detrimental impact road safety. This is because according to
the data provided by Herefordshire Council of the Personal Injury Collision data over the past five
years there has only been one incident recorded and that was considered ‘slight’ by West Mercia
Police and this record is not considered to be severe. Therefore, with the addition of this
development they will be no negative effects on road safety.

Trip Rates per Dwelling Trip Generation

Time Range - :
Arrivals | Departures Totals Arrivals Departures Totals

30 dwellings
08:00 - 09:00 0.123 0.392 0.515 4 12 15
17:00 - 18:00 0.425 0.123 0.548 13 4 16

Daily 2.095 2.080 4.175 63 62 125

Peak Hour Trip Rates and Traffic Generation

The table above from the transport statement shows that the development is predicted to generate
15 vehicles movements in the AM peak and 16 vehicle movements in the PM peak hours. The
daily number of vehicle movements generated by the development is forecast to be 125 vehicles.
When comparing this to the existing vehicle movements and the nature of the C1091 these
additional trips will have no major effect to the local highway network.

The visibility splay of 2.4m x 54m both directions will be acceptable and comply with the guidance
set out in the DfT’s Manual for Streets 2 document. This visibility splay will be achievable as there
no obstructions in the way. In order to secure this splay it is recommended that condition CAB is
applied for these dimensions.

Information on access construction has not been provided. The access construction details will
need to be in accordance with the Herefordshire Council specification and to ensure this CAE
should be applied in the event that permission is granted.

In order to make the access strategy acceptable the pedestrian facilities should extend along the
C1091 for as far as possible to minimise the distance pedestrians will be required to share the
surface with the two-way traffic on the route. It is recognised by the LHA that a natural pinch in

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

39



4.6

highways extents occurs for some of the route, but a pedestrian facility should exit the site and
provide safe facility for pedestrians to make a journey to the amenities of Dilwyn village. Details
of this scheme will be required before the LHA can finalise a response on this scheme.

Due to its proposed scale, the development will attract Section 106 contributions for highway
improvements in the area, in line with Herefordshire Council’'s SPD. Based on the content of the
application form, paragraph 3.1.14 of the Supplementary Planning Document setting out planning
obligations is relevant for the site which sets out that affordable housing numbers are exempt
from these contributions, as a result the indicative value is calculated excluding these dwellings.
Low accessibility weighting S106 contributions would be required as follows, as a contribution
towards the cost of public realm improvements and supporting active travel measures:

» Residential per 2 bed house - £ 2457
» Residential per 3 bed house - £ 3686
» Residential per 4 bed house - £ 4915

All applicants are reminded that attaining planning consent does not constitute permission to work
in the highway. Any applicant wishing to carry out works in the highway should see the various
guidance on Herefordshire Council’'s website:

www. herefordshire.gov.uk/directory record/1992/street works licence
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200196/roads/707/highways

Waste Operations Team Leader
Should the applicant proceed to a reserved matters application the following should be provided:

A swept path analysis to show in principle that a large refuse collection vehicle (RCV) can access
all internal access roads and turning heads where it is intended the RCV would access.

Bin storage locations for each plot. Where wheeled bins are to be stored to the front of the property
(including when bins are to be placed in the front on collection day) there should be at least 1
metre space around the bin to allow the resident and collection operatives to manoeuvre the bin,
and it should not cause an obstruction to the entrance to the property.

Bin collection points (areas of hardstanding where residents can place their bins for collection)
should be provided for any plot located over a 25 metre walking distance from where the RCV
can safely access in accordance with "Guidance Notes for storage and collection of domestic
refuse and recycling”

Please refer to "Guidance Notes for storage and collection of domestic refuse and recycling" for
advice with regards to waste management arrangements for households.

www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/2883/guidance notes for storage and collection of
domestic refuse and recycling

Please note, in the event that the roads within this development do not become adopted by
Herefordshire Council, the council will only agree to travel private roads for the purposes of waste
collection if:

The council and its contractors determine that collections can be carried out safely; and
The council receive written confirmation from the landowner/developer that the roads over which

the refuse collection vehicle (RCV) will travel are built to a suitable specification for this type of
vehicle to travel over on a frequent basis; and

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

40


http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/directory_record/1992/street_works_licence
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200196/roads/707/highways
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/2883/guidance_notes_for_storage_and_collection_of_domestic_refuse_and_recycling
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/2883/guidance_notes_for_storage_and_collection_of_domestic_refuse_and_recycling

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

The council and its contractor(s) are indemnified against damage to property and general wear
and tear, other than that caused through negligence.

Strategic Housing Manager

I have reviewed the above outline application and can confirm that the requirement is to provide
35% affordable housing on the development which equates to 10 dwellings, which has been
proposed. | appreciate that this application is for outline with all matter reserved except access,
but | would advise that | would be looking for a split of 53% for social rent and 47% for intermediate
tenure. The exact mix and location of both the open market and affordable units to be agreed
prior to the submission of a reserved matters application and may include houses and bungalows

Local connection in relation to the affordable units would need to be included within a S106. As
well as wheelchair accessible units.

I note from the NDP that shared ownership, social rent and discounted market units are required.
Therefore | would also be happy to support low cost market as an intermediate tenure on this
application.

With regards to the open market units | would suggest the following:
2Bedx7,3Bedx11,4Bedx 2

Environmental Health Service Manager (Noise/Nuisance)

From a noise and nuisance perspective our department has no objections to this proposal.
Public Rights of Way Manager

No objection.

Minerals and Waste

Thank you for consulting me on the above application. | can confirm that the site is identified
under policy M5 of the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan (HUDP) for the safeguarding of
minerals due to presence of a sand and gravel deposit across the site. The policies within the
HUDP will be replaced by the policies within the Draft Minerals and Waste Local Plan (DMWLP)
once adopted. At the current time theses polices can be afforded moderate weight.

This application has been supported by a Geophysical Survey Report dated February 2020 which
purposes was to identify any archaeological potential of the site. The survey was not aimed at
assessing the effect of the proposed development on the mineral resource beneath the site. It
does however identify in paragraph 4.13 that the underlying geology comprises siltstone and
mudstone of Raglan Mudstone Formation, with superficial deposits consisting of head clay, silt
and sand and gravel. The British Geological Survey (2020) mapping below also identifies a
superficial deposit of sand and gravel beneath the site.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

41



m British =
BGS, Geological S | Fanctnc

==/ Survey g

Geolndex Onshore

Q hr4 8hq

The Council recognises that mineral resources are finite and must be protected for future
generations to meet their own needs. Minerals can only be worked where they naturally occur but
with increased pressure on land use the Council must also ensure that those resources are not
needlessly sterilised by other forms of development. As a consequence both local and national
planning policies identify that it is important to make best use of them to secure their long term
conservation. Within section 17 of the NPPF at paragraph 204 it is identified that planning policies
should safeguard mineral resources by defining Minerals Safeguarding Area in order that known
locations of specified mineral resources of local and national importance are not needlessly
sterilised by non-mineral development, whilst not creating a presumption that resources defined
can be worked. The aim of both Policy M5 within the HUDP and Policy M2 of the DMWLP are
consistent with the NPPF in relation to protecting mineral reserves from sterilisation from non-
minerals development.

If an area is identified as being within a Mineral Safeguarded Area it does not automatically
preclude other forms of development. Neither is there a presumption that an application to extract
the mineral resource defined within the Mineral Safeguarding Areas will be granted permission.
What it does mean however, is that attention to the presence of important mineral resource is
needed and that any proposals should adequately and effectively considers the importance and
nature of the reserve in land-use planning decisions. Non- mineral developments, such as the
housing proposed under this application, are required to submit an assessment of the effects of
the proposed development on the mineral resource beneath and adjacent to the site (mineral
resource assessment).

Policies M5 (HUDP) and M2 (DMWLP) both set out criteria/circumstances for which proposals
within the minerals safeguarding areas for non-mineral developments will be permitted. This
includes where it is demonstrated that the resource is not of economic value; it occurs at a depth
and can be extracted in an alternative way; it does not exist or has been sufficiently depleted by
previous extraction; the mineral can be extracted satisfactorily prior to non-mineral development
without affecting the timing and viability of the non-mineral development; or the need for the non-
mineral development is strategic and can be demonstrated to outweigh the need for the mineral
resource.

The planning process should ensure that minerals are not unnecessatrily sterilised whilst allowing
competing development to proceed if there is an overriding need for it. In these circumstances,
extraction of the mineral ahead of the development (prior extraction) should also be considered.
Without further consideration | cannot conclude that the application is not in conflict with policy
M5 of the HUDP.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

42



4.11

The applicant is requested to provide an assessment of mineral resource beneath and adjacent
to the site and the impacts of the proposed development upon the resource prior to any decision
of approval being granted.

Open Spaces Planning Officer

Open Space requirements:
Relevant Policies: In this instance the following national and local planning policies are relevant
for the provision of open space arising from this development

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF):
» Paragraph 96: Open Space and Recreation: provision of what open space, sports and
recreational opportunities required in a local area should be based on robust assessments of
need

Core Strategy(CS)
* 0OS1: Requirements for Open Space, Sports and Recreation Facilities
+ 0S2: Meeting Open Space and Recreation Needs

Evidence Bases
» Herefordshire Open Space Study 2006 (data for amenity public open space has not changed
significantly and it is still considered to be accurate).
0 This recommends POS should be at a rate of 0.4ha per 1000 population.

» Herefordshire Play Facilities Study and Investment Plan 2014 and Fields in Trust Guidance:
o0 These recommend children’s play at a rate of 0.8ha per 1000 population.
o Of this 0.25ha per 1000 population should be formal equipped play
0 These recommends where future investment in formal play should be directed to
maximise the benefits to the local community

* There is no requirement for formal outdoor sport.

Open Space Policy Requirements: In accordance with CS policies OS1land OS2 requirements for
open space, sport and recreation facilities will be sought from all new residential development on
a site by site basis in accordance with all applicable set standards and evidence bases.

In this instance the applicant has proposed a number of areas on site as shown on the indicative
site plan/scheme comprising:

o0 A central village green

o Large informal POS to the south to include a SuDs pond

At this stage the applicant has not indicated the quantum of proposed POS to meet recreation
needs, including children’s play. The area to the north east may be acceptable as POS. It is
described in the Design and Access Statement as structural landscaping to form traditional
orchard planting to the north east end of the site to protect the setting of the Castle Mound
Scheduled Ancient Monument as required by Dilwyn Neighbourhood Development Plan (reg 16)
Policy DWA4.

The Dilwyn Neighbourhood Development Plan (reg 16) Policy DW16 acknowledges that there is
little open space serving local needs, therefore the provision of additional POS on site as
proposed by the applicant is welcome and supported. In meeting CS Policies OS1 and OS2
requirements the applicant will need to demonstrate that on-site provision meets the following
minimum requirements:

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

43



For 30 houses at an occupancy of 2.3 (total population 69) the following is required:

» The developer provides a minimum of 0.084ha (840 sq m) of on-site green infrastructure
comprising;

» 0.028ha (280sgm) of Public Open Space (@ 0.4ha per 1000 population)

» 0.056ha 560sq m) of Children’s Play (@ 0.8ha per 1000 population) of which 0.028ha (280sq
m) should be formal children’s play. (@ 0.25ha per 1000 population).

Given the location of the site, and the potential for large areas of informal open space to the south
including a SuDs pond, some more natural play provision and play trails would be appropriate in
this area.

It should also be noted that the Dilwyn Neighbourhood Development Plan (reg 16) policy DW16
supports the need to retain and enhance the existing open spaces serving the village and policy
DW17 supports the requirements to secure contributions towards community facilities and where
necessary the Parish Council should be consulted as to which facilities are a priority. If it is the
case that the Parish Council are seeking to improve the existing play area at the Village Hall site
and would prefer us to secure an off-site contribution instead of on-site provision, this would be
acceptable. The existing play area is within acceptable thresholds and caters for all ages including
infants, juniors and teenagers. In accordance with the Play Facilities Study and Investment Plan
the facility although good and well maintained is now old and may be in need of some investment
in support of a rolling programme of work, but the Parish Council would need to confirm this.

This would reduce the need to provide as much on-site provision and contributions would be
sought on the following basis from market housing only and in accordance with the SPD on
Planning Obligations on the following basis:

e 2 bed: £965
e 3 bed: £1,640
e 4+ bed: £2,219

SUDs: The proposed SuDs attenuation basins can be included within the open space if designed
accordingly to take account of health and safety and standing water issues. It is acknowledged
that these areas can provide good opportunities for informal recreation and natural play along
with being areas suitable for biodiversity and wildlife. The landscape aspects of SUDs and
appropriate gradients for SUDs on areas of POS should be designed in accordance with the
Councils SuDS Handbook which provides advice and guidance on the inclusion of SuDs on new
development. Plans submitted as part of the landscape scheme should demonstrate that
appropriate gradients can be achieved where appropriate.

If it is not possible to design a pond within these parameters for health and safety reasons the
SuDS area should be fenced off.

In addition the council advises that developers seek guidance from the CIRIA SuDS Manual and
the Wildfowl & Wetland Trust /RSPB available from the Susdrain website.

Adoption and Maintenance: Suitable management and maintenance arrangements will be
required to support any provision of open space and associated infrastructure within the open
space in line with the Council’s policies. This could be a management company which is
demonstrably adequately self-funded or will be funded through an acceptable on-going
arrangement; or through local arrangements such as a Trust set up for the new community for
example. There is a need to ensure good quality maintenance programmes are agreed and
implemented and that the areas remain available for public use.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

44



4.12

Principal Natural Environment Officer (Landscape)
Approve with conditions

Access only

In terms of landscape, the access results in a loss of hedgerow arriving and leaving the village of
Dilwyn. The hedgerow lined road or lane is an important part of the Herefordshire landscape
character and wildlife corridors. The applicant proposes to mitigate this loss with a replacement
native hedgerow and trees, and | suggest conditions are applied to ensure this is of the highest
guality and specification in terms of species mix and post care. | also recommend that hedgerow
trees (i.e. oak) are planted to reinforce a tree and hedgerow lined road into Dilwyn.

The access and the development impacts on the physical landscape, including the best and most
versatile land for agriculture; biodiversity habitats and natural hydrology systems. This impact will
need to be compensated and enhanced through a landscape led development.

Conditions:

CK6 Landscape Scheme

b) A Soil Resource Survey (SRS) and Soil Resource Plan (SRP) in accordance with the
‘Construction Code of Practice for the Sustainable Use of Soils in Construction Sites’
(DEFRA 2009).

C) A plan showing existing and proposed finished levels or contours.

d) A drawing detailing hard surfacing materials

f) Boundary treatments and means of enclosure.

h) Vehicle /Cycle /Pedestrian access and circulation areas.

i) Vehicle parking layouts (if applicable)

)] Lighting and CCTV

k) Trees and hedgerow to be removed.

1) Trees and hedgerow to be retained, setting out measures for their protection during

construction, in accordance with BS5837:2012.
m) All proposed planting, accompanied by a written specification setting out species, size,
guantity, density and cultivation details.

Reason: To safeguard and enhance the character and amenity of the area in order to conform
with policies SS6, LD1 and LD3 of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy and the National
Planning Policy Framework

CK7 Implementation
CK5 Maintenance Plan
CK8 Management plan

Reason: To ensure the successful establishment of the approved scheme, local planning authority
and in order to conform with policies SS6, LD1 and LD3 of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Reserved Matters
Should the application proceed, the following provides recommendations for reserved matters for
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.

Minimise the visual impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the development and its
implementation with strategic tree and hedgerow planting.

Reduce the impact of the development by design, material, colour and finishes. Investigate how
the building can blend in with the landscape. Non reflective materials and finishes are

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

45



recommended, along with colours that are recessive the landscape. It is recommended to
undertake an Environmental Colour Assessment to objectively validate the choice of colours.

Compensate for the loss of biodiversity (both terrestrial and soil); natural hydrological systems
and best and most versatile agricultural land, resulting from the developments footprint by planting
trees, hedgerows, wildflowers and aquatics (associated with the attenuation pond).

Planting approach suggestions
The following are suggested planting regimes.

‘Right trees — in the right places’

Herefordshire Wildlife Trust

‘Select and use trees appropriate to the context’
Trees and Design Action Group (TDAG)

Hedgerow

Hedging plants are to be 60-80 cm high, 1+1, bareroot, healthy and vigorous transplants to be
planted in a double staggered row, 450mm apart, and 7 plants per linear metre. Species mix to
be as follows:

40% Crataeagus monogyna (Hawthorn)

30% Corylus avellana (Hazel)

10% Prunus spinosa (Blackthorn)

10% Acer campestre (Field Maple)

10% llex aquifolium (Holly)

All transplants shall be protected with a 400mm high plastic spiral rabbit guard supported by a
750mm stake or cane. Stock proof fencing should be erected to protect hedging from grazing as
required. The hedge is to be maintained for a period of 5 years following planting, ensuring
adequate watering and fertilising is carried out to ensure good establishment and that all dead,
diseased or damaged plants are replaced annually where required.

Suggested Species
Only native and locally characteristic species should be used or species that can reinforce the
local landscape character.

Common native, thorny species:
Crataegus monogyna (Hawthorn)
llex aquifolium (Holly)

Prunus spinose (Blackthorn)

Non thorny species:

Acer campestre (Field Maple)
Carpinus betula Hornbeam)
Corylus avellana (Hazel)

Cornus sanguinea (Dogwood)
Euonymus europaeus (Spindle)
Viburnum lantana (Wayfaring Tree)
Viburnum opulus (Guelder Rose)

Notes:

» Dog Rose (Rosa canina) can be planted as an additional non woody species but is not
considered part of the 5-7 plants per metre. This species will also quickly colonise naturally.

»  Elder should not be planted in a new hedge it will out compete/kill other species and quickly
develop in to a thin and gappy hedgerow.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

46



»  Honeysuckle should not be planted as it does not ‘grow with the tree’ leading to strangulation
and its climbing habit can cause woody species to collapse.

* lvy will colonise naturally but excessive growth may need to be managed to ensure excessive
shading of woody species does not occur.

* Thorny species should be avoided next to pedestrian paths.

Foot of the hedgerow (Ground flora)

The hedgerow should be considered holistically and that goes for establishing the herbaceous
vegetation at the foot of the hedge, including species such as cow parsley and hedge mustard
with coarse grasses and pending on the location, woodland flora.

Hedgerow trees

Single mature trees in hedgerows enhance Herefordshire’s landscapes and are very important
for wildlife. Research reveals that trees substantially boost the numbers of insects, and so their
predators like birds and bats, in landscapes. They also make it easier for many animals to move
across the countryside. From a landscape character perspective they are intrinsic to
Herefordshire.

Suggested species
Only native and locally characteristic species should be used or species that can reinforce the
local landscape character.

Acer campestre (Field Maple)

Acer pseudoplatanus (Sycamore) *Non-native, introduced in 1500’s
Euonymus europaeus (Spindle)

Quercus robur (English Oak)

Sorbus torminalis (Wild Service Tree)

Individual trees shall be planted as follows: Trees should be planted in areas previously cleared
of all weeds, grass and vegetation. The trees are to be of ‘Standard’ size, 12-14 cm girth,
approximately 3.0 metres tall, bareroot or rootballed and healthy and vigorous. Trees should be
planted in planting holes 1.2m. x 1.2m. x 900mm deep, with the topsoil mixed with a minimum of
20 litres of suitable tree planting compost and replaced carefully around the roots and lightly
compacted every 150mm layer. Trees should be supported with a treated timber stake and rubber
ties and protected from both rabbit and stock damage. This may require the construction of
sufficiently robust timber guards of a size appropriate for the type of stock kept in the field. A water
regime is to be followed to ensure the health of the tree is maintained during the establishment
period:

* Space the trees far enough to let crowns develop without competing or producing too much
shade

* Space far enough apart so the gaps between trees can be easily trimmed with a mechanical
flail

* Use irregular spacing to create a more natural landscape - look at the local landscape to see
what is appropriate

* Young trees need to be clearly marked for at least 5 years so that hedge cutters can see and
avoid cutting them.

Stand-alone trees or groups

Placed in strategic locations, individual trees or groups of trees can assist in the overall wider
green infrastructure strategy and the design of the landscape will integrate the buildings into the
landscape, and assist in mitigating the visual impacts of the buildings.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

47



Suggested species
Only native and locally characteristic species should be used or species that can reinforce the
local landscape character.

Recommendations for future application/s:

Provide careful analysis that the buildings along the road are set back to avoid disturbing the
landscape approach into Dilwyn.

The village has a rich history (with many ‘black and white’ houses), and within a conservation
area. The architectural style and village layout should be taken into consideration to enhance
the overall character of the village and rural setting.

Provide a substantial street tree strategy and integrated, high quality designed public open
space to create a landscape led development with associated benefits (health, storm water
management, enhanced development value and biodiversity net gain).

Look carefully at how the existing surrounding landscape structure (i.e. established trees) can
be reinforced to enhance green infrastructure. For example native trees, with long term legacy
specimens, such as oak trees. Don’t overly relay on orchard trees.

Provide a soft landscape plan with industry standard specifications, with particular attention to
soil quality, as the foundation for successful and long term plant growth and health.

Provide a hard landscape and furniture plan with industry standard specifications, with
particular attention to the integrated design of streets, open spaces and buffer zone, from
kerbs, benches to street lights.

Provide a management and maintenance plan and schedule, for a 5-10 year period to ensure
the successful establishment of plants, and that the general landscape is maintained to a high
standard.

Provide an integrated SuDS system as part of the public open space. Ensuring careful
consideration of levels and gradients and the opportunity to make an interesting aquatic, semi-
aquatic and terrestrial landscape.

If pump facilities are required, ensure these are located discreetly and shielded from views and
the fence painted in colours to blend in with the landscape.

Overall, the scheme will need to demonstrate a high quality of design, as outlined in NPPF, 12,
127b,c and d; and LD1; and ensure that biodiversity and green infrastructure contribute an
enhancement to the local area to meet LD2, LD3 and SS6 and climate change requirements SS7.

Background
Designations/constraints

Conservation Area (adjacent north-east boundary).

Traditional Orchard (adjacent lower west boundary, north of Hafed Wen property).
Scheduled Monument (adjacent north-east boundary).

PROW (closest ¢.175m north-west of site).

PROW (closest ¢ 205m east of site).

Relevant policies
NPPF

Chapter 12, para 127 b,cand d
Chapter 15, para 170 a and b
Chapter 16, paragraph 192

Core strategy

LD1, LD2, LD3, SS6 and SS7

Landscape & visual amenity
Read with figures 1 and 2

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

48



Summary of site:

» Topography: Slightly sloping close to the road and flattens across the field.

* Landscape Character: Principle Settled Farmland

* Views: Existing - The site is relatively well screened due to trees and hedgerows. This includes
from the PROWSs. The site is visible through gaps, such as gateways, and potentially in winter,
leaf fall and early growth months. Proposed — The access will open up views into the site. The
future development will be visible due to the height and scale of the buildings.

» Historic: Circa 1843-1893, the sites and surrounds field pattern is relatively unchanged
compared to today. West and north of the site shows a dominant land use of orchard
plantations. Only small remnant pockets of historic orchards remain today, including a small
rectangular field adjacent the south-west boundary.

Figure 1: Aerial image with overlay.
Conservation area (light blue hatch); Scheduled Ancient Monument (purple hatch); PROWSs (pink dashed
lines); Roads/lanes (red, green and yellow lines); and contours at every 5m.

TR
1148
5428

1lwyn

e
'E“"\'

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

49



4.13

Figure 2: Historic image. circa 1843-1893

Impacts

*  Loss of hedgerows and some trees accommodate the development, with the potential impact
on retained trees and hedgerow root zones.

*  The building impacts on the visual amenity of the local landscape, arrival into and departure
out of the village of Dilwyn.

* The building impacts on the physical landscape (included biodiversity above and below
ground).

* The access, buildings and associated external hardstand will impact on natural hydrological
systems.

* The development destroys grade two (very good), best and most versatile land for agriculture
(Reference: West Midland Region Agricultural Land Classification, 2010, Natural England)
and is contrary to NPPF 15, 170b and local policy (Core Strategy) SS7.

Note: The site is on the margin with grade one (Excellent) land, making this site in general a
high quality farming land.

Principal Natural Environment Officer (Trees)
Approve with conditions

I have conducted a desk top check of the planned development of 30 homes and have not been
to the site. From what | can gather from the available plans/drawings and our own available data
the arboreal constraints appear to be low.

Northern boundary-

The existing edge of Dilwyn abuts the northern boundary and as such the site backs onto
dwellings that have trees located within gardens. The proposed buffer would indicate that no
gevelopment will effect garden/boundary trees.

Hedgerow with a group of
established trees are have been
identified for retention. As with the
northern boundary the impacts here
appear to be low.

existing native species
hedge retained

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

50




Southern Boundary-
Appears to contain low tree numbers and this boundary is unaffected by the indicative layout.

Western Boundary-
The point of access is located here where there will be a requirement for the removal of a section
of hedgerow to facilitate the vision splay.

Soft Landscaping

| can understand the requirement to retain the setting of the scheduled ancient monument which
is located on the north east of the site but | have some reservations for planting an orchard in the
north east corner to preserve the SCM setting.

Why is an orchard the preferred proposal? My assumption, regarding the SCM is because fruit
trees tend to be smaller in stature and therefore they won'’t block views? If this is the case why
can’t a broader mix of native species be used that will offer a more diverse mix of ecological
enhancements? I'm not against the planting in this location and appreciate the increased Green
Infrastructure but would like to see a greater mix of species.

strategic landscaping in the fn_:m

of traditional erchard planting to
preserve the setting of the scheduled
ancient monument

—
.-"'?‘*:___—/----/

As with the orchard at the top of the site, | am a little sceptical about the need for the abundance
of fruit trees. A mix of native species (including fruit trees will be more in keeping with polices LD1
& LD3 of the core strategy.

This is a reserved matter and finer details can be dealt with at this point.

The public and informal open spaces off the opportunity to plant large individual trees that will
provide landscape prominence and enhance the character of the site in the locality. Consider
small leafed limes, Oak, Sweet Chestnut. Smaller species should be considered and included in
a detailed soft landscape plan in these areas.

The edges of the attenuation pond should be populated with water tolerant species.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

51



4.14

Recommendations

I am of the opinion that this site could potentially facilitate the development without having a
detrimental impact on existing green infrastructure. However there is a requirement for a revision
of the proposed soft landscaping taking into account my comments.

Outline Conditions

CKA - Retention of existing trees

No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted, destroyed, pruned, cut or damaged in any manner
prior or during the construction phase other than in accordance with the approved plans and
particulars.

Reason: To safeguard the character and amenity of the area and to ensure that the development
conforms with Policies LD1 and LD3 of the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy and the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Reserved matter conditions

CKF - Specification for Tree Planting

Prior to completion or first occupation of the development whichever is sooner, a full specification
of all proposed tree planting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.

The specification shall include the quantity, size, species and position or density of all trees to be
planted. As well as cultivation details - how they will be planted and protected and the proposed
time of planting. The areas designated for planting shall be fenced of and soil left undisturbed to
avoid soil compaction.

All tree planting shall be carried out in the first planting season following the occupation of the
building, in accordance with the approved plant specification as well as guidance provided by BS
8545: - Trees from nursery to independence within the landscape.

Any trees or plants which die, are removed or become severely damaged or diseased within 5
years of planting will be replaced in accordance with the approved plans.

Reason: To safeguard the character and amenity of the area and to ensure that that the
development conforms with Policies LD1 and LD3 of the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Principal Natural Environment Officer (Ecology)
Object

The application site lies within the catchment of the River Lugg SAC, which comprises part of the
River Wye Special Area of Conservation (SAC); a habitat recognised under the Habitats
Regulations, (The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017) as being of
international importance for its aquatic flora and fauna.

At present the levels of phosphates in the River Lugg exceed the water quality objectives and it
is therefore in unfavourable condition. Where a European designated site is considered to be
‘failing’ its conservation objectives there is limited scope for the approval of development which
may have additional damaging effects. The competent authority (in this case the Local Planning
Authority) is required to consider all potential effects (either alone or in combination with other
development) of the proposal upon the European site through the Habitat Regulations
Assessment process.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

52



Permission can only be granted if there is scientific certainty that no unmitigated phosphate
pathways exist and that the HRA process can confirm ‘no adverse effect on the integrity of the
River Lugg (Wye) SAC’. Natural England; the statutory nature conservation body, advise that
recent case law requires effective mitigation to be demonstrated on a case by case basis whilst
the River Lugg Nutrient Management Plan is reviewed to ensure greater certainty that this can
provide large scale mitigation development in the area.

The proposal here is for a total of 30 new dwellings with an associated creation of additional foul
water flows.

Welsh Water have confirmed that a connection to any local mains sewer is not possible due to
lack of local capacity. In any case at this location any such additional mains sewer flows would
create associated additional outfall from the local WWTW in to the River Lugg SAC Hydrological
catchment — and the associated additional phosphate loading/pathways is not currently
acceptable.

No alternative foul water management scheme is likely to currently be possible and this may be
why no alternative proposal to the mains sewer connection appears to have been considered or
full details with all supporting professional reports and testing supplied for consideration by the
LPA. The applicant is reminded that any such scheme must demonstrate compliance with all
current guidance for drainage in the Lugg Catchment. See:
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-services/planning-services-
1/12?documentld=66&categoryld=200142

Therefore at this point in time on the basis of the information provided | find that the proposed
development would harm - have an adverse effect on the integrity — of a designated ‘European’
nature conservation site and would therefore conflict with policy SD4 of the Core Strategy which
seeks to ensure that development does not undermine the achievement of water quality targets
for rivers within the county and policy LD2 which states that development should conserve, restore
and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity.

Additionally, the proposal would be inconsistent with the provisions in the NPPF in relation to
conserving and enhancing the natural environment and would not accord with the Conservation
of Habitats Regulations, (The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017).

The LPA as the competent authority is therefore only able to conclude that there would be an
unmitigated adverse effect of the integrity of the River Lugg (Wye) SAC.

There is an Ecology-HRA Objection raised to this application at this time.

In addition to the foul water surface water is also a consideration within the HRA process — It is
noted that a Sustainable Drainage Scheme with a managed outfall to a local watercourse is
proposed. This system would provide the required mitigation and management of any potential
pollutants, contaminants and nutrient/phosphate pathways from the surface water flows. The LPA
has no reason to consider that subject to a final approval of technical matter this is not an
achievable option and thus this aspect would achieve a satisfactory HRA consideration subject to
final approval by Natural England of the full appropriate assessment completed by the LPA and
securing the approval of technical design matters as a Reserved Matter.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

53


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-services/planning-services-1/12?documentId=66&categoryId=200142
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/planning-services/planning-services-1/12?documentId=66&categoryId=200142

Additional ecology comments:
The preliminary ecological appraisal (PEA) by Red Kite dated March 2020 is noted.

It is noted that the report has not completed additional species specific surveys identified as being
required (including Great Crested Newts). The development and site are such that the PEA is
sufficient for the LPA to be able to conclude that any requirements for mitigation measures
required as a result of the more detailed protected species and update surveys prior to the
commencement of actual development cannot be secured and this it is appropriate for the LPA
to consider a Condition to secure these updated and additional surveys as a Reserved Matter.

A relevant condition based on standard condition CKS is suggested below.

Ecological Working Method Statement

Prior to commencement of any site clearance, preparation or development, a fully detailed and
specified Ecological Working Method Statement (EWMS) based on all relevant updated and
optimal period ecological surveys, including details of the appointed Ecological Clerk of Works,
shall be provided to the local planning authority for approval in writing. The EWMS should
consider all relevant species, but in particular Great Crested Newts and Reptile species. The
approved EWMS shall be implemented in full unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that all species and habitats are protected and conserved having regard to
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017),
National Planning Policy Framework , NERC Act (2006) and Herefordshire Local Plan - Core
Strategy policies SS6, LD1, LD2 and LD3..

As identified in the NPPF and the Core Strategy all development should demonstrate how it will
enhance the local biodiversity potential (net gain). A condition to secure this ‘biodiversity net gain’
is requested on any consent that may finally be granted.

CNS:

Nature Conservation — Biodiversity and Habitat Enhancement

No demolition or construction should commence until a detailed scheme and annotated location
plan for proposed biodiversity net gain enhancement features including provision for enhanced
bat roosting opportunities, bird nesting, hedgehogs, amphibians and pollinating insect homes on
land or buildings under the applicant’s control has been supplied to and approved in writing by
the local authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full and hereafter maintained
as approved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that all protected species are considered and habitats enhanced having
regard to the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017), Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 (as amended), Policy SS1, SS6 and LD2 of the Herefordshire Core Strategy, National
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and NERC Act 2006.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

54



4.15

Land Drainage

This response is in regard to flood risk and drainage aspects, with information obtained from the following sources:
® Application for outline planning permission ¢  Surface Water Management Plan and Flood
* Location Plan Risk Assessment

®  Planning Design and Access Statement e Site Plan
e Topographical Survey

We highlight that any planning application should be submitted in accordance with the Herefordshire SuDS
Handbook and the Herefordshire Council Planning Applications Flood Risk & Drainage Checklist available on the
Council’s website:

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142 /planning services/66/about planning services/11

Site location and extract of flood map(s)

Figure 1: Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning (Rivers and Sea), August 2020

s

Site Location

Development description

The Applicant proposes the construction of 30 dwellings, laid out in three distinct groups off a
main ‘village road’ around a large area of public open space with associated garages and access
roads. The site occupies an area of 3.76ha and is currently used for agricultural grazing. The
topography of the site slopes down from approximately 84.25m AOD in the north-west to
approximately 81.8m AOD in the south-east.

Identifying the need for a Flood Risk Assessment
All Applicants must provide sufficient information to address the points listed below to enable an
accurate assessment of flood risk and the need for a flood risk assessment to be made.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

55



Confirmation of the site area in Site area confirmed as 3.76ha
hectares or square metres

Identification of all designated There are no main rivers in close proximity to the site.
main rivers within 20m of the
site boundary

Identification of all designated There is an ordinary watercourse leading away from the eastern edge of the site.
ordinary watercourses and land
drains within 20m of the site

boundary
Confirmation of the site’s The site is located in Flood Zone 1. It is not expected that this will be changed by
location in Flood Zone 1, Flood the advent of climate change.

Zone 2 or Flood Zone 3, and
taking climate change effects
into account

Confirmation and supporting The EA’s long term flood risk maps indicate the site is at significant risk surface
justification of whether the site is | water flooding, with a large portion of area in the southern end of the site being
at significant risk of flooding at a low to high risk of surface water flooding.

from other sources, including
surface water flood risk or flood
risk from minor watercourses
with unmapped flood extents

A Flood Risk Assessment (prepared in accordance with NPPF and EA Standing Advice) must
support the planning application for any development:

* Located in Flood Zone 2 or Flood Zone 31.

* With a site area greater than 1 hectare.

* Located in an area identified to be at significant risk of flooding from other sources, including
surface water flood risk or flood risk from minor watercourses with unmapped flood extents.

Review of the information summarised in Section 1 indicates that a FRA is required to support
the planning application for this development.

Flood Risk Assessment
The following information should be provided within the FRA:
v Information provided is considered sufficient
x Information provided is not considered sufficient and further information will be required

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536
PF2
56



Sources of risk
Assessment of Flood Zone 2 and The FRA provided by the client indicates that the development is
3 taking the effects of climate located in Flood Zone 1. The distance to the cosest area of Flood Zone 2
change imto account, including indicates that the risk of this dhanging with the onset of cimate change v
predicted flood depths for the 1 iz negligible.
in 100 and 1 in 1000 annual
probability events
Assessment of areas protected by | The site is not in an area benefitting from flocd defences.
flood defences and risk of
floeding in the event of breach, v
taking the effects of climate
change imto acoount
Assessment of fluvial flocd risk The FRA provided by the applicant states that there is a small ordinary
from other watercourses in close | watercourse adjacent to the eastern edge of the site. While this
prosimity (c.20m) to the site watercourse is considered to be very small (is not actually shown on 0%
including those with no mapped mapping) the EA’s surface water fiood risk maps indicate it has a low v
flood extent, and taking the risk of flooding.
affects of climate change into
acoount
Assessment of mapped surface At the top end of the watercourse (within the boundary of the site) the
wiater flood risk area of surface water flood risk is much larger, with some areas being at
a highi risk of surface water floeding. This surface water flooding v
corresponds with low points in the topography that slope towards the
top end of the watercourse.
Assessment of flood risk Examination of OS5 mapping indicates that the site is unlikely to be at
associzted with potential risk of flooding from owerland flows. v
owerland flow from adjacent
steeply sloping land
Assessment of groundwater flood | A ground investigation conducted on the site indicates that the site is
risk mosthy underlain by dayey soils that may restrict groundwater
emergence. Jur own review of borehole records indicates that
groundwater may not be cose to the ground's surface. As such, the risk v
of groundwater flooding is considered to be low although this shiould fwith
still be given further consideration in the detailed design of draimage note)
systems. We note that the drainage strategy indicates that
groundwater emergence could be a risk of the lower-lying south-east of
the site.
Assessment of flooding from The provided FRA has not included an assessment of potential flooding
surface water, foul water and from sewers. Topography suggests the risk would be low. v
highway sewers
Assessment of flood risk from any | EA mapping indicates that the site is not at risk of flooding from
other manmade sources, manmade features such as resensoirs. v
including reservoirs, ponds,
detention bazins etc.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

57



Summary of historic flooding
records and anecdotal evidence

Mo information has been provided around historical flood event. Our
own review of Herefordshire Coundl’s records indicates that there are
no known historic flooding events in the vidnity of the site that would
affect or influence site development.

Other works that could pose risk

Are there any other proposad There are no significant works that are considered likely to lead to an
works that could lead to increase | increase in flocd risk to the site or elsewhere.

flood risk to the site or

elsewhere, for example
culverting or diversion of

watercourses?

Seqguential and exception tests

Demonstration that the As the site is located entirely within Flood Zone 1 it is considered to
development is in accordance satisfy the requirements of the Sequential test, and the application of
with the Sequential and the Exception test is not required.

Exception Tests outlined in the
NPPF

Demonstration of how a
sequential approach has been
taken to locate development in
the lowest risk areas of the site,
including the risk of flocding from
other sources

While the site is lecated entirely within Flood Zone 1 the location of the
proposed residential areas have been set out im the northemn end of the
site 50 as to aveid the areas at risk of surface water flooding in the
southemn end of the site. We welcome this approadh.

Mitizati
Summary of how the As noted above, the layout of the site has been developed to keep the
dewvelopment has addressed the proposed residential areas free of the areas of surface water flood risk
identified flood risks and in the northemn of the site. It is also proposed that the development site
incorporated appropriate levels be raised 300mm abowve existing ground levels to provide
mitigation into the layout and additional freeboard abowve areas at a low risk of surface water flooding.
operation of the development This mitigation is considered to be sufficient to mitigate the risks

currently identified ocnsite.

Surface Water Management Strategy

A surface water management strategy should be submitted that includes the following information:

v
$ -

Information provided is considered sufficient

Information provided is not considered sufficient and further information will be required

Strategy

Summary of proposed surface
water management strategy with
supporting illustration, including
lecation of proposad outfalls,
attenuation structures and/or
infiltration features

It is proposed that surface water discharge from the site will be
attenuated in an attenuation basin to be situated im the existing low
point in the site (according to provided topographic survey) with a
controdled discharge to a local watercourse. While only basic cutline
drawings of the proposed strategy have currently been provided, thisis
considered sufficient and more detailed designs of the system can be
provided as part of the reserved matters application.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

58




Summary of likely ground Infiltration testing conducted onsite indicated that soils onsite were ¥
conditions including permeability | impermeable, and as such unlikely to support drainage via infiltration. [with
and comtamination risks The tests are not im accordance with BRE3GS and are generally of poor note)
quality. Howewver, the description of site conditions provided by the
contractor does indicate that the site is unlikely to be suitable for an
infiliration-based system. Ouwr own review of borehole records also
indicates that the underlying soils may also have low permeability
[noting that the infiltration testing was conducted at shallow depths
and in very wet conditions). We therefore accept the applicant’s
approach for the purpose of cutline planning although do require that
further consideration is given to opportunities for combined infiltration
and attenuation systems in the detailed design submitted to support
the reserved matters application.
Confirmation of whether the site | The site is not located in a source protection zone or prindpal aquifer. v
is located in @ Source Protection
Zone or Principal Aguifer
Demonstration that the Sub3s The 5ulS hierarchy has been considered and we agree with the overall v
hierarchy has been considered in | strategy, subject to ouwr comments abowve.
accordance with NFPF and
justification for the proposed
method of surface water
discharge
Demonstration that best practice | Beyond the intent to provide an onsite attenuation basin, mimimal v
SulS have been promoted, detail has been provide around the proposed use of SulS on the site. As [with
appropriate to the size and such, it is recommended that the use of SuDS is considered where note)
nature of development possible during the detailed design of the proposed scheme. Fora
development of this site we expect online vegetated features to be
promoted that maximise treatment potential, where suitable,
infiltration during smaller rainfall events.
If pumped systems are proposed, | Mo pumps are proposed. v
justification for the use of these
systems, summary of key design
principles and assessment of
residual risk
Off-site discharge
For discharge to a watercourse, The drainage strategy promotes discharge to the ordinary watercourse v
sewer or lecal authority asset, to the east of the site. We note that the watercourse is located on land [with
confirmation of the relevant owned by the same landowner, however Ordinary Watercourse notz)
authority from which consent will | Consent is likely to be required from Herefordshire Council prier to the
be required construction of any new outfalls into the watercourse.
For discharge to a watercourse, The provided surface water management strategy states that the v
sewer or lecal authority asset, greenfield runoff rates have been caloulated using ReFH2 methieds and [with
summanry of greenfield and, if have produced the following: note)
relevant, current runoff rates 1in 2 year—5lfs
caloulated using the methods 1in 30 year — 1115
outlined in The SuDS Manual 1in 100 year — 161/s
2015 for the 1 in 1 year, Obar and B L
1in 100 year events Itis assume'.d 1.1131 these rates apply to the entire srtie area of 3.76 ha
although this is not clear. We request that full details of the
calculations be provided as part of the reserved matters application so
that the reguired inputs can be chedked, noting that errors may reguire
amended rates to be applied to the detailed design.

PF2

59

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536



For discharge to a watercourse, The provided surface water management strategy states that the v
sewer or lecal authority asset, discharge from the site will be restricted to the following values for the [with
summary of proposed discharge following events: note]
rates and volumes calculated 1in 2 year—5ls
uzing the methods outlined in 1in 30 year — 1015
The Suls Manual 2005 for the 1 1in 100 year — 161fs
in 1 year, Obar and 1 in 100 year
p— The submitted MicroDrainage calculations indicate howewver that these
rates will be applied to the impermeable areas of the site. As per
above, it is not clear if the calculated greenfield rates have been
calculated for the entirety of the site or just the impermeable areas.
We stress that the drainage strategy should limit runoff to equivalent
greenfield rates for just those areas that will be drained by the
drainage system (i.e. impermeable areas) which may require a
discharge rate to be applied that is lower than those stated above.
If the proposed discharge rate is lower than what would be considered
reascnable to prevent blockage (noting Herefordshire Council accept a
discharge rate of c.2l/s with appropriate trash screen § overflow in
place) it is expected that the applicant maximise opportunities to
reduce runcff during smaller events, for example through use of
vegetated systemns that promote infiltration and evaporation in upper
soil layers.
Given the size of the site and availability of land for attenuation we are
confident that this an be demonstrated as part of the reserved matters
application.
We also highlight that cloulations of and develo nt runoff
wolumes will also need to be provided as part of the reserved matters
application.
For discharge to a watercourse, The proposed attenuation volume onsite is approximately S00m3. As v
sewer or lecal authority asset, r above, we highlieht that a larger attenuation volume may be [with
summary of proposed required. While detailed drawings of the basin have not yet been note])
attenuation volume to manage provided, the large amount of space in the site indicates that there are
the rate and volume of runoff to unlikely to be issues with the size of the basin once a fully detailed
greenfield or current rates and design is completed.
volumes, allowing for climate
change effects and
demonstrating sufficient space
within the site
Assessment of potential failure of | Design cross-sections have not been provided at this stage. However, in |«
any above-ground attenuation the ewvent than an abowve ground structure at the location of the basin
features, including assessment of | where to fail it is expected that the flows would be contained within
residual risks to downstream areas of paddock around the watercourse that the proposed basin is
receptors, and proposed intended to discharge to. The risk to properties in close proximity the
mitigation and management watercourse indicates that the risk from a breach of this nature is likely
measures to be negligible.
Drawing to illustrate that As the site is located entirely in Flood Zone 1 the proposed attenuation v
attenuation structures are not structure is not located within the 1 in 100 annual probability flood
lecated within an area at risk of extent.
fluvial fiooding up to the 1in 100 | The drainage strategy states that the attenuation basin will be located
annual probability event and outside of the area mapped to be at risk of surface water flooding.
taking the effects of dimate
change imto account, undess it can
be demonstrated that the
capadty of the drainage system

PF2

60

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536



will not be reduced and that any

loss of fluvial fiood storage can

be compensated for elsewhere

without increasing risk to people,

property or infrastructure

For discharge to a watercourse, The provided surface water drainage strategy has not included an v

sewer or local authority asset, assessment of the capacity of the downstream watercourse. However, [with

demonstration that a viable as the topography of the site indicates that this was previously the note)

connection can be made and that | receiving watercourse for the existing catchment it is expected (that as

the suitability and capacity of the | discharge will be maintained at existing levels) that the watercourse will

downstream system has been hawe sufficient capacity. We stress however that the reserved matters

explored in consultation with the | application will need to be supported by a survey of the watercourse to

relevant authority demonstrate clear flow to its outfall with the Stretford Brook.

General

If the development is to be It is assumed that the development will not be developed in phases. v

delivered in phases,

demonstration of proposed

delivery and ability to maintain

key design criteria

Exceedance

Assessment of natural surface Assessment of the surrounding topography indicates that the risk of v

water fliow paths through the impact of flows from outside the site is low. We do however stress that

site, noting that natural flow the surface water flooding in the south of the site will need to be

paths should be retained as far s | considered in the siting of the attenuation basin [as stated in the

practicable within a development | submitted drainage strategy).

layout, and demonstration that

consideration has been given to

the potential for overland flow to

overwhelm the apadty of the

proposed drainage system

Demonstration of how surface Minimal information has been provided in regard to excesdance flows. v

water that exceeds the capacity However, as the natural topography of the site will remain largely [with

of drainage features will be unchanged it is expected any flows that exceed the capacity of the note)
managed within the site up to proposed drainage system can be directed as overland to the onsite

and including the 1 in 100 annual | attenuation basin that is to be located as the natural low pont of the

probability event to ensure no existing topography. This will need to be evidenced as part of the
unacceptable flood risk to the reserved matters application, noting that the design will also need to

development and no inoeased demonstrate that the attenuation basin will not be overwhelmed by

flood risk to people, property and | surface water flows from elsewhere {i.e. that may contribute to the
infrastructure elsewhere mapped surface water flood risk).

Access, adoption and

maintenance

Confirmation if access or works Access or works to third party land will not be reguired. v

to third party land will be

required and, if so, confirmation

of the party with which

agreement will be required

Confirmation of proposed The proposed surface water management strategy states that the v

adoption and maintenance maintenance of S5ubS5 features onsite will be the responsibility of the [with

armangements for the surface site owner/owners, likely through a separate management company. note)

water drainage system This is acceptable in principle although details of the proposed

arrangements will need to be provided as part of the reserved matters

Demonstration that appropriate It is expected that access for maintenance will be achievable although v
aocess is available to maintain details of the sed arra ents will need to be ided as part [with
SuDS features (including pumping | of the reserved matters application. note)

stations)

PF2

61

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536




Foul Water Management Strategy
No Foul Water Management Strategy has been submitted with the application. It is recommended
the applicant submit this to the council for review prior to the granting of planning permission.

Overall Comment
As discussed above, we recommend that the following information is provided prior to the Council
granting planning permission for this development:

. A foul water drainage strategy demonstrating the proposed methods of managing foul
water from the proposed development. Connection to the public sewerage network should
be explored and promoted in the first instance. The site is located in the catchment of the
River Lugg SAC therefore a package treatment plant discharge to a watercourse would
require agreement with Natural England.

Should the Council be minded to grant planning permission, we recommend that the Applicant
submits the information requested above along with the following information within any
subsequent reserved matters application:

. Detailed drawings of the proposed surface water drainage strategy that demonstrate the
inclusion of SuDS where appropriate and location and size of key drainage features;

. Detailed drawings of proposed features such as attenuation features and outfall
structures;

. Detailed calculations of existing greenfield runoff rates and volumes and proposed

discharge rates and volumes;

. Calculations to demonstrate that the proposed surface water drainage system has been
designed to prevent the surcharging of any below ground drainage network elements in
all events up to an including the 1 in 2 annual probability storm event;

. Calculations to demonstrate that the proposed surface water management system will
prevent any flooding of the site in all events up to an including the 1 in 30 annual probability
storm event;

. Calculations that demonstrates that the proposed drainage system will have sufficient
capacity to cater for up to the 1 in 100 year event and allowing for the potential effects of
climate change;

. Confirmation of the proposed methods of treating surface water runoff to ensure no risk of
pollution is introduced to groundwater or watercourses both locally and downstream of the
site, especially from proposed parking and vehicular areas;

. Demonstration of the management of exceedance flows;

. Demonstration of the suitability and condition of the receiving watercourse to manage
discharge from the development;

. Confirmation of agreement in principle of proposed adoption and maintenance

arrangements for the surface water drainage system and demonstration that appropriate
access is available;

. Operational and maintenance manual for all proposed drainage features that are to be
adopted and maintained by a third party.

4.16 Herefordshire & Worcestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
| refer to the above planning application and advise that, further to a review of the applicant's

submission the following comments are with regard to the primary healthcare provision on behalf
of Herefordshire & Worcestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536
PF2
62



Existing Healthcare Position Proximate to the Planning Application Site

The proposed development is likely to have an impact on the services of 2 GP practices in the
area. The GP practices at present would not have the capacity to accommodate the additional
growth without either expansion or relocation.

The proposed development will be likely to have an impact on the NHS funding programme for
the delivery of primary healthcare provision within this area and specifically within the health
catchment of the development. Herefordshire & Worcestershire CCG would therefore expect
these impacts to be fully assessed and mitigated.

Review of Planning Application

Herefordshire & Worcestershire CCG acknowledges that the planning application does not
appear to include a Health Impact Assessment (HIA), and therefore does not appear to recognise
that a capital contribution may be required to mitigate the primary healthcare impacts arising from
the proposed development.

Assessment of Development Impact on Existing Healthcare Provision

The existing GP practices do not have capacity to accommodate the additional growth resulting
from the proposed development. The development could generate an additional 72 residents and
subsequently increase demand upon existing constrained services.

The primary healthcare service directly impacted by the proposed development and the current
capacity position is shown in Table 1.

Table 1:
Summary position for primary healthcare services within catchment (or closest to) the
proposed development

Practice We'g?zt:q List (I:,:f;z Capacity? Sp?;ﬁ f ?qaiimty
Weobley & Staunton- 7,979 268 547 -279
on-Wye Surgery
Westfield Surgery 9,741 444 668 -224
Total 17,720 712 1,215 -503

Notes:
1. The weighted list size of the GP Practice based on the Carr-Hill formula, this figure more accurately reflects the
need of a practice in terms of resource and space and may be slightly lower or higher than the actual patient list.
2. Current Net Internal Area occupied by the Practice

3. Based on 120m? per 1,750 patients (this is an optimal list size for a single GP). Space requirement aligned to DH
guidance within “Health Building Nate 11-01: facilities for Primary and Community Care Services”
4. Based on existing weighted list size, negative numbers show capacity shortfall

The development would have an impact on primary healthcare provision in the area and its
implications, if unmitigated, would be unsustainable. The proposed development must therefore,
in order to be considered under the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ advocated
in the National Planning Policy Framework, provide appropriate levels of mitigation.

Healthcare Needs Arising from the Proposed Development

The intention of Herefordshire & Worcestershire CCG is to promote Primary Healthcare Hubs with
co-ordinated mixed professionals. This is encapsulated in the strategy document: The NHS Five
Year Forward View.

The development would give rise to a need for improvements to capacity, in line with emerging
STP estates strategy; by way of new and additional premises or infrastructure.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

63



Table 2 provides the Capital Cost Calculation of additional primary healthcare services arising
from the development proposal.

Table 2
Additional Additional Spare Capital required
Primary Care Population floorspace c ap acit to create
Network Growth required to meet pactty additional floor

(NIA) (m?)?

(30 dwellings) ° growth (m?)® space (£)?

Hereford City
HMG, North and 72 4.94 -503 11,355
West Herefordshire

Notes:

5. Calculated using the National average household size of 2.4 taken from the ONS Families and Households
2017.

6. Based on 120m? per 1,750 patients (this is an optimal list size for a single GP). Space requirement aligned to
DH guidance within “Health Building Note 11-01: facilities for Primary and Community Care Services”

7. Existing capacity within premises as shown in Table 1

8. Based on standard m? cost multiplier for primary healthcare in the Midlands and East from the BCIS Public
Sector Q3 2015 price & cost Index, adjusted for professional fees, fit out and contingencies budget (£2,300/m?),
rounded to nearest £100.

A developer contribution will be required to mitigate the impact of this proposal. Herefordshire &
Worcestershire CCG calculates the level of contribution required in this instance to be £11,355.
Payment should be made available before the development commences.

Herefordshire & Worcestershire CCG therefore requests that this sum be secured through a
planning obligation linked to any grant of planning permission, in the form of a Section 106
planning obligation.

Conclusions

In its capacity as the primary healthcare commissioner, Herefordshire & Worcestershire CCG has
identified that the development will give rise to a need for additional primary healthcare provision
to mitigate impacts arising from the development.

The capital required through developer contribution would form a proportion of the required
funding for the provision of capacity to absorb the patient growth generated by this development.

Assuming the above is considered in conjunction with the current application process,
Herefordshire & Worcestershire CCG would not wish to raise an objection to the proposed
development. Otherwise the Local Planning Authority may wish to review the development’'s
sustainability if such impacts are not satisfactorily mitigated.

The terms set out above are those that Herefordshire & Worcestershire CCG deem appropriate
having regard to the formulated needs arising from the development.

Herefordshire & Worcestershire CCG look forward to working with the applicant and the Council
to satisfactorily address the issues raised in this consultation response and would appreciate
acknowledgement of the safe receipt of this letter.

4.17 Wye Valley Trust
This is a consultation response to the planning application ref: P202265/0 in relation to Proposed
Outline application with all matters, save access, reserved for the residential development of 20
open market homes and 10 affordable homes.
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536
PF2

64



Introduction

Planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise. The creation and maintenance of healthy
communities is an essential component of sustainability as articulated in the Government’s
National Planning Policy Framework, which is a significant material consideration. Development
plans have to be in conformity with the NPPF and less weight should be given to policies that are
not consistent with the NPPF. Consequently, local planning policies along with development
management decisions also have to be formulated with a view to securing sustainable healthy
communities. Access to health services is a fundamental part of sustainable healthy community.

As the attached document demonstrates, Wye Valley NHS Trust (the Trust) is currently operating
at full capacity in the provision of acute and planned healthcare.

It is further demonstrated that this development will create potentially long term impact on the
Trust ability provide services as required.

The Trust’'s funding is based on previous year’s activity it has delivered subject to satisfying the
guality requirements set down in the NHS Standard Contract. Quality requirements are linked to
the on-time delivery of care and intervention and are evidenced by best clinical practice to ensure
optimal outcomes for patients.

The contract is agreed annually based on previous year’s activity plus any pre-agreed additional
activity for clinical services. The Trust is unable to take into consideration the Council’s housing
land supply, potential new developments and housing trajectories when the contracts are
negotiated. Further, the following year's contract does not pay previous year's deficit
retrospectively. This development creates an impact on the Trust’s ability provide a services
required due to the funding gap it creates. The contribution sought is to mitigate this direct impact.

CIL Regulation 122 and 123
The Trust considers that the request made is in accordance with Regulation 122:

“(2) A planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission for the
development if the obligation is—

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and 4
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.”

Regulation 123 does not apply to this s 106 Contribution. The request is not to fund infrastructure
as defined by S 216 of the Planning Act 2008.

S 106

S 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) allows the Local Planning
Authority to request a developer to contribute towards the costs it creates on the services. The
contribution in the amount £19,999.35 sought will go towards the gap in the funding created by
each potential patient from this development. The detailed explanation and calculation are
provided within the attached document.

Without the requested contribution, the access to adequate health services is rendered more
vulnerable thereby undermining the sustainability credentials of the proposed development due
to conflict with  NPPF and Local Development Plan policies as explained in the attached
document.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

65



The Wye Valley Trust’'s evidence for the requested s106 developer contributions for services is
viewable in full on the website.

4.18 Education

Site: Land South West of Orchard Close, Dilwyn, Herefordshire, HR4 8HQ

Description: Proposed Outline application with all matters, save access, reserved for the residential

development of 20 open market homes and 10 affordable homes

Application No: 202265

Date application 22/07/2020

received:

Date reply sent: 20/08/2020

Schools affected: Weobley Primary School

Weobley Secondary School

Breakdown of 2+ bedroom flat / apartment | TBC

2/3 bed house / bungalow

Housing: 4+ bed property

Total Contribution £TBC once breakdown confirmed

expected:

The educational facilities provided for this development site are Early Years, Weobley Primary
School, Weobley High School and Youth.

Weobley Primary School has a planned admission number of 15. As at the schools spring census
2020:-

. 2 year groups are at or over capacity- Y3=30, Y6=30
The school will require additional classroom space to accommodate the needs of the children
created by this development and we would therefore be seeking the contribution to provide a
classroom extension with classrooms that are the recommended size and can accommodate
sufficient number of pupils rather than the small mobile accommodation they currently have
Weobley Secondary School has a planned admission number of 100. As at the schools spring
census 2020:-

e 5 years groups are at or over capacity- Y7= 108, Y8=108, Y9=107, Y10=100, Y11= 103
The school will require additional classroom space to accommodate the needs of the children
created by this development and we would therefore be seeking the contribution to build a new
RE classroom, this would help them accommodate increasing numbers in sufficiently sizes
classroom spaces rather than the small spaces they currently have to use.

Approximately 1% of the population are affected by special educational needs and as such the
Children’s and Families Directorate will allocate a proportion of the monies for Primary, Secondary
and Post 16 education to schools within the special educational needs sector.
Please note that the Planned Admission Number of the above year groups is based on permanent
and temporary accommodation, whereas section 3.5.6 of the SPD states that the capacity should
be based on the permanent accommodation, therefore, additional children may also prevent us
from being able to remove temporary classrooms at Weobley Primary School and Weaobley High
School that we would otherwise be able to do.
In accordance with the SPD the Children’s and Families Directorate would therefore be looking
for a contribution to be made that would go towards the inclusion of all additional children
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

PF2

66



generated by this development. The Children and Families Directorate contribution for this
development would be as follows:

Pre-
Contribution by No of Bedrooms School Primary | Secondary | Post 16 | Youth SEN Total
2 or 3 bedroom house or bungalow £244 £1,899 £1,949 £87 £583 £138 £4.900
4+ bedroom house or bungalow £360 £3.111 £4,002 £87 £1,148 £247 £8,955

Please note this is the contribution that would be requested at this point in time based on the
current information available that is pupil census data and the criteria in the SPD. It is therefore
likely that this level of contribution will change (increase or decrease) for all subsequent

applications made.

4.19 Planning Obligations Manager
Planning Gain Type Contributions Infrastructure Project
Education e £4,900.00 per 2 bedroom e Classroom extension at
open market dwelling Weobley Primary School
e £4,900.00 per 3 bedroom to provide a classroom to
open market dwelling the recommended size
e £8,955.00 per 4 bedroom rather than the small
open market dwelling mobile accommodation
that they have.
¢ New Religious Education
classroom at Weobley
Secondary School.
Transport e £2,457.00 per 2 bedroom e Introduction of traffic
open market dwelling calming measures in the
e £3,686.00 per 3 bedroom village
open market dwelling e Improvements to
e £4,915.00 per 4 bedroom pedestrian and cycling
open market dwelling infrastructure
e Improvements to bus
infrastructure
¢ Improvements to Public
Rights of Way
NOTE: A section 278 highway
agreement would be required to
deliver pedestrian facilities along
the C1091 to access the amenities
in the village and a Traffic
Regulation Order to reduce the
speed limit in the village
Waste and Recycling £80.00 per dwelling To provide 1 x waste bin and 1 x
recycling bin
Library e £146.00 per 2 bedroom Leominster library
open market dwelling
e £198 per 3 bedroom open
market dwelling
e £241.00 per 4 bedroom
open market dwelling
Wye Valley Trust £19,999.35 To provide services at Hereford
Hospital
Herefordshire & £11,355.00 To provide services at Weobley,
Worcestershire Clinical Staunton on Wye and Westfield
Commissioning Group surgeries.
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536
PF2

67




Public Open Space/Play
facilities

A minimum of 0.084 hectares
(840sgm) of on-site green
infrastructure comprising;
e 0.028 hectares (280sqm)
of Public Open Space
e 0.056 hectares (560sgm)
of children’s play of which

Formal play could be provided on
or off site as there is an existing
play area at the village hall site
which is within acceptable walking
thresholds and caters for all ages
including infants, juniors and
teenagers.

0.28 hectares (280sgm)
should be formal play.
If it is decided to provide the play
off-site then the following
contributions will be required;
e £965.00 per 2 bedroom

dwelling

e £1,640.00 per 3 bedroom
dwelling

e £2,219.00 per 4 bedroom
dwelling

53% social rent and 47%
intermediate tenure (shared
ownership, social rent, discounted
market and low cost market).

To monitor compliance with the
obligations if the payment of the
contributions are to be phased.

Affordable Housing 35% of the development will be

delivered as affordable housing.

Monitoring fee 2% of total contributions.

5. Representations

51 Dilwyn Parish Council
The parish Council wished to make no comment with respect of this application.

5.1.1 Dilwyn Parish Council (amended)
Further to the Dilwyn Parish Council meeting held on Tuesday 8th December - | have been asked
to inform you :
Dilwyn Parish Council support this application as it fits in with their Neighbourhood Development
Plan.
However, the Parish Council would very much appreciate being kept informed following the
proposed determination date of the 31st December 2020.

5.2 River Lugg Drainage Board
With reference to the above application dated 22nd July 2020. The Board must advise that the
proposed development lies within the Board's operational area and, since it is stated that SW run-
off will be via a SUDS, there is no objection providing that there is no discharge to any local
watercourse.
We don’t have any objection but | would like to inform you of the Board’s standard requirements
in respect of surface water disposal and ask that they be taken into consideration when the
application is assessed.
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

PF2

68



53

Requirements

1

Rates for storm water runoff discharged from the site to replicate or achieve a reduction
from the ‘greenfield response of the site over a range of storm probabilities,
accompanied by the required On-site Storage designed for the 1 in 100 year storm
event.

For the range of annual flow rate probabilities, up to and including the 1% annual
probability (1 in 100 year storm event) the developed rate of run-off discharged from the
site into an ordinary watercourse shall be no greater than the undeveloped rate of run-
off for the same event.

The potential effect of future climate change shall be taken into account by increasing
the rainfall depth by 10% for computing storage volumes.

Allin compliance with The Institute of Hydrology Report 124 (loH 124) - Flood estimation
for small catchments (1994)

All to the satisfaction of the Engineer to the Board

DO,

No additional surface water run-off to adjacent watercourse or any outfall structure is
permitted without written Land Drainage Consent, which would have to be obtained
from the Board under the terms of the Land Drainage Act 1991 and the Flood and Water
Management Act 2010.

| would also draw your attention to:

The area of River Lugg Internal Drainage Board is a Natural Flood Plain and whilst every
effort will continue to be made to guard against and to alleviate flooding, no guarantee can
be given against the worst effects of abnormal weather and river conditions.

Compliance with the recommendations in the following Report: “Technical Guidance to the
National Planning Policy Framework 2012”.

That both current and future developers/owners should be made aware of the risks
associated within the area being considered.

10 representations have been received, of which 4 object, 3 support and 3 make general
comments. In summary the points raised are as below:

Objections

Site has a high water table — development would increase the risk of flooding

Historic drainage system and existing surface water flooding/increased water retention,
made worse by recent developments

Castle Mound development had to be rafted

Castle moat used to be dry, but now is a bog due to surface water, slurry and debris from
the village (surface water is directed to the castle moat)

Proposed attenuation pond would flow into the stream, but this passes through
neighbouring fields, which do not belong to the landowner/developer

Directly backs on to rear garden (6 Orchard Close)

Noise and dust disturbance during construction would be harmful to health and well being
Drainage details are inadequate

Foul drainage is proposed to the mains, but WW confirm insufficient capacity

Site is unsuitable for SuDS — hard surfacing will concentrate surface water to smaller
areas

FRA has errors regarding total impermeable areas and other factors

Site is proposed to be raised 600mm

Attenuation pond is to be 0.8m below ground level, yet is stated to be 1m deep

Query calculations for cubic size required for attenuation pond

Who would carry out the frequent management of the surface water management
system?

» Site regularly floods

» Application does not demonstrate it would not increase flooding elsewhere

VVVVYVY VYV

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

69



Sup

> Strategy assumes watercourse will be desilted, but it is land outside of the application
site and may not be in the applicant’s control
» Drainage report is based on indicative layout, but this could change as it is a reserved
matter
Open market housing mix is unclear
Ecology Report is incomplete — no GCN survey has been undertaken, grass snakes are
prevalent
Draft NDP has been withdrawn, so cannot be given ‘significant weight’ as stated in the
Design and Access Statement
Dilwyn NDP can only be afforded very little weight (para 48 of the NPPF)
Other much more suitable sites exist, which were considered in the early stages of the draft
NDP
NPPF is a significant material consideration, but does not have the statutory presumption
of the development plan (in this case the CS)
Para 11dii) ‘titled’ planning balance test applies
Site lies in open countryside, outside the settlement
Development is disproportionate to Dilwyn, which is a hamlet
Unsustainable development, due to lack of nearby services
An appropriate Archaeological Assessment is required (para 189 of the NPPF)
Significant harm to the scheduled ‘castle’ mound
English Heritage and the Archaeologist note harmful impacts
Indicative layout would be alien to Dilwyn’s historical form
No justification for harm to significance of the Scheduled Ancient Monument
Contrary to CS and NPPF
Landscape impact is based on speculation, as layout is a reserved matter
Apple trees unlikely to thrive on the site, due to soil conditions

port

Only site in the NDP that would bring forwarded affordable housing — should be prioritised
for local people

Would attract younger people that the village needs to support the facilities (pub, hall,
church and school) so they can thrive

Reg 14 and 16 NDPs were produced with significant community involvement

Few negative comments about the proposed allocation of the site in the NDP reg 14 and 16
stages

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) identified the site as having
medium suitability

Neither the Archaeologist nor Historic Buildings Officer objected to the site’s proposed
allocation in the NDP

All other sites considered in the SHLAA were considered to be unsuitable and NDP
preparation found no other sites with less constraints and which would be less harmful to
heritage assets

Site was not contentious at reg 14 stage of the NDP

When informal advice about roadside development on the site was sought it was suggested
that a larger portion of the site should be considered

AECOM planning consultants advised the site should be adopted

Range of housing proposed is a benefit

Form of development meets the design provisions in the draft NDP (DW4)

Proposal would safeguard the setting of the Scheduled Ancient Monument and would not
affect any associated archaeology — impact would be less than significant

Monument cannot be viewed from across the site; local knowledge is required to recognise
its presence. It is more readily visible from the east

Development of the site has potential to afford greater public access to the southern side of
the mound — opportunity to enhance or better reveal its significance

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

70



5.2

6.1

Site is outside of the Dilwyn Conservation Area — subsequent review did not change the
boundary

Dilwyn community has a track record for supporting initiatives to retain its heritage assets
Application meets the vision statement and objectives of the draft NDP

S106 contributions to education should be to St Mary's Church of England Primary School
and Dilwyn Playgroup/preschool to facilitate growth — as the only stated funded educational
facility in the Parish

School is over capacity (71 pupils — 38% live in Parish) — with two portable classrooms for
two year groups. Extra classroom is needed, but no funding is in place

Open space contribution is requested for the school — for adjacent playing field that serves
the school and also leisure/play facilities for the wider community out of school hours

General comments

Opportunities to design out crime/fear of crime

Should achieve Secured by Design award scheme and approved document Q requirements
Further consideration of archaeology, ecology, drainage and potential mineral deposits is
required

Tithe maps show the site as ‘Mere Meadow’, indicating former marshy ground — acting as
defence to the castle

Site gets waterlogged

Any new dwellings would be likely to need substantial foundations and drainage
Possibility of pre-historic archaeology, not yet identified

Water-filled half of the castle moat and fish pond exist still to the east of the mound — unsure
of its water supply, but development should not interfere with this

Would the development affect the pumping system (if it exists) at the Castle Mound estate?
If granted permission the development should be called something to retain its origin, e.g.
Meadow Close, Mere Meadow Close, Castle Meadow or Castle Mere

Unfeasible for more development along Common Road

NDP Committee worked hard to find a way to accommodate housing growth

Site is acceptable for development

Siting and design of dwellings needs to be carefully considered, to protect existing residents’
living conditions and to be in keeping with the village

Infrastructure from s106

WW — potential sewage system work
Consider needs for traffic calming methods
Primary and pre-school: extra classroom and playing field

The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following

link:-

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning services/planning application search/details?id=202265&search-term=202265

Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:-

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?g=customer&type=suggestedpage

Officer’s Appraisal

Policy context and Principle of Development

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows:

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.” Section 70(2)(a) of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 states that ‘In dealing with an application for planning permission the authority shall have
regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application.’

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

71


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=202265&search-term=202265
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

In this instance the adopted development plan is the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy
(CS) and the relevant saved policy of the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan (HUDP).

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a significant material consideration.

The site falls within the Dilwyn Neighbourhood Area. The draft Dilwyn Neighbourhood
Development Plan (ADNDP) has completed the Regulation 16 consultation stage (25 January to
8 March 2019) and was sent for Examination on 5 April 2019. Following questions from the
Examiner in respect of land allocated to the southwest of Orchard Close and Castle Mound for
development (the site subject to this planning application) Dilwyn Parish Council decided to
formally withdraw from the Examination process. This was stated to be to allow review of the
evidence and site allocations to ensure community aspirations and the issues raised by Historic
England were addressed. The Parish Council stated that they would work with the landowner to
obtain further knowledge about the archaeological remains on site, with advice from Herefordshire
Council and Historic England.

The dDNDP is a material planning consideration, but does not form part of the Development Plan.
The weight that can be afforded to it, as an ‘emerging’ plan, is to be determined by applying the
criteria set out in paragraph 48 of the NPPF. This states as follows:

Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to:

a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, the
greater the weight that may be given);

b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less significant
the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and

c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this Framework
(the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater
the weight that may be given)

Taking these criteria in turn:

a) the dDNDP has completed regulation 16 consultation and was sent for Examination, but
has since been withdrawn from this process

b) the Examiner raised questions with regards the suitability of the site subject to this
application, such that there are considered to remain significant unresolved objections to
policies pertinent to the determination of this application

c) the basic conditions statement submitted previously confirmed overall conformity, but it
must be noted that there is potential conflict between the site’s allocation for housing and
heritage asset policy requirements and also that an updated Habitat Regulations
Assessment would not be able to demonstrate that there would be no likely significant
effects on the River Lugg catchment area. As such, because the dDNDP area is within
the River Lugg Catchment Area at the present time it would fail the ‘basic conditions’ test.

In light of the above, at this time, the relevant policies in the dDNDP can be afforded limited
weight. This is because of the significant degree of conflict between the site’s allocation and the
objections from Historic England and the Council’'s Archaeology Advisor and Building
Conservation Officer with regards the impact on heritage assets.

The draft Minerals and Waste Local Plan (AMWLP) is an emerging plan, which has not yet been
subject to regulation 19 consultation. Applying the criteria stipulated in paragraph 48 of the NPPF
(as set out in paragraph 6.5 above), it is considered that the dMWLP can be afforded limited

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

72



6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

weight at this time. This is because it is in the early, pre-consultation stage, so unresolved
objections have not yet been identified.

In summary, as per the statutory requirement, the starting point is the Development Plan, which
in this case is the CS and relevant saved policy of the HUDP (as set out at paragraph 4.10 earlier).
The dDNDP and dMWLP are material considerations that can be afforded limited weight. The
NPPF can be afforded significant weight, as it provides up to date Government policy.

Appraisal

The starting point for assessing this application for residential development is the CS. The CS
underpins the importance of maintaining a supply of housing land with Policy SS1 echoing the
positive presumption, SS2 setting out the spatial strategy insofar as housing delivery is concerned
and SS3 setting out the measures that might be promoted where housing completions are below
the required level.

With regards housing delivery in the rural areas outside of Hereford and the market towns, the
CS promotes sustainable growth. Policy RAL of the CS identifies that Herefordshire Rural areas
will need to find a minimum of 5,300 new dwellings between 2011 and 2031 to contribute towards
the county’s housing needs. These new dwellings will be broadly distributed across the seven
Housing Market Areas (HMA’s) and are to maintain and strengthen locally sustainable
communities. Dilwyn lies within the Leominster HMA and is listed as being one of the ‘settlements
which will be the main focus of proportionate housing development’ (figure 4.14). This seeks a
minimum growth target of 14% over the plan period across the HMA, which for Dilwyn equates to
a minimum of 46 dwellings between 2011 and 2031. With 8 completions and 10 commitments,
as of April 2020, this means there is a minimum of 28 dwellings remaining to be provided within
the plan period.

CS policy RA2 sets out the criteria for considering applications for housing growth in figure 4.14
and 4.15 settlements and states:-

“The minimum growth target in each rural Housing Market Area will be used to inform the level of
housing development to be delivered in the various settlements set out in Figures 4.14 and 4.15.
Neighbourhood Development Plans will allocate land for new housing or otherwise demonstrate
delivery to provide levels of housing to meet the various targets.

Housing proposals will be permitted where the following criteria are met:

1. Their design and layout should reflect the size, role and function of each settlement and
be located within or adjacent to the main built up area. In relation to smaller settlements
identified in fig 4.15 proposals will be expected to demonstrate particular attention to the
form, layout, character and setting of the site and its location in that settlement; and/or
they result in development that contributes to or is essential to the social well-being of the
settlement concerned,;

2. Their locations make best and full use of suitable brownfield sites wherever possible;
3. They result in the development of high quality, sustainable schemes which are appropriate
to their context and make a positive contribution to the surrounding environment and its

landscape setting; and

4. They result in the delivery of schemes that generate the size, type, tenure and range of
housing that is required in particular settlement, reflecting local demand.

Specific proposals for the delivery of local need housing will be particularly supported where they
meet an identified need and their long-term retention as local needs housing is secured as such.”

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

73



6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

Both the policy and pre-amble specify the need for the site to be located within or adjacent to the
main built up area. Where appropriate, settlement boundaries (or a reasonable alternative) for
those settlements listed in CS policy RA2 figures 4.14 and 4.15 will be defined in either NDPs or
the Rural Areas Sites Allocation DPD.

The application site lies adjacent to Orchard Close and Castle Mount, both twentieth century
residential developments. Presently these developments demark the southeastern fringe of the
village. Accordingly, in contextual terms, the site is adjacent to the main built up area and
therefore meets the qualifying requirement of the Development Plan — CS policy, RA2.

The dDNDP identifies a settlement boundary for Dilwyn village and the application site lies within
it. The site is allocated for housing under dDNDP policy DW3 a) (figure 1 below - the site is
demarked by the red star on the extract of the dDNDP reg 16 settlement boundary plan). Table
1 of the dDNDP identifies the site for the delivery of 30 dwellings, in calculating the required
housing target. In addition, dDNDP policy DW4 provides detailed policy principles for
development of the site. On this basis the dDNDP reflects the CS locational requirement for new
housing growth.

Dilwyn

Policies Map
Scale 1:6,000 ’
S22 15 &) Hereforashie

B0

Table 1 — dDNDP Dilwyn policies Map

With regards the remaining detailed requirements of CS policy RA2, which should be read in
conjunction with other more detailed CS policies, it must be recognised that this is an outline
application, with appearance and layout being reserved for future consideration. The submitted
layout is indicative only. The site does not make use of a brownfield site (CS policy RAZ2 ii),
however given that the allocated sites in the dDNDP do not either, suggests that none are
available or suitable for residential redevelopment. In terms of housing mix, as per criterion 4 of
CS policy RA2, the application forms only specify the affordable housing mix, which is stated to
be 5 x 2 bed and 5 x 3 bed units of a social, affordable or intermediate rent tenure. No details
have been provided with regards the 20 proposed open market properties. The GL Hearn Report
(which formed part of the evidence based to the CS) sets out a requirement for 5.8% 1 bed units,
25.8% 2 bed units, 59.2% 3 bed units and 9.2% 4+ bed units in the rural Leominster housing
market area. Policy DW4 of the dDNDP sets out a preference for 2 and 3 bed units, with limited
numbers of 4 bed units, which as a broad principle aligns with the GL Hearn requirements. The
housing mix could be controlled by condition should outline permission be granted.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

74



6.17

6.18

6.19

6.20

6.21

The proposal is for 30 dwellings, so crosses the threshold set out in CS policy H1 requiring
affordable housing to be provided on site. The scheme proposes 10 affordable housing units,
which would equate to 35% affordable housing provision. This accords with CS policy H1 in
respect of site in the Northern Hinterland.

Heritage Assets

In assessing the principle of development, the impact on heritage assets needs to be considered.
As identified the site is adjacent to a Scheduled Monument, abuts the southern edge of the Dilwyn
Conservation Area and there are numerous listed buildings in the locality. The location of the
Scheduled Monument and extent of the Conservation Area are shown on the dDNDP Dilwyn
Policies Map above (table 1 — paragraph 6.12). An extract from the Revised Heritage Impact
Assessment is provided below, which shows the siting of the proposed development, including
the three development zones (indicative only) in relation to the Scheduled Monument.

}

Fig 6: Location of proposed development

Extract of Figure 6 from the Revised Heritage Impact Assessment

Scheduling is the process of giving legal protection to archaeological sites (and monuments) via
a list (schedule) where they are of national importance. The Ancient Monuments and
Archaeological Areas Act 1979 is the relevant current legislation. The legal context, setting out
the statutory duty for listed buildings and Conservation Areas, is provided under sections 66 and
72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. These require the
decision maker to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the listed building or its
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses (section 66)
and that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character
or appearance of the Conservation Area (section 72).

Turning to the adopted planning policy context, this is provided in the CS (policies SS6 and LD4)
and the NPPF — Chapter 16. Firstly, SS6 states that proposals should conserve and enhance
those environmental assets that contribute towards the county’s distinctiveness and amongst
those it includes heritage assets, and especially those assets that have specific environmental
designation. It confirms that development should be shaped through an integrated approach to
plan for the listed environmental components, which includes the ‘historic environment and
heritage assets, especially Scheduled Monuments and Listed Buildings’ from the outset and
importantly that it is based on sufficient information for determining the effect on these assets.

SS6 is underpinned by a more detailed set of policies, including those dealing with local
distinctiveness (LD1) and heritage assets (LD4). The pre-text (5.3.3) to policy LD1 notes that
“Locally distinctive assets ... are finite and irreplaceable and any detrimental impacts can carry
cultural, environmental, economic and social costs”. LD4 states that development proposals
affecting heritage assets and the wider historic environment should ‘protect, conserve, and where
possible enhance heritage assets and their settings in a manner appropriate to their significance

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

75



6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

through appropriate management, uses and sympathetic design, in particular emphasising the
original form and function where possible.’

The NPPF provides the following definition of ‘setting of a heritage assets”.

The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change
as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative
contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that significance
or may be neutral.

The NPPG elaborates further on the topic of ‘setting’ and explains that although the extent and
importance of setting is often expressed with reference to the visual relationship between the
asset(s) and the proposed development the way in which the asset(s) is experienced in its setting
is also influenced by other environmental factors, which amongst other things includes an
understanding of the historic relationship between places. The relationship may have a historic
connection that amplifies the experience of the significance of the asset’s setting. This does not
depend on there being public rights of way or an ability to otherwise access or experience that
setting (NPPG - 013 Reference ID: 18a-013-20190723).

Historic England, the Council’'s Archaeological Advisor and Principal Building Conservation
Officer have all identified that the proposed development would result in harm to the significance
of the scheduled monument and the setting of the Conservation Area, which comprises the
historic character of Dilwyn. This means that the development would conflict with the
requirements of the CS policies, which require either no harm or enhancement. For instances
where harm is identified the tests to be applied in assessing the proposal are set out in the NPPF.

Chapter 16 of the NPPF sets out in detail the Government’s planning policy stance on conserving
and enhancing the historic environment. Paragraph 189 of the NPPF requires that in determining
applications, local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of
any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail
should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to understand
the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic
environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using
appropriate expertise where necessary. A Heritage Impact Statement was submitted with the
application and an updated Statement and response to Historic England and the Archaeological
Advisor's comments have been provided during the assessment of the application.

At paragraph 184 the NPPF states that heritage assets ‘should be conserved in a manner
appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of
life of this and future generations.” When considering applications NPPF paragraph 192 identifies
the following matters that should be take account of:

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable
communities including their economic vitality; and

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness.

6.27 In summary the subsequent NPPF paragraphs advise as follows:
e Para 193 - great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (the more important
the asset, the greater the weight should be).
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536
PF2

76



6.28

6.29

6.30

» thisisirrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total
loss or less than substantial harm to its significance

e Para 194 - Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from
its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear
and convincing justification.

o Para 195 sets out the approach when substantial harm/total loss to the significance of a
heritage asset is identified.

o Para 196 sets out the approach when less than substantial harm to the significance of a
heritage asset is identified,
» The harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including,
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.

e Para 200 states that Local Planning Authorities should look for opportunities for new
development within Conservation Areas and within the setting of heritage assets, to
enhance or better reveal their significance.

» Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive
contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated
favourably.

The site abuts a medieval castle (Dilwyn Castle), which is a Scheduled Monument known as
‘Moated mound S of Church’. Historic England provide a full assessment of the significance of
this designated heritage asset in their comments (paragraph 4.2, 4.2.1 & 4.2.2 of this report).
These highlight the castle’s position on the southern edge of the settlement and explain that this
is illustrative of its role in commanding the surrounding countryside and approaches from the
south and east. A large enclosure identified from LIDAR data has been recorded to the south of
the castle and includes the application site. Historic England’s initial representation was that this
may represent a larger outer enclosure or bailey to the castle and that the site makes a positive
contribution to both the significance of the scheduled monument and the historic character of the
village, because it preserves part of the large enclosure to the south of the castle and,
undeveloped, it would maintain the historic setting of the castle on the settlement’s southern edge.
Historic England also challenged the completeness of the Heritage Impact Assessment, due to
the methods used and the geographical extent, such that it did not meet the requirements of
paragraph 189 of the NPPF. The submission of further information (an updated HIA with
additional photographs and additional diagrams) and a written response from the applicant
satisfied the level of detail required under paragraph 189, but Historic England and the Council’s
Archaeological Advisor and Building Conservation Officer remain of the view that the development
to the south of the scheduled monument would be harmful to its significance, derived from its
edge of settlement location which is illustrative of its commanding role.

Both Historic England and the Archaeological Advisor considered that development of the site
would diminish the ability to appreciate and understand the relationship between the enclosure
and castle. The Archaeological Advisor has confirmed that there do not appear to be significant
risks to below-ground archaeology on the site, but nonetheless harm would still result from the
proposed development of the site, in relation to the setting of the scheduled ‘castle’ mound. ltis
considered that the HIA significantly underestimates the impact on the schedule monument,
because of the importance of its setting to its significance. The proposed introduction of
development to the south of the castle would remove the ability to appreciate the castle’s historic,
edge of settlement position and thus its legibility and also cause harm to the overall historic
character of the village.

The applicant submits that the HIA demonstrates that the enclosure is not an outer bailey, but
rather a combination of topographic features and post-medieval and/or modern boundaries. From
this assessment the applicant concludes that the application site is not associated with the castle

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

77



6.31

6.32

6.33

6.34

mound. Historic England disputes this conclusion and considers that development that would
enclose the monument, removing its legibility and the positive contribution to the significance of
the designated heritage assets, would result in a high level of harm in the less than substantial
grade. Put another way, just because the site was not part of an outer bailey it does not mean it
is of no importance to the significance of this heritage asset of national significance. The
submission still does not provide a full understanding of the site’s history relevant to the castle
mount and is considered to underestimate the importance of this low lying ground and its
association with the castle and its relative juxtaposition between village and countryside.
Nonetheless, the HIA summarises that development may impact on the significance of the
Scheduled Monument and Conservation Area, and then quantifies that harm as less than
substantial. The application illustratively shows proposed traditional orchard planting to the
northeast corner of the site, which the HIA states would screen the mound from the development,
whilst the alignment of the proposed new access road would provide a view northeast towards
the castle mound.

The adverse impact of Orchard Close and Castle Mound on the setting of the mound are
acknowledged, however it is considered that this places greater importance on the need to protect
its open aspect to the south, where the proposed development would be sited. The inclusion in
the illustrative site ‘masterplan’ of the access road into the site and traditional orchard planting to
the northeast corner of the site are noted, although there seems some conflict in their suggested
ability to both screen the mound from development and provide views to it. Nonetheless, the
Principal Building Conservation Officer opinion is that the open landscape which surrounds a
castle is as integral to its defence as the castle structure itself and that by surrounding it with
housing and setting aside a small undeveloped corner of the site and planting it with trees would
not preserve or protect its setting.

Turning to the impact on the setting of the Conservation Area and the historic character of Dilwyn,
it should first be noted that the statutory duty under section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 does not apply to the setting of the Conservation Area.
Nevertheless, there are still key local and national policy requirements that require an assessment
of the impact of proposals on the setting of Conservation Areas. Specifically, CS policy LD4 states
that developments should protect, conserve and where possible enhance heritage assets and
their settings and at para 190 the NPPF states that Local Planning Authority’s should ‘identify and
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal
(including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available
evidence and any necessary expertise.’

The dDNDP includes a specific policy (DW4) that sets out the principles for the development of
the site subject to this application. Amongst other requirements, in terms of heritage assets it
stipulates that a Heritage Impact Assessment should inform the location and design of
development on the site ‘and protect the open aspect of that part of Dilwyn Castle Moated Mound
which contributes to its setting’. DW7 — Protecting Heritage Assets states that developments will
be expected to conserve or enhance heritage assets and their settings, in accordance with their
significance and retain the overall character of the wider village. With regards the setting of the
Conservation Area, DW8 requires development to respect and continue Dilwyn’s historical
evolution, demonstrate it has responded adequately to its context and setting, and views into and
from the village that comprise the Conservation Area should be preserved.

Both local (adopted and emerging) and national policies therefore include an assessment of the
setting of the Conservation Area. CS policy LD4 and dDNDP policies seek to protect, conserve
and enhance, commensurately with the significance of the asset and the NPPF provides a clear
view that Local Planning Authorities should look for opportunities for new developments within
the setting of heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance. Where harm is
identified, the NPPF sets out the nature of the judgement to be taken.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

78



6.35

6.36

6.37

6.38

6.39

With regards the significance of the site to the setting of the Conservation Area, the Principal
Building Conservation Officer describes the site as open farmland on the southern edge of the
village that abuts the Conservation Area and is in close proximity to the moated site of Dilwyn
Castle. It is asserted that the character of the village is defined by the concentration of historic
buildings at its core, the landmark features at its gateways; at the northern end the church and at
the southern end the scheduled monument, and the landscape around it. The open farmland is
considered to greatly contribute to the setting of the tightly knit settlement. In particular when
approaching the village from the south there are wide views over the village to open farmland to
the east. Included in these views are the motte, albeit now largely covered with trees, with a
further more obligue view from Ledgemoor Road. It is considered that the quantum of
development proposed, 30 dwellings, together with the associated infrastructure, would erode the
tightly enclosed settlement pattern, resulting in harm to the setting of the Conservation Area. The
harm is graded as being at the upper end of less than substantial.

Taking into account the specialist, professional advice from Historic England and the Council’s
Archaeological Advisor and Principal Building Conservation Officer it is considered that the
scheme would not comply with CS policies SS6 and LD4 due to the harm that would result.
Turning to NPPF paragraph 196, this less than substantial harm, advised to be at a high degree
within this scale, should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. This is not a
weighted ‘planning balance’, as set at paragraph 11dii) of the NPPF, but rather an assessment of
harm to heritage assets, with great weight given to the assets’ conservation and the requirement
for clear and convincing justification for any harm (NPPF paragraphs 193 & 194) against public
benefits. This will be undertaken in the conclusion section of this report. In terms of heritage
impacts, a high level of harm within the less than substantial spectrum is identified and this
conflicts with the CS, policies SS6 and LD4.

Minerals

The site is identified for the safeguarding of minerals due to the presence of sand and gravel
deposits across the site. These deposits are noted in the Geophysical Survey Report that was
submitted to clarify the site’s archaeological potential. The Report notes that the underlying
geology comprises siltstone and mudstone of the Raglan Mudstone Formation, with superficial
deposits of head clay, silt, sand and gravel. The British Geological Survey mapping also confirms
a superficial deposit of sand and gravel beneath the site.

Saved HUDP policy M5 and emerging dMWLP policy M2 are consistent with the NPPF in relation
to protecting finite resources for future generations and from being sterilised by non-mineral
development. At paragraph 203 of the NPPF it states that ‘It is essential that there is a sufficient
supply of minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country
needs. Since minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they are found,
best use needs to be made of them to secure their long-term conservation.” This does not mean
there is a local or national policy presumption to either justify refusal of all non-mineral applications
on safeguarded sites or to grant permission for extraction of the minerals, but rather that any
proposal should adequately and effectively consider the importance and nature of the reserve in
land-use planning decisions and for residential schemes to submit an assessment of the effects
of the proposal on the mineral resource beneath and adjacent to the site. A Mineral Resource
Assessment has not been submitted with this application.

Policy M5 (HUDP) states that proposals which could sterilise potential future mineral workings
will be resisted in order to safeguard identified mineral resources. In cases where such
development is proposed a geological assessment, protection of the minerals and/or extraction
of all or part of the mineral reserve may be required as part of the development. Mineral extraction
will only be required where the need for the development significantly outweighs the harm that
the extraction may cause to other matters of acknowledged importance.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

79



6.40

6.41

6.42

6.43

6.44

Policy M2 of the dMWLP can only be afforded limited weight at this time, due to its stage of
preparation and consultation. It provides specified circumstances where non-minerals
development would be permitted. These include where it is demonstrated that the resource is
not of economic value; it occurs at a depth and can be extracted in an alternative way; it does not
exist or has been sufficiently depleted by previous extraction; the mineral can be extracted
satisfactorily prior to non-mineral development without affecting the timing and viability of the non-
mineral development; or the need for the non-mineral development is strategic and can be
demonstrated to outweigh the need for the mineral resource.

The Mineral and Waste advice (paragraph 4.10 above) is clear that without an assessment of the
resource to better understand both its quantity and quality and consideration of prior extraction it
cannot be concluded that the proposal would not conflict with policy M5 of the HUDP. This harm
must therefore be taken into account in the overall assessment of the application.

Access

The only matter for consideration, after the principle, is access. The definition of this is ‘the
accessibility to and within the site, for vehicles, cycles and pedestrians in terms of the positioning
and treatment of access and circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding access
network.” (Article 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015).

A single vehicular access is proposed to serve the development, taken off the C1091 and within
the current national speed limit. The submitted drawing is annotated to show that the 30mph limit
would be relocated beyond the proposed access. The access would have splays of 54 metres in
each direction. The Team Leader Area Engineer has confirmed that as this would comply with
the guidance set out in the Department for Transport’'s Manual for Streets 2 document, it is
acceptable and is also achievable. The repositioning of the speed limit would have to be brought
forward through a Traffic Regulation Order and as part of the offsite works. Furthermore, it is
concluded that vehicle movements generated by the development can be accommodated in the
local highway network. In terms of vehicular access the proposal would accord with CS policy
MT1 and the requirements of the NPPF.

Extract of Proposed Site Access & Visibility Splays drawing

Turning to pedestrian connectivity, CS policy SS4 states that where practicable, development
proposals should be accessible by and facilitate a genuine choice of modes of travel including
walking, cycling and public transport. In addition, CS policy MT1 requires proposals to encourage
active travel behaviour to reduce numbers of short distance car journeys. The NPPF, at
paragraph 108, requires schemes to include appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable
transport modes, given the type of development and its location, and achieve safe and suitable
access for all users. At paragraph 102 it states that opportunities to promote walking, cycling and
public transport use should be identified and pursued. The dDNDP policy DW4 includes within

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

80



6.45

6.46

6.47

the principles to be applied to development of the site that off-site measures should be provided
to reduce vehicular speeds entering the village from the south-west, with the aim to then meet the
criteria for a 20mph zone through the village and also that a footpath should be provided within
the site to enable pedestrians to reach its northern edge and be protected from the road by the
existing hedgerow.

A footway is annotated on the illustrative ‘masterplan’, but the extent of this is not shown.
Nevertheless, if the principle of development was acceptable a footway could reasonably be
accommodated in the site’s layout at reserved matters stage. As submitted the application does
not include any proposals for off-site improvements to facilitate pedestrian connectivity from the
site to the village and the facilities found there, such as the public house, bus stops, church and
village hall. From the north of Orchard Close to just beyond Westview, approximately 37 metres
in length, there is no footway and the extent of the highway is such that it is unlikely that there
would be scope to provide one. However, there is a wide verge from the north of the site alongside
6 Orchard Close (Conifers), such that a scheme could include a new section of footway here and
thus reduce the length of the journey to the centre of the village that would have to be on the
carriageway. The Team Leader Area Engineer advises that the pedestrian facilities should extend
along the C1091 as far as possible to minimise the shared surface with two way traffic. In the
absence of this there is some degree of conflict with policy requirements to facilitate alternative
modes of transport in the interests of accommodating and encouraging sustainable travel
patterns, recognising the existing constraints. This weighs negatively against the proposal.

Other matters
Water quality

The site lies within the catchment of the River Lugg, which comprises part of the River Wye
Special Area of Conservation (SAC); a habitat recognised under the Habitats Regulations, (The
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended)) as being of international
importance for its aquatic flora and fauna. CS policy LD3 states that ‘Development that would be
liable to harm Sites of Special Scientific Interest or nationally protected species will only be
permitted if the conservation status of their habitat or important physical features can be protected
by conditions or other material considerations are sufficient to outweigh nature conservation
considerations’. Furthermore, policies SD3 and SD4 state that development proposals should
not lead to deterioration of EU Water Framework Directive water body status, or adversely affect
water quality, either directly through unacceptable pollution of surface water or groundwater, or
indirectly through overloading of Wastewater Treatment Works and should fully mitigate their
adverse effects of wastewater discharges into rivers. More specifically SD4 confirms that:

. in the case of development which might lead to nutrient levels exceeding the limits for the
target conservation objectives within a SAC river, planning permission will only be granted
where it can be demonstrated that there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the
SAC in view of the site’s conservation objectives; and

. where the nutrient levels set for conservation objectives are already exceeded, new
development should not compromise the ability to reduce levels to those which are defined
as favourable for the site

The NPPF, at paragraph 175b) states that ‘development on land within or outside a Site of Special
Scientific Interest, and which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in
combination with other developments), should not normally be permitted. The only exception is
where the benefits of the development in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely
impact on the features of the site that make it of special scientific interest, and any broader impacts
on the national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest’. Paragraph 177 confirms that ‘The
presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where the plan or project is
likely to have a significant effect on a habitats site (either alone or in combination with other plans

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

81



6.48

6.49

6.50

or projects), unless an appropriate assessment has concluded that the plan or project will not
adversely affect the integrity of the habitats site.’

The Principal Natural Environment Officer (Ecology) identifies surface water and foul water as
‘likely significant adverse effects’. The application states that foul drainage would be to the mains,
with a connection point to the existing network in the C1091 near to the proposed vehicular access
and surface water would be to an attenuation pond within the site and outfall to a watercourse to
the east of the site. Welsh Water have advised that there is no capacity at the receiving Waste
Water Treatment works (WWTW) and as a consequence the proposed development would
overload it. They also confirm that no reinforcement works are proposed within their Capital
Investment Programme and the location of the proposed foul connection (drawing 1679.00) does
not tally with their asset records. On this basis Welsh Water do not support the application. This
is in line with their representations made during the dDNDP consultations. As a result Welsh
Water recommend pre-commencement conditions that would require a survey of the current flow
and load at the WWTW, an assessment of the impact of the proposed development on this and,
if necessary, a scheme of mitigation to allow for the scheme to connect its foul discharges. Any
mitigation would be a development cost. In addition the applicant is advised to contact Welsh
Water to ascertain where a suitable point of connection is.

As a site located within the catchment of the River Lugg SAC, which comprises part of the River
Wye SAC the requirement for an assessment under the Habitat Regulations is triggered. That
assessment must satisfy beyond all reasonable scientific doubt that there would not be an
adverse effect on the integrity of the River Wye SAC (Lugg sub catchment) which is currently
failing in terms of phosphate levels. As set out in the preceding paragraph there is a degree of
uncertainty, due to the lack of capacity at the WWTW. Notwithstanding this, even if capacity was
available an increase in foul flows to the WWTW would create additional outfall in to the River
Lugg SAC hydrological catchment resulting in additional phosphate loading and thereby
worsening the current situation. The applicant has suggested that the current application
(203468/F) for a wetland complex to provide tertiary treatment of the outflow from Dilwyn WWTW,
which is on land in the applicant’s ownership, provides scientific certainty that the proposed
housing on the application site would have no adverse effect on the integrity of the River Lugg
(Wye) SAC. Given that the application for the wetland is undetermined (further information is
required, including that to inform the HRA AA), it provides no such scientific certainty at this time.
The applicant’s suggestion of a condition requiring commissioning and construction of the wetland
prior to the first occupation of the dwellings would not be reasonable at this time, because it has
not yet been demonstrated that the wetland would mitigate the phosphorous issue or that
permission will be granted.

With regards surface water, it is considered that the sustainable drainage strategy proposed
would be able to achieve the required mitigation and management of any potential pollutants,
contaminants, and nutrient/phosphate pathways. Conditional on this technical approval, which
could be secured by planning condition to be submitted with the reserved matters, there is
considered to be sufficient scientific certainty that surface water would not result in an adverse
effect on the integrity of the SAC, subject to Natural England’s final approval. It is therefore
concluded that by virtue of the requirement for foul drainage from the proposed development there
would be an adverse effect on the integrity of the SAC (a designated ‘European’ nature
conservation site) and this would conflict with CS policies SD3, SD4 and LD2 and would fail to
accord with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) (as amended).
Furthermore, it not been demonstrated that the proposal would meet the requirements of
paragraph 175 of the NPPF, which states that development outside a SSSI (and as per paragraph
176 SACs, which are afforded the same protection) that is likely to have an adverse effect on it
should not normally be permitted. The implications of this for decision taking is assessed in the
conclusion section of this report.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

82



6.51

6.52

6.53

6.54

6.55

6.56

Ecology — protected species/biodiversity enhancement

CS policies SS6 and LD2 state that development proposals should conserve, restore and
enhance those environmental assets that contribute towards the county’s distinctiveness,
including biodiversity. With regards protected species, LD2 states that development that is liable
to harm nationally protected species will only be permitted if the conservation status of their
habitat or important physical features can be protected by conditions, or other material
considerations are sufficient to outweigh nature conservation considerations. Similarly the NPPF
states that decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by,
amongst other things minimising impacts and achieving net biodiversity gain. It further states that
when determining planning applications, local planning authorities should apply certain, specified
principles, which include that if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development
cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts) adequately
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused.

A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted with the application. Although it is noted
that the report does not contain additional specific species surveys, identified as being required
(including Great Crested Newts), due to the nature of the site and proposal the Appraisal is
considered to be sufficient at this stage and it can be concluded that any mitigation required as a
result of more detailed protected species surveys can be secured through a pre-commencement
condition and stipulation that the reserved matters addresses these requirements.

With regards biodiversity and habitat enhancement (net gain) this could be achieved by way of a
condition if outline planning permission were granted, together with appropriate landscaping
included in any reserved matters scheme. It should be noted that the Tree Officer has challenged
the appropriateness of orchard planting and suggests a broader mix of native species in the
interests of achieving a more positive contribute to ecological enhancements. Similarly the
Principal Natural Environment Officer (Landscape) recommends the inclusion of hedgerow trees
(oaks) and the requirement for the reserved matters to provide strategic planting, hedgerows,
wildflowers and aquatics (attenuation pond). These are matters for future consideration, as part
of the layout and landscaping. The indication on the site masterplan of a new native species
hedgerow, to reinstate the 1843 field boundary is a positive aspect in habitat terms, as well as
landscape. It is not however solely dependent on the development proposed being brought
forward.

Flood risk and drainage

The site is located in Flood Zone (FZ) 1; the lowest risk of flooding. CS policy SD3 and the NPPF
sequentially steer new development to sites in FZ1. As the site exceeds 1 hectare there is a
requirement for a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and one has been submitted.

At present, as an agricultural field, the land drains naturally. Local objections raise concerns
about the site having a high water table, existing surface water flooding issues and the
unsuitability of the surface water strategy due to land ownership and errors in the calculations
used in the FRA. The River Lugg Drainage Board advise that they have no objection providing
that there would be no discharge to a watercourse. In their listed requirements it states that no
additional surface water run-off is permitted to an adjacent watercourse without Land Drainage
Consent, which would need to be obtained from the Board under the terms of the Land Drainage
Act (1991) and the Floors and Water Management Act (2010). The outfall from the proposed
attenuation pond is to a watercourse to the east of the site, meaning that if permission were
granted the developer would need to secure the Board’s consent for an outfall to the watercourse,
and as suggested in the objections also the consent of the landowner on the basis that the
watercourse lies outside of the applicant’s ownership.

The Land Drainage comments (at paragraph 4.15) consider the risk of groundwater flooding to
be low, on the basis of borehole records, but nonetheless highlight that this must be given

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

83



6.57

6.58

comprehensive consideration in the detailed design of the drainage scheme. The risk of surface
water flooding is also considered to be low, due to the topography, and there are no records of
historical flood events in the vicinity. Despite the generally poor quality of the infiltration tests
undertaken by the applicant (not in accordance with BRE365) it is considered that infiltration is
likely to be low and it is recommended that consideration is given to combined infiltration and
attenuation systems when the detailed drainage design is progressed. Surface water run-off from
impermeable areas would be limited to greenfield rates. Some errors in the calculations are
noted, however, as this is essentially a high level drainage strategy, at this outline stage these
are not determinatively consequential. Greater detail can be submitted with the reserved matters
application and the Land Drainage comments advise that given the size of the site and availability
of land there can be confidence that an acceptable technical drainage solution can be achieved.

The absence of a confirmed foul drainage strategy is noted in the Land Drainage comments. As
set out above (Paragraph 6.48) Welsh Water have confirmed that pre-commencement conditions
would be required to establish the impact of the development on the current flow and load at the
WWTW and how this could be mitigated, a the developer’s expense, to accommodate the housing
growth proposed on the application site. An alternative foul drainage strategy has not been
proposed. Sequentially, it is a policy requirement that a mains connection is made where the
infrastructure exists and in any event due to the water quality issues an alternative means of foul
drainage would need to demonstrate compliance with the following criteria, as set out in the
Council’s Position Statement:

. The drainage field is more than 50m from the designated site boundary or sensitive
interest feature (includes Habitats of Principal Importance and other designated ecological
important features identified through Core Strategy SD4/LD2/SS6 and;

. The drainage field is more than 50m from any surface water feature e.g. ditch, drain,
watercourse, and;

. The drainage field in an area with a slope no greater than 15%, and,;

. The drainage field is in an area where the high water table groundwater depth is at least
2m below the surface at all times and;

. There are no other hydrological pathways which would expediate the transport of
phosphorous e.qg. fissured geology, flooding, shallow soil.

Overall, the site is located in the sequentially preferred FZ1 and it is considered that it can
reasonably accommodate a suitable, detailed surface water drainage strategy, which it is
proportionate to require by condition and also by ensuring that the layout and landscaping
reserved matters are planned to accommodate it. Foul water drainage would be controlled by a
pre-commencement condition, which ultimately would secure any required upgrade to facilitate
increased flows. The critical consideration in drainage terms, at this juncture, is the impact of
development on water quality (as assessed in paragraphs 6.46-6.50).

Section 106 contributions

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

84



6.59

6.60

6.61

6.62

6.63

CS Poalicy ID1- Infrastructure Delivery, states that provision for new and/or the enhancement of
existing infrastructure, services and facilities to support development and sustainable
communities, will be achieved through a co-ordinated approach. Where compliant with
Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, as set out in
paragraph 56 of the NPPF, contributions can be sought to mitigate the impacts of development
on infrastructure through a planning obligation (section 106 agreement). To meet the tests
obligations must satisfy all of the following:

a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b) directly related to the development; and
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

To mitigate impacts on infrastructure contributions are considered to meet these tests in respect
of highways, education, open space and by the Clinical Commissioning Group (GP services) and
the Wye Valley Trust (primary health care). Contributions to the Wye Valley Trust are necessary
to bridge an initial funding gap resulting from the unplanned for increased population resulting
from the development. Some of the local representations advance the needs for contributions to
the local primary school and preschool, playing fields, traffic calming and to upgrade the Waste
Water Treatment Works.

The Planning Obligations Manager has confirmed (paragraph 4.19) the required contributions and
the infrastructure projects that would benefit. The Education consultation response confirms that
the primary school funding would be allocated to Weobley Primary School. The representation
on behalf of the Board of Governors of St Mary’s Church of England Primary School and Dilwyn
Playgroup/pre-school request that the financial contributions are provided to them as they are
only state funded educational facility in the parish. Clearly St Mary’s is the nearest primary school
to the application site. However, it is a ‘free school’ with central government funding rather than
through the Local Education Authority. In addition it does not have a catchment. The
representation on behalf of the Board of Governors confirms that only 38% of pupils on roll live
within the Parish. The Supplementary Planning Documents - Planning Obligations (SPD), at
3.5.8, states that ‘Developments have been divided into bands based on the size of the
development. A contribution will be requested if the number of spare places meets the trigger
point for that band in at least one year group at each of the catchment schools. The bands are:

. For a development of 30 or fewer dwellings, contributions will be sought for schools that
have no spare places in at least 1-year group

On the basis of the SPD the education contributions can only be sought for the catchment schoaols,
which as confirmed by Education are Weobley Primary (including Early Years) and Weobley High
Schools.

The contributions, and affordable housing, are considered to meet the tests and could be secured
by way of a section 106 agreement. Whilst there is a means of securing the requisite affordable
housing and financial contributions required to mitigate the impacts of the development a signed
section 106 has not been received to secure this. This has not been sought, because of the
principle objections to this application. As such compliance with policy requirements has not yet
been secured.

Conclusion/planning balance

In accordance with the statutory requirement determination must be made in accordance with the
Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF affirms at
paragraph 12 that the presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the
statutory status of the Development Plan as the starting point for decision making.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

85



6.64

6.65

6.66

6.67

6.68

For the purposes of this application the Development Plan comprises the CS and saved policies
of the HUDP. Locationally the site lies adjacent to the main built up part of the settlement and
thus in terms of the qualifying criterion of CS policy RA2 it accords with policy requirements.
However, as set out in detail in the preceding assessment there is significant conflict with CS
policies in respect of the impact on heritage assets, water quality, safeguarding mineral reserves
and to some degree with regards connectivity and promoting alternative modes of transport.
Added to that a legal agreement to secure the affordable housing and financial contributions has
not been secured. Taking all these considerations together it is opined that the proposal fails to
accord with the Development Plan (CS and saved HUDP policies) when taken as a whole. As a
result, on the basis of the Development Plan alone, permission should be refused.

Next, in accordance with the statutory requirement, it is necessary to turn to the material
considerations, to ascertain if these indicate that a decision should be made other than in
accordance with the Development Plan (as set out in Section 38 (6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 — see paragraph 6.1).

The first key material consideration is the NPPF. Paragraph 11c) states that when applying the
presumption in favour of sustainable development, for decision-taking, this means ‘approving
development proposals that accord with an up to date development plan without delay’. Given
the conclusion above that the proposal does not accord with the Development Plan, this direction
does not apply in this case. Next it is necessary to consider paragraph 11 d) and to ascertain if
limb i) or ii) is the correct decision taking route.

With regards paragraph d) it must be taken in account that the Council cannot demonstrate a 5
year housing land supply (current published position is a 4.22 year supply) and as a result the
policies within the Development Plan that are most important for determination of the application
should be considered out of date (as confirmed in NPPF footnote 7). Paragraph 11d) states that:

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date7, granting permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed 6; or

ii any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.’

(Footnotes:

6: The policies referred to are those in this Framework (rather than those in development plans) relating to:
habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176) and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest;
land designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a National Park
(or within the Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage
assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63); and areas at risk of
flooding or coastal change

7: This includes, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations where the local planning authority
cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as set out in
paragraph 73); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially
below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the previous three years. Transitional arrangements
for the Housing Delivery Test are set out in Annex 1.)

Starting with paragraph 11 d) i: that permission should be granted unless the policies in the NPPF
that protect areas or assets of particular importance provide a clear reason for refusal, it is noted
that habitats sites (including those sites listed in paragraph 176) and designated heritage assets
are included. There are therefore three qualifying protected areas/assets, namely the SAC, the
Scheduled Monument and the Conservation Area. As such paragraph d)i is applicable and next
it is necessary to apply those policies in the NPPF that protect these areas/assets to establish if
they do indeed provide a clear reason for refusal. In doing so, only the policies that protect the

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

86



6.69

6.70

6.71

areas/assets listed in footnote 6 can be taken into account and not any other NPPF policies or
Development Plan policies.

Firstly, with regards the impact on the SAC, for the reasons above (paragraphs 6.46 - 6.50) it
cannot be concluded that the proposal would not have an adverse effect. This provides a clear
reason for refusal, under paragraph 175 of the NPPF, and as stipulated in paragraph 177 the
presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply because the proposed
development is likely to have a significant effect on this habitats site. As a consequence, as
directed by paragraph 11d) i, permission should not be granted on this ground alone. With
regards the protection of such areas, case law (Monkhill [2019]) has established that because the
application of a legal code for the protection of a particular area or asset determines the outcome
of a planning application there is no justification for the application of limb 11d) ii. In practice this
means that the decision taking assessment stops at this point, with a clear reason to refuse
permission and no requirement to weigh other matters in the balance, weighted or otherwise.

Notwithstanding the firm conclusion above, given that there are other protected areas in this case
it is considered appropriate to assess and reach conclusions on whether they also provide clear
reasons to refuse, under paragraph 11d) i.

Secondly, in respect of the Scheduled Monument, the relevant NPPF policy test is provided in
paragraph 196, because the harm has been quantified as ‘less than substantial’. The test in
paragraph 196 is that the harm to the asset should be weighed against the public benefit of the
proposal. As advised previously, this does not incorporate a biased weighting to either
consideration, nor does it require other harms to be factored in, at this stage. Although the
identified harm falls within the ‘less than substantial’ category the advice of the specialist
consultees, including Historic England —a statutory consultee, unanimously concludes that the
degree is at the upper end of this spectrum. In addition paragraph 194 of the NPPF requires clear
and convincing justification for any harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset. The
specialist advice explains that the application site, as open land, is important to the understanding
of the Scheduled Monument and therefore positively contributes to its significance. In terms of
the environmental objective (paragraph 8 c) of the NPPF) the scheme’s failure to protect or
enhance the built and historic environment weighs heavily against the proposal. The harm would
be permanent and at the upper end of the ‘less than substantial’ range. Moreover, it is necessary
to give great weight to the asset’s conservation, with the degree of weight being greater the more
important the asset is (paragraph 193 NPPF). In this case the asset is a Scheduled Monument,
which by definition is of national importance. As a result the degree of weight to be afforded to
its conservation is increased commensurately with its importance. Turning to the public benefits
to be derived from the scheme, these are the provision of housing (30 units), including affordable
housing, in a context of a shortfall of supply across the county, and the associated social and
economic benefits that would flow from this, such as payment of the New Homes Bonus and the
employment of trades and purchase of materials during construction and after occupation through
increased expenditure of disposable incomes, both in the village itself and the county. An
increased population also has the opportunity to contribute to the sustainability of community
facilities and events. Open space provision on site is another benefit, bearing in mind that dDNDP
policy DW16 acknowledges that there is little open space serving local needs. There is scope for
environmental benefits in terms of biodiversity enhancement, although these cannot be quantified
at this outline stage so are not taken into account. For a development of 30 dwellings these
benefits are moderate. Weighing the identified harm against the public benefit, bearing in mind
the increased weight required for the asset’s conservation, it is considered that the harm
outweighs the benefits. Thus the harm to the Scheduled Monument provides another clear
reason to refuse permission under paragraph 11d) i. Case law has established that a NPPF
policy can provide a clear reason, even when it does not direct refusal (Monkhill [2019]), and
whether it does in a particular case is a matter of planning judgement. Although harm to the
significance of the Scheduled Monument has been established to provide a clear reason to refuse
permission in this case, unlike the assessment above for harm to a European protected site, it is
still necessary for the decision-maker to have regard to all other relevant considerations before

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

87



6.72

6.73

6.74

determining the application (s. 70(2) of the 1990 Act and s. 38(6) of the 2004 Act). This is because
the relevant ‘footnote 6 policy’ (paragraph 196) does not require all relevant considerations to be
taken into account. This approach is confirmed in the Monkhill case (paragraph 39, point 13).
Whilst the application of policy 196 has been considered to provide a clear reason for refusing
planning permission in this case, in reaching a decision it is necessary to have regard to all other
relevant considerations. Critically, however, and as clarified by Mr Justice Holgate in the Monkhill
case, this exercise ‘must be carried out without applying the tilted balance in limb (ii), because
the presumption in favour of granting permission has already been disapplied by the outcome of
applying limb (i)’. In light of there being a third protected area/asset, the Dilwyn Conservation
Area, which is a designated heritage asset, the paragraph 11) d) i limb test should be reapplied.

Thirdly, with regards the impact on the setting of the Dilwyn Conservation Area, and historic
character of Dilwyn, this falls within the application of paragraph 11) d) i because footnote 6
confirms it includes policies that relate to designated heritage assets. Chapter 16 of the NPPF
provides the policy context that relates to conserving and enhancing the historic environment. A
Conservation Area is a designated heritage asset and although its setting is not part of the
designated asset it can contribute positively to its setting. This is the position held by the relevant
building conservation advice in this case. Paragraph 194 stipulates that any harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, which includes that resulting from development within
its setting, should require clear and convincing justification. In addition, paragraph 200 states that
‘Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within Conservation
Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance or better
reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a
positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated
favourably’. This confirms that new development within the setting of the Conservation Area
should look to enhance or better reveal its significance and schemes that do so should be treated
favourably. The Building Conservation advice is that the proposal would harm the setting of the
Conservation Area, so it is opined that this means it should be considered less favourably. The
test in paragraph 196 of the NPPF applies again. This requires the harm to be weighed against
the public benefit. The less than substantial harm has been quantified as a high degree within
the less than substantial scale. Given the interrelationship between the historic character of
Dilwyn, the Scheduled Monument and the Conservation Area, it is considered that the harm to
their significance outweighs the identified benefits. Cumulatively, after applying paragraph 196
the harm to the protected heritage assets provides a clear reason to refuse.

In completing the decision-taking tests, it is finally necessary to have regard to all other relevant
considerations before determining the application (as required by (s. 70(2) of the 1990 Act and s.
38(6) of the 2004 Act), but as explained above (paragraph 6.71) because of the conclusion under
the first limb of NPPF paragraph 11) d) i, which provides a clear reason to refuse, this is not the
titled balance set out in the second limb (ii). The purpose of carrying this out, is due to the clear
reason provided by the harm to heritage assets only taking into account the impact on heritage
assets. It is also essential to bear in mind that the clear reason for refusal resulting from harm to
the SAC by itself does not require the factoring in of all considerations (as set out in paragraph
6.69).

In assessing all of the other relevant considerations as set out earlier in this report the proposal
would result in potential sterilisation of mineral reserves and without further information this
weighs negatively in the balance. In addition, the scheme does not incorporate pedestrian
connectivity improvements, such that it would act as a deterrent for future occupiers accessing
local facilities and public transport, thus placing greater emphasis on car reliance even for short
journeys. This also weighs negatively against the application. Finally, the lack of a legal
agreement to secure the affordable housing and financial contributions to mitigate the impacts of
the proposal, also weighs negatively, although it is appreciated that if the scheme were policy
compliant in all other respects this could have been sought.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

88



6.75

6.76

6.77

The dDNDP is a material consideration, so relevant in assessing the proposal. However, as set
out at paragraphs 6.6 and 6.7 it can only be afforded limited weight at this time. In particular, the
dDNDP’s allocation of the site and the pertinent policies to it are considered to remain in conflict
with the CS and NPPF. This issue was identified at the dDNDP’s Examination, resulting in its
withdrawal from that process. This was stated to provide an opportunity to explore other sites
with Historic England to ascertain if they had less heritage impacts. This has not taken place.

Even setting aside (and there is no reason to do so) the first conclusion under paragraph 11 d) i,
with regards the harm to a European protected site providing a clear reason to refuse permission
with no requirement to consider any other matter, it is nevertheless considered that collectively
the harm to heritage assets, safeguarded mineral reserves and missed opportunity to improve
pedestrian connectivity clearly outweigh the benefits resulting from the scheme, which have been
set out in paragraph 6.71 above. Accordingly, by virtue of NPPF paragraph 11d) i and ii), with
the tilted bias disapplied, planning permission should be refused.

Starting with the Development Plan (CS and saved HUDP policies) the proposal conflicts with
their requirements and as such should be refused. After establishing and applying the NPPF’s
range of assessments, it is firmly demonstrated that this material consideration does not
indicate that an alternative decision should be made. At this time the weight to the dDNDP is
limited (as explained at paragraphs 6.6 and 6.7), such that it cannot outweigh the Development
Plan and the NPPF. Consequently, on the basis of the Development Plan and material
considerations, it is recommended that permission is refused.

RECOMMENDATION

That planning permission be refused for the following reasons:

1.

The site lies within the catchment of the River Lugg Special Area of Conservation
(SAC), which comprises part of the River Wye SAC, and triggers the requirement for
a Habitat Regulations Assessment. Under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended) there is a requirement to establish beyond all
reasonable scientific doubt that there will not be an adverse effect on the integrity of
the River Wye SAC (Lugg sub catchment) which is currently failing its water quality
targets. The proposal therefore fails to meet the requirements of policies LD2, SD3
and SD4 of the Herefordshire Local Plan - Core Strategy and the National Planning
Policy Framework (paragraph 170e)), together with the provisions set out in The
Conservation and Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). This
provides a clear reason to refuse planning permission under paragraph 11 d) i of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Development of the site would result in less than substantial harm (quantified as
being at a high degree within this category) to the significance of designated heritage
assets; namely a Scheduled Monument (Castle Mound) and the setting of the Dilwyn
Conservation Area. This is contrary to policies SS6 and LD4 of the Herefordshire
Local Plan - Core Strategy. Furthermore, the harm is considered sufficient to
outweigh the public benefits, taking into account the weight to be afforded to the
assets’ conservation as set out in Chapter 16 — Conserving and enhancing the
historic environment of the National Planning Policy Framework. Consequently, this
provides a clear reason to refuse planning permission under paragraph 11 d) i and
also when having regard to all other considerations (as required by section 38(6) of
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 70(2)(a) of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)), the adverse impacts outweigh the
benefits such that permission should be refused under paragraph 11 d) ii as well.

On the basis of the information submitted it has not been demonstrated that the
proposed development would not unacceptably sterilise mineral reserves. This is

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

89



contrary to policy M5 of the Herefordshire Unitary Development Plan and the
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

The proposal does not include necessary improvements to facilitate pedestrian
connectivity to local services and public transport. As such the proposal would fail
to meet the requirements of policies SS4 and MT1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan —
Core Strategy and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework.

A legal agreement pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended) has not been completed. As such, there is no legal mechanism by
which the Local Planning Authority can properly secure the delivery, construction
and occupation of the proposed affordable dwellings and secure financial
contributions towards required community infrastructure. These measures are
necessary to make the development acceptable. The absence of an agreement is in
conflict with policies SC1, H1 and ID1 Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy 2011-
2031, the Council’s Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (April
2008) and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Informative:

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application
by assessing the proposal against planning policy and any other material considerations and
identifying matters of concern with the proposal and discussing those with the applicant.
However, the issues are so fundamental to the proposal that it has not been possible to negotiate
a satisfactory way forward and due to the harm which have been clearly identified within the
reasons for the refusal, approval has not been possible.

(BT o1 1710 ] o TR

Background Papers

Internal departmental consultation replies.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536

90



. - el
5 . o -,
b g R -
. .
' e
' A
g
Wi S
-\.:"1'_ - - N -\.‘\‘- f
- — ~
[ ; -
i ¢ ™
Y £
-, L
. -
- ._EF-PI-I - |:-,: A
ot
Faabt

A A - 1 1
- Wit
" w -. H g
o o] - bl
, ., PILCTTS - !il-r b
- - ~ul i
.\.'\- b - 1 .I.
S, ., . . 3 i b
. . 3 .
R " 5 s r
~ 5 1 £ T e }

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made.

APPLICATION NO: 202265

SITE ADDRESS: LAND SOUTH WEST OF ORCHARD CLOSE, DILWYN, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 8HQ

Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Herefordshire Council. Licence No: 100024168/2005

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mrs Charlotte Atkins on 01432 260536
PF2

91







AGENDA ITEM 7

L. Herefordshire
O Council

MEETING: | PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE

DATE: 7 APRIL 2021

TITLE OF |210086 - PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR EXTENSION AND
REPORT: | ALTERATIONS AT CHASEWOOD, 42 EASTFIELD ROAD,
ROSS-ON-WYE, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR9 5JZ7

For: Mr & Mrs Symonds per Mr David Kirk, 100 Chase Road,
Ross-On-Wye, Herefordshire, HR9 5JH

WEBS'TE https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning application search/details?id=210086&search-term=210086

LINK:

Reason Application submitted to Committee - Councillor Application.

Date Received: 13 January 2021 Ward: Ross East Grid Ref: 359939,223231
Expiry Date: 10 March 2021

Local Member: Councillor Paul Symonds (Councillor Terry James is fulfilling the role of local ward
member for this application.)

1. Site Description and Proposal

11 This application relates to a site within an established residential area in the market town of Ross-
on-Wye and is within the Wye Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). Chasewood
is a two storey detached dwelling occupying a plot to the east of Eastfield Road.

1.2 The proposal involves the construction of a gable ended first floor extension. This would sit below
the existing ridgeline and would be constructed of horizontal composite cladding and roof tiles to
match existing.

2. Policies

2.1 Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy Policies

SS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
SS6 - Environmental quality and local distinctiveness
LD1 - Landscape and townscape

SD1 - Sustainable design and energy efficiency

The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy policies together with any relevant supplementary
planning documentation can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:-

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted core_strategy

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (the
2012 Regulations) and paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires a review
of local plans be undertaken at least every five years in order to determine whether the plan
policies and spatial development strategy are in need of updating, and should then be updated

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Elsie Morgan on 01432 260760

PF2
93


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=210086&search-term=210086
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy

2.2

2.3

3.1

4.1

4.2

5.1

52

as necessary. The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted on 15 October 2015
and a review was required to be completed before 15 October 2020. The decision to review the
Core Strategy has yet to be made and is due early November 2020. The level of consistency of
the policies in the local plan with the NPPF will be taken into account by the Council in deciding
any application. In this case, the policies relevant to the determination of this application have
been reviewed and are considered to remain entirely consistent with the NPPF and as such can
be afforded significant weight.

Ross-on-Wye Neighbourhood Development Plan (At referendum stage)

EN1 Ross Design Policy

The Ross-On-Wye Neighbourhood Develpoment Plan can be afforded significant weight for the
purposes of decision-making given it is at referendum stage.

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/directory-record/3101/ross-on-wye-neighbourhood-development-plan

National Planing Policy Framework (NPPF)

Chapter 2 Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb 2019 revised.pdf

Planning History
DS011536/F — Two storey side extension — Approved with conditions
Consultation Summary

Statutory Consultations

Environmental Health Services Manager (Contaminated Land) — No objection
“Given what's proposed, I've no comments to make”.

Internal Council Consultations

Public Rights of Way Manager — No objection
Representations
Ross-On-Wye Town Council — No objection

“Members have no objection”.

Third Party Representations
One letter of representation submitted which is set out below:

The applicant and neighbour Mr Symonds did approach me to tell me that an application had
gone in which | appreciate. He assured me that the new windows on the proposed south elevation
(which are close and less than 1 metre to the boundary, and facing and overlooking our property)
would have obscured glazing that would protect our privacy, however these windows are not
marked or labelled as having obscured glazing on the plans. This omission to the submission is
important as clear glazing would be a significant intrusion to our privacy being overlooked. If that

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Elsie Morgan on 01432 260760

94


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/directory-record/3101/ross-on-wye-neighbourhood-development-plan
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf

5.3

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

condition is in place, | would like reassurance to that effect. If this is not stipulated by planning or
building control then | would have to object to planning consent.

The consultation responses can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following
link:-

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning services/planning application search/details?id=210086&search-term=210086

Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:-

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?g=customer&type=suggestedpage

Officer’s Appraisal

Policy context and Principle of Development

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows:

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.”

In this instance the adopted development plan is the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy
(CS). It is also noted that the site falls within the Ross-On-Wye Neighbourhood Area, where the
Plan is at referendum stage. At this time the policies in the NDP can be afforded significant weight
as set out in paragraph 48 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019, which itself is a
significant material consideration.

Visual Impact

The proposal would not result in built development that would be of an unacceptable scale or
constitute over development. The size of the extension is considered acceptable in terms of mass,
height and scale. This proposal would introduce a first floor extension above the single storey
rear aspect which would maintain the roof pitch of the host dwelling and sit below the ridgeline,
ensuring it reads as a subservient addition. It is not considered that the proposal departs from the
character of the host dwelling or surrounding area. Given the appropriate scale and rear
positioning, the visual impact would be minimal. Therefore, the proposed extensions are
considered to suitably conserve local character and the character of the host dwelling in line with
policies SD1 and LD1 of the CS, and EN1 of the NDP.

Residential Amenity

Whilst the extension would introduce a humber of glazed openings, those to the east elevation
would maintain similar scale and positioning to existing, therefore not demonstrably increasing
impact upon residential amenity. With regards to the objection received, the proposed windows
to the south elevation are recommended to be conditioned to utilise obscure glazing in perpetuity.
Given the relatively modest scale and height of the extension, there are no concerns for
overbearing or overshadowing. Therefore, the proposal is considered to adhere to the
requirements of SD1 of the CS.

Design

The proposed extensions has been designed in a manner that reflects the host dwelling, utilising
cladding and tiles to match existing which would be seen to be suitable to ensure they harmonises
with the dwelling and not looking distinctively out of character. In regards to design and materials,
it is therefore considered that the proposal adheres to SD1 and SS6 of the CS, and EN1 of the
NDP.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Elsie Morgan on 01432 260760

95


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=210086&search-term=210086
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage

6.6

Conclusion

In summary, the proposal has been designed to match the character of the host dwelling and
preserves the character of the surrounding area. The visual impact, in relation to the layout of the
site is limited due to scale and design. It is not considered that the proposal will have an undue
impact upon the amenity of neighbouring residents with no concerns for overlooking or
overshadowing. Any other issues have been suitably covered and it is therefore my
recommendation to grant planning permission subject to the below conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions and any other further
conditions considered necessary by officers named in the scheme of delegation to officers:

1. Time limit for commencement (full permission)

2. CO7 Development in accordance with approved plans

3. Prior to the first use of the extension hereby permitted, and at all times thereafter, the
proposed first floor windows on the south elevation shall be glazed with obscure
glass only. The obscured glazing shall be retained in perpetuity.

Reason: In order to protect the residential amenity of adjacent properties and to
comply with Policy SD1 of the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy and the
National Planning Policy Framework.

INFORMATIVES:

1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against planning policy and any other material
considerations, including any representations that have been received. It has
subsequently determined to grant planning permission in accordance with the
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National
Planning Policy Framework.

1= o 13 o o S
Notes

Background Papers

Internal departmental consultation replies.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Elsie Morgan on 01432 260760

96



This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made.

APPLICATION NO: 210086

SITE ADDRESS: CHASEWOOD, 42 EASTFIELD ROAD, ROSS-ON-WYE, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR9 537

Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Herefordshire Council. Licence No: 100024168/2005

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Ms Elsie Morgan on 01432 260760
PF2

97






AGENDA ITEM 8

L. Herefordshire
O Council

MEETING: | PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE

DATE: 7 APRIL 2021

TITLE OF | 210437 - PROPOSED ERECTION OF A SHED AT 22 LADY
REPORT: | SOMERSET DRIVE, LEDBURY, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR8 2FF

For: Mrs Atkins per Mrs Charlotte Atkins, 22 Lady Somerset
Drive, Ledbury, Herefordshire, HR8 2FF

WEBSITE https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning application search/details?id=210437&search-term=210437

LINK:

Reason Application submitted to Committee - member of staff application

Date Received: 4 February 2021 Ward: Ledbury West Grid Ref: 370249,238212
Expiry Date: 1 April 2021
Local Member: Councillor Phillip Howells

1. Site Description and Proposal

1.1 The application site is within the curtilage of a two storey detached dwelling situated within a
residential area which was developed in the late 20" century. The property is accessed via a
shared private drive which, in turn, provides access to Lady Somerset Drive.

1.2 The proposal is for the erection of a detached shed which would measure 3m (L) x 2.5m (W) x
2.5m (H to ridge). The shed will be of a timber construction to be clad in feather edged boarding
to be stained black with a profile steel roof (slate grey). The application is being reported to this
committee as the applicant is a member of staff.

2. Policies

2.1 Herefordshire Local Plan — Core

SS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
SD1 - Sustainable design and energy efficiency
LD1 - Landscape and townscape

The Core Strategy policies together with any relevant supplementary planning documentation
can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:-

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local plan/137/adopted core strateqy

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Matthew Neilson on 01432 260898
PF2

99


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=210437&search-term=210437
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy

2.2

2.3

2.4

3.1

4.1

6.1

6.2

6.3

The Ledbury Neighbourhood Development Plan (LNDP) (made 11 January 2019)
BEl1.1 — Design

The Ledbury Neighbourhood Development Plan policies together with any relevant supporting
documentation can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:-

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/16254/neighbourhood development plan october 2018.pdf

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) — February 2019

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 4 - Decision-making
Chapter 12 - Achieving well-designed places

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (the
2012 Regulations) and paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires a review
of local plans be undertaken at least every five years in order to determine whether the plan
policies and spatial development strategy are in need of updating, and should then be updated
as necessary. The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted on 15 October 2015
and a review was required to be completed before 15 October 2020. The decision to review the
Core Strategy was made and on 9th November 2020. The level of consistency of the policies in
the local plan with the NPPF will be taken into account by the Council in deciding any application.

Planning History

DCH/971185/F — Construction of 126 no. dwellings and garages - Approved 21 May 1998
Representations

Ledbury Town Council — no response

Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:-

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details ?g=customer&type=suggestedpage

Officer’s Appraisal
Policy context and Principle of Development

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states as follows:

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made
under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.”

In this instance the adopted development plan (taken as a whole) is the Herefordshire Local Plan
— Core Strategy (CS) and the Ledbury Neighbourhood Development Plan (MNDP) which was
made on 6 October 2016. The Ledbury Neighbourhood Development Plan (LNDP) can be
attributed full weight in the decision-making process, as set out at Paragraph 2.3. The National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is also a significant material consideration, but does not
constitute a statutory presumption, unlike the development plan which carries the statutory
presumption as set out above.

The proposal seeks to erect a modest, single storey shed within the curtilage of the dwelling. The
scale and massing of the proposed shed are proportionate to the property and would not result
in any demonstrable impact to the character of the setting or that of the wider townscape. The
proposal therefore complies with policy LD1 of the CS and policy BE1.1 of the LNDP. Moreover,

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Matthew Neilson on 01432 260898

100


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/16254/neighbourhood_development_plan_october_2018.pdf
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage

the proposed structure would not result in any harm to the amenity or privacy of neighbouring
properties and is therefore in accordance with policy SD1 of the CS.

6.4 There have been no objections raised through the consultation process and given the
compliance with the Core Strategy Policies this proposal will be recommended for approval.
RECOMMENDATION

That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions and any other further
conditions considered necessary by officers named in the scheme of delegation to officers:

That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions:
1. CO1 - Time limit for commencement (full permission)
2. CO7 - The development hereby approved shall be carried out strictly in accordance

with drawings: 02-2021-01, Layout Plan; Block Plan; Location Plan, and the
Application Form

INFORMATIVES:

1. IP1 Application Approved Without Amendment
31T o £ o o S
(0] (2P U TRTPPPPTPT

Background Papers

Internal departmental consultation replies.

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Matthew Neilson on 01432 260898
PF2
101



This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made.

APPLICATION NO: 210437

SITE ADDRESS: 22 LADY SOMERSET DRIVE, LEDBURY, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR8 2FF

Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Herefordshire Council. Licence No: 100024168/2005

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Matthew Neilson on 01432 260898
PF2

102



O

AGENDA ITEM 9

Herefordshire
Council

MEETING: | PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE

DATE: 7 APRIL 2021

TITLE OF | 204252 - PROPOSED EXTENSION TO EXISTING CAR PARK
REPORT: | TO CREATE ADDITIONAL CAPACITY AT HEREFORDSHIRE

FOOTBALL  ASSOCIATION, WIDEMARSH COMMON,
HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 9NA

For: Mr Alan Darfi per Mr Keith Edwards, 10 Canterbury
Avenue, Hereford, Herefordshire, HR1 1QQ

WEBSITE https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning application search/details?id=204252&search-term=204252

LINK:

Reason Application submitted to Committee — Staff Member Interest (Applicant)

Date Received: 1 December 2020 Ward: Widemarsh Grid Ref: 350663,240896
Expiry Date: 8 April 2021

Local Member: Councillor Polly Andrews

1.

11

1.2

13

2.1

Site Description and Proposal

The site comprises an area of grassland south-west of the Herefordshire Football Association
headquarters, which forms part of a cluster of buildings that adjoin Widemarsh Common, north of
Hereford City. The site lies within the Widemarsh Common Conservation Area and also Flood
Zone 3. To the north of site is a pair of semi-detached residential dwellings and to the southeast,
is an existing 3G artificial turf pitch. Moor Walk, a public right of way and cycleway linking the area
to Hereford city centre, lies west beyond the application site boundary, which is denoted by a
mixture of fencing and mature planting. The topography of site falls to the west into a dry ditch.
Access to site is presently taken off Widemarsh Common Road, passing through the existing
Lads Club carpark and into the gated HFA car park.

Planning permission is sought for an extension to the existing HFA car park. The car park
extension (622 square meters approximately) will be finished in closed grade tarmacadam on
hardcore with new kerbing. This will also mean the rerouting of the existing car park drain to
connect to an existing soakaway at the south-west of site. A small area of grassland at the south
of site (27 square metres), will be retained as grass.

In addition to the application form and plans, this application is supported by a Flood Map.
Policies

Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy

SS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
SS4 - Movement and transportation
SS6 - Envrionmental quality and local distinctiveness

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Josh Bailey on 01432 261903

103


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=204252&search-term=204252

2.2

2.3

2.4

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

SsS7 - Addressing climate change

HD1 - Hereford

HD3 - Hereford movement

SCl1 - Social and community facilities

0os1 - Requirement for open space, sport and recreation facilities
0s2 - Meeting open space, sport and recreation needs

0Ss3 - Loss of open space, sport and recration facilities

MT1 - Traffic management, highway safety and promoting active travel
LD1 - Landscape and townscape

LD2 - Biodiversity and geodiversity

LD3 - Green infrastructure

LD4 - Historic environment and heritage assets

SD1 - Sustainable design and energy efficiency

SD3 - Sustainable water management and water resources

The Herefordshire Local Plan Core Strategy policies together with any relevant supplementary
planning documentation can be viewed on the Council’s website by using the following link:-
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted core_strategy

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)

Section 2 — Achieving sustainable development

Section 4 — Decision-making

Section 6 — Building a strong, competitive economy

Section 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Section 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Section 11 — Making effective use of land

Section 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Section 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Section 16 — Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

The NPPF together with any relevant supplementary documentation can be viewed using the
following link:- https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework

National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)
PPG together with any relevant supplementaty documentation can be viewed using the following
link:- https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance

Hereford Area Plan
Currently in drafting

Planning History

P201465/XA2 — Application for approval of details reserved by condition 3 attached to planning
permission 182950 — approved

P193641/XA2 - Application for approval of details reserved by conditions 4 & 7 attached to
planning permission 182950 — approved

P191424/XA2 - Application for approval of details reserved by conditions 56 9 10 & 11 attached
to planning permission 182950 — approved

P182950/F — Construction of an external 3G Atrtificial Turf Pitch (ATP) with fencing and a storage
container — approved with conditions

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Josh Bailey on 01432 261903

104


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200185/local_plan/137/adopted_core_strategy
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance

3.5

4.1

4.2

4.3

5.1

5.2

6.1

P160232/F — Proposed 100 person seated stand. A one metre wide concrete walkway all around
football pitch. One pay box building. Six floodlights and netting behind goal and on railway side —
approved with conditions

Consultation Summary

Statutory Consultations

Public Rights of Way Officer — No objection
“No objection”

Internal Council Consultations

Transportation — No objections
“There are no highways objections to the proposed car park extension”.

Ecology — No response received

Representations

Hereford City Council — No response received

2 letters of comment have been made to this application, both objecting.
Letter 1 (submitted by occupiers of North View, Widemarsh Common):
Impact on biodiversity;

Increased traffic flow and impact on pedestrian safety;

Already sufficient capacity to meet need; and
Damage to public highway;

Letter 2 (submitted by a member on behalf of the Hereford Civic Society):

¢ Widemarsh Common is an open space;
e More than sufficient surrounding parking which could be altered to meet needs; and
e Suitable alternative ground uses like grasscrete;

Details of this application can be viewed on the Council’s website using the following link:-
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=204252&search-term=204252

Internet access is available at the Council’s Customer Service Centres:-

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?g=customer&type=suggestedpage

Officer’s Appraisal
Policy context

The proposal is considered in line with the statutory requirements of Section 70(2) of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) which requires that when determining planning
applications, the local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development
plan, local finance considerations (so far as material to the application) and any other material
considerations. Following this requirement, Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 states the following: “If regard is to be had to the development plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.”

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Josh Bailey on 01432 261903

105


https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/info/200142/planning_services/planning_application_search/details?id=204252&search-term=204252
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/government-citizens-and-rights/customer-services-enquiries/contact-details?q=customer&type=suggestedpage

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

In this instance, the adopted development plan is the Herefordshire Local Plan — Core Strategy
(CS). The National Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’ henceforth) is also a significant material
consideration. The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as
amended) (the 2012 Regulations) and paragraph 33 of the NPPF requires a review of local plans
be undertaken at least every five years in order to determine whether the plan policies and spatial
development strategy are in need of updating, and should then be updated as necessary. The
CS was adopted on 15 October 2015 and a review was required to be completed before 15
October 2020. The decision to review the CS was been made on 9 November 2020. The level of
consistency of the policies in the local plan with the NPPF will be taken into account by the Council
in deciding any application. In this case, the policies relevant to the determination of this
application have been reviewed and are considered to remain consistent with the NPPF and as
such can be afforded significant weight.

Principle of Development

The CS at Policy SC1 supports improvement, retention and enhancement of existing social and
community infrastructure within settlements and where they can be accessed sustainably,
including by active travel modes. This is consistent with the NPPF which promotes healthy and
safe communities and which advises that decisions should enable retention and development of
accessible local services and community facilities, including sports venues, in aiming to provide
healthy, inclusive and safe places.

The proposal is to provide additional capacity for the continued use of the wider complex as a
social and community facility, which currently acts as an unused parcel of land. It is considered
the principle of development is accepted subject to material considerations.

Highways

The proposal is limited to the existing grass area and aims to create a solution to the current
issues experienced in the current car park and surrounding local highway network, which at busy
times, often leads to ‘pinch points’ during use of the complex, particularly along Widemarsh
Common Road and the entrance of Lads Club car park. The application confirms the additional
capacity would allow for up to 20 additional car parking spaces, 5 additional motorcycle spaces,
3 additional disability spaces and 10 cycle spaces up on existing. Whilst the sizes of the parking
spaces would vary, depending on transport, they will need to meet the requirements of
Herefordshire Council’'s Highways Design Guide for New Developments. Details of the layout of
the car park, including identification of relevant parking spaces, can be secured by condition.

Access arrangements will remain unaltered. The site is in an accessible location, where users
have the opportunity to reach facilities on foot, cycle or public transport. The increased number
of spaces would not adversely impact the local road network, but one should respect the ‘change
over’ periods between sessions of use. It must be recognised that there will be potential conflict
between those leaving site and those arriving although this would not be any different than the
current situation. Introducing this additional parking further into the site will in turn reduce issues
experienced currently by users and residents entering/leaving the site along Widemarsh Common
Road, heading back to Priory Place/Grandstand Road. Officers consider the proposal will not
result in a ‘severe’ impact in highway or pedestrian safety, and in light of the Transportation
response, who do not object and to which significant weighting is afforded, it is considered the
scheme accords with Policies MT1 and SS4 of the CS, which is consistent with Section 9 of the
NPPF.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Josh Bailey on 01432 261903

106



6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

Residential Amenity

With regards to noise impacts, it must be borne in mind that the wider use of site is principally for
sports, and this in itself generates noise. Vehicle movements will be either side of the use of the
sports pitches, so the impact on amenity still remains a consideration. As part of the previously
approved application for the artificial turf pitch, a community use management plan was
conditioned (condition 4 of 182950/F) to ensure correct operation of the premises. It states that
this would include day to day management, booking procedures, on site car parking for
community use and local resident communications. In addition a Noise Management Plan, is
already in place. It is not considered the proposed application would generate unacceptable
impacts on the residential amenity of nearby residential properties as a result of noise, given the
nature of the application and the existing use of the site as a sporting facility.

No lighting is proposed with this application. Given the longstanding use of site, occupiers are
aware of activities. It is appreciated that the existing grass surface currently by default operates
as a limitation, although clearly an appropriate layout which accounts for nearby residential
properties in terms of vehicle lights, particularly at night, is achievable. In this context, the amenity
of local residents would be impacted to a minor extent although safeguarded to an acceptable
degree through a well-worked layout, in accordance with CS policy SD1, which is consistent with
NPPF paragraphs 127 and 180. A condition requiring any details of lighting to be provided prior
to installation can also be secured.

Heritage Assets

The site is located within the Widemarsh Conservation Area, and whilst not in the setting of Moor
House, a Grade Il listed building, Moor House lies west of site. These heritage assets are afforded
a statutory duty under sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990. In practice this means that when undertaking a planning balance the weight
afforded to preserving the building, its setting or features of special architectural or historic interest
and preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of the Conservation Area is greater
than that given to the other considerations, because they do not have a similar statutory duty
requiring special attention to be given to them.

The site, in the context of the designated heritage assets identified, is well obscured by the impact
of the existing artificial turf pitch and complex, as a whole, but one must also consider cumulative
impact. In this regard, no harm would be identified given the considerable degree of screening
already provided by mature tree planting between the western site boundary and Moor House or
moreover the Conservation Area due to the buildings present within the complex already. In
respect of experiential aspects, the proposal, in the context that already comprises multiple
sporting facilities, would not have a harmful impact. It is therefore considered that the proposal
would conserve the identified heritage assets and thus accords with policy LD4 of the CS and
that the paragraph 196 test of the NPPF does not apply.

Ecology

There are no ecological records of importance or Protected Species immediately on or adjoining
site. The applicant and contractors have a legal duty of care towards wildlife protection under UK
Legislation that applies throughout the demolition and construction process. Any breach of this
legal Duty of Care would be a criminal offence. The LPA has therefore no reasonable cause to
require further information as part of the application or include a specific ecology protection
condition. However, a relevant informative is recommended. Given the type of development and
usage, it is also not considered appropriate to request Biodiversity Net gain enhancements on
this application. The proposal, in ecological terms, is considered to accord with Policies LD1-LD3
inclusive of the CS, consistent with Section 15 of the NPPF.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Josh Bailey on 01432 261903

107



6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

Drainage (Flood Risk and SSSI Impact Zone)

The site lies in flood zone 3, but not within an area known to be at risk of surface water flooding.
The Environment Agency’s mapping for long term risk of flooding suggests floodwater would back
up from the culvert under the former railway line, so would be held back on the site side of the
railway. The proposal would not alter the land use of site, which forms part of an outdoor sports
and recreational facility and which falls within the ‘water-compatible development’ of the flood risk
vulnerability classification, which confirms such a use is appropriate in flood zone 3. An
exceptions and sequential test is therefore not required. The proposal does not intend to change
ground levels, or introduce new buildings. On this basis, in particular giving weight to the existing
use of site, it is considered that the proposal would not result in increasing flood risk, in line with
Policy SD3 of the CS, which is consistent with Section 14 of the NPPF.

The site is to be designed to be compliant with 1 in 100 year flooding requirements. Surface water,
as stated on the proposed plans, intends to be directed to an existing soakaway to the south of
site, within ownership of the applicant, and managed through a suitable sized SuDS system with
storage and management, both within the adjoining pitch structure and an external underground
‘cellular system’. A drainage condition requiring submission and approval of a full final design to
ensure suitable capacity, is recommended.

Climate Change

The nature of the proposal should incorporate measures to support low-carbon ways of living and
sustainable transport modes (as defined by the NPPF). A condition for two electric vehicle
charging points is recommended to require such provisions are available for future users of the
carpark, to redress the Climate and Ecological Emergency that Herefordshire Council has
declared and in line with Policy SS7 of the CS.

Habitat Regulations Assessment

The application site lies within the catchment for the River Wye Special Area of Conservation
(SAC), a European site covered under the Habitats Directive & the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2017 (‘Habitats Regs.’ henceforth). The River Wye SAC is an internationally
important conservation site which has been designated for its special features of ecological and
biodiversity value. The proposal does not propose any development which would be phosphate
generating as it is for the better accommodation of existing vehicular traffic as opposed to the
intensification of use per se; further even if there were additional foul water flows from this
proposal they are managed by existing sewer connections to the mains sewer network which
manages them via the Eign Treatment works. It is not considered to be the possibility of a likely
significant effect on the SAC at the point of consideration, thus the development is considered to
be acceptable from a HRA perspective and accords with the provisions of policy LD2 of the CS.
Further the provisions of paragraph 177 of the NPPF are not considered to be triggered in this
regard, as the application is screened out.

Other considerations

Officers have discussed alternative surfacing for the car park, including grasscrete. The applicant
appreciates the financial cost and the relative success of it would make it unviable, citing other
FAs. In any event, officers have considered this application, as submitted.

Given the lack of prominence of site within the context of the townscape, officers consider the
impact of the proposal on the townscape as minimal. However, landscaping can be secured by
condition to further ameliorate the development in the context of the surrounding area in line
with Policy LD1 of the CS.

PF2

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Josh Bailey on 01432 261903

108



6.18

6.19

6.20

Whilst alternative public car parks could provide for need, each application must be assessed on
its own merits. The proposal would address a local issue of parking along Widemarsh Common
Road. The ‘Lads Club’ car park becoming ‘Pay and Display’ is not a material planning
consideration.

Conclusion

The application rounds off a development complex, enhancing usability of site. This is a positive
social benefit, weighing in favour of the scheme. The benefits of locating parking further within
site will address local concerns currently experienced. Subject to a satisfactory surface water
drainage scheme, there would be no adverse environmental impacts identified, with also securing
of electric vehicle charging points to address climate change in a modest manner.

When considered against the development plan, as a whole, and accounting for other material
considerations, including the NPPF, the proposal is considered to be sustainable development.
In the absence of any material planning considerations that indicate a decision being made other
than in accordance with the Development Plan, as per paragraph 11c) of the NPPF and CS policy
SS1, it is recommended planning permission be granted, subject to conditions.

6.21 In accordance with the Town and Country Planning Regulations 2018 - 2018 No. 566 all pre-
commencement conditions require agreement by the applicant/agent. Given the application is to
be debated by members, agreement of pre-commencement conditions can take place following
resolution. This relates to conditions 4, 5 and 6 of the recommendation.

RECOMMENDATION

That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions and any other further
conditions considered necessary by officers named in the scheme of delegation to officers:

1. CO01 (Time limit for commencement (full permission))

2. CO06 (Development in accordance with approved plans)

3. CBK (Restriction of hours during construction)

4, CAT (Construction Management Plan)

5. CBO (Scheme of surface water drainage including strategy)

6. CNS (Non-standard condition: Details of car park layout including parking spaces
and implementation)

7. CNS (Non-standard condition: Details of 2 no. electric vehicle charging points and
implementation)

8. CK3 (Landscape Scheme and Implementation)

9. CDL (Car park drainage)

10. CNS (Use of site in accordance with Community Use Agreement approved under
Condition 4 of P182950/F)

11. CC1 (Details of floodlighting/external lighting)

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Josh Bailey on 01432 261903
PF2

109



INFORMATIVES:

1. IP1 - Application Approved Without Amendment
2. 105 — No drainage to discharge to highway
3. 111 — Mud on highway
4, I35 — Highways Design Guide and Specification
5. I33 — Ecology (General)
7. 110 — Access via public right of way
D I=Tol 1T ] o PP P PP PPPPPPR PPN
N[0 (= TSP PP SSP

Background Papers

Internal departmental consultation replies.

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Josh Bailey on 01432 261903
PF2
110



Par o
=y
) o
- =
Tela) ) Tt
| L]
o ffoe e -
) il e
oot L] = 2
O] YW <
) 3
it
Toon
g B
o i
%
*
F )
- | ]
Ly ing Pl :*.
k3
= 4
L]
a2 &
] L]
E:] 3
F 1
B .

This copy has been produced specifically for Planning purposes. No further copies may be made.

APPLICATION NO: 204252

SITE ADDRESS: HEREFORDSHIRE FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION, WIDEMARSH COMMON, HEREFORD,
HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 9NA

Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Herefordshire Council. Licence No: 100024168/2005

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Mr Josh Bailey on 01432 261903
PF2

111







	Agenda
	 PublicInformationCOVIDPC
	 GUIDE TO THE COMMITTEE
	 NOLAN PRINCIPLES
	4 MINUTES
	Minutes
	 Appendix - schedule of updates

	6 202265 - LAND SOUTH WEST OF ORCHARD CLOSE, DILWYN, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 8HQ
	7 210086 - CHASEWOOD, 42 EASTFIELD ROAD, ROSS-ON-WYE, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR9 5JZ
	8 210437 -  22 LADY SOMERSET DRIVE, LEDBURY, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR8 2FF
	9 204252 - HEREFORDSHIRE FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION, WIDEMARSH COMMON, HEREFORD, HEREFORDSHIRE, HR4 9NA

